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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (Stock Code:
2319) and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Mengniu”)
manufacture and distribute quality dairy products in China.

It is one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in
China, with MENGNIU as its core brand.

The Group'’s diversified products range includes liquid milk
products, such as UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt, ice
cream and other dairy products such as milk powder. In
December 2012, the Group’s annual production capacity
of dairy products reached 7.58 million tons.

FRERFIAEXBERARBMOAR - 2319) REF QR (A
BIAKEIRRFTDRFEEERHERE SR -
BRATERESFS  AEECKATERENIERE
ErZ—-

AEERHKZITTCNER  BREREBI(MUHTE - FLEK
FERED) ~ OEMRRE ISR () - R=F—=
F+=A  AREIE MM FEERNZETS8EM -




Contents B

Highlights

Plant Map

Major Awards and Achievements

2012 Milestones

CEQ’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors and Senior Management

Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Corporate Information

Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Statement of Financial Position

Notes to Financial Statements

Financial Summary

e

A EE M B
T FKRER
BEHRESE
EREFR RN
EENSREEE
P EERME
EEgRE
RNRER

B AZ AR
A NER
mAEEEKRER
REFBRRE
IRAEREER
AR RER
B ISR R

B IS RR M5
B E

244



02

Highlights

HE

2012 2011
—B-CF —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
For the year ended 31 December BE+t-A=1+—RHILLEE ARBT T ARETT
Revenue A 36,080,353 37,387,844
Gross profit EF 9,054,567 9,592,152
Profit attributable to owners of the Company — Zx2 BRI A JE(L 1,257,148 1,589,274
Net cash flows from operating activities EEREERFIRERE 2,006,896 2,520,057

Earnings per share (RMB) BRAEM(ARET)
— Basic — &K 0.711 0.908
— Diluted — 858 0.711 0.905

Through continuous optimisation of product structure and
stringent cost control measures, Mengniu'’s business remained
stable during 2012. Revenue of the year amounted to
RMB36,080.4 million, and profit attributable to owners of the
Company was RMB1,257.1 million.

In response to the market demand, Mengniu’s annual
production capacity increased by 0.53 million tons, amounting
to a total of 7.58 million tons by December 2012.

In alliance with international market-leading counterparts,
Mengniu built up a new quality and safety management
structure, bringing quality control into full play across every
detail of the entire production chain.

Continued to enhance the strength in milk sources by
promoting scaled ranching. The proportion of milk sources
provided by ranches and scaled farms further increased to
93%, a leading position within the industry. Mengniu also
proceeded with eight self-built ranches.

Introduced Arla Foods, a dairy enterprise in Europe, as
its second largest strategic shareholder and established
long-term strategic collaboration; co-established the China-
Denmark Milk Technology and Cooperation Centre, extending
collaboration on technology, talents exchange, etc, to boost
the development of the whole industry.

Launched the new brand concept focusing on “Quality” and
“Happiness”, marking the birth of a brand-oriented vision
driven by consumer needs.

Consolidated the sales channels aiming at better control over
sales terminals and increasing overall efficiency; adjusted its
branding strategies to focus on key brands and launched sales
activities accordingly.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Highlights 2=

Revenue by Product Mix Revenue by Product Mix in
For the year ended 31 December Liquid Milk Segment
For the year ended 31 December
REME D 2WA BREMHEmMS 5 2 WA
BE+Z-A=1t—-HLFE BE+T-A=+t—HLFE
RMB Million RMB Million
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Plant Map
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Major Awards and Achievements

EERIERIKE

Th

e Group
Garnered the “Technology Innovation Award” from the Chinese
Institute of Food Science and Technology

Received the “2012 Dedication to Poverty Alleviation Award”
from China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation

Became a member of STCE (& B & g )m BEAZ 1L B i Bt B3)

Named a “Leading Enterprise in Product After-sales (Public)
Service Quality” by the China Association for Quality Promotion

Mengniu Brand

Ranked among the “Most Influential Brands over the Last 20
Years in the China Consumer Market” by the China General
Chamber of Commerce and China National Commercial
Information Centre

Mengniu’s liquid milk products were honoured as “2012 Most
Trustworthy Brand among Consumers” by the China Industrial
Information Issuing Centre

Mengniu Products

Mengniu'’s liquid milk products ranked first, in terms of sales
volume and sales value, among similar products in China in
2012, according to China Industrial Information Issuing Centre

Fruit Milk Drink (B %##z) garnered the “2012 First Prize of
Technological Innovation Award” from the China Dairy Industry
Association

Future Star Milk (K257 Z6L47), Xinyangdao Zhenyang
Milk (#1582 2&443), Champion Fermented Yogurt (a7 2
f#%]), Youyi C (f825C) and Mango Flavoured Ice+ (7k+2EZE
JE), etc, were named “2012 Outstanding New Products” by the
China Dairy Industry Association

Junlebao (Z4£42) La Smooth (H7)277 T ) and Mei Ri Huo Jun (%
H,Z &) were honoured as “Innovative Products” at the 13th
SIAL China; La Smooth (7277 T) was the only product to
garner the “Special Award” at the exhibition
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2012 Milestones
—FRER

—

12/4

A press conference with the theme
“The New Mengniu Listens with Heart”

(FTE4 - LVE) was held.

A strategic cooperation agreement
was signed with Arla Foods, an
BRMRS  OBR|EEERE -

Ms. Sun Yiping was appointed as Hong Kong and Macau media visited
the new CEO of Mengniu. a production plant of Mengniu.
European dairy industry leader.
BRIERRRDEREEEEM - SAEEUN 7L 2 E 5 Arla Foods#& &
B S 1E IR o

BFEL TR EERT T HMELRE, -

............................

The campaign “Looking for the Most ~ Mengniu revamped its slogan as
“A Little Happiness Matters”
(R A2h718), and launched new
product packages.

Beautiful Teachers in Rural Areas”

(SHEEBIIZED) was launched to
B R BEEER IF MR R

Hengshui Plant was inaugurated
spread love and hope.

and commenced production;
phase two of Baoding Plant

commenced operation.

Em# i b e

EISLIREMRRREFRS MO [SRBXANKE] 59
= EREEFD -

—HpRE -

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ~Annual Report 2012
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15/7

Mr. Li Changchun, Member of the

Organisational restructure was Investors visited a production plant
launched to enhance execution of Mengniu on Investor Day. Central Politburo Standing Committee
capabilities. of the Communist Party in China at
the time, visited Mengniu and showed
support for its prospects. v
RRENVBRIEBEES - RERRHIT BMAERER ] HEARER RHEPRAEETRPUARTEER .
B o RVEREEEEM - FREAEVRTY:  BIRCERE - .

The Arla Foods (& [C/2#) brand Started the new Five-Year Strategic
Plan to illustrate Mengniu’s future

was launched in China.
direction.

The China-Denmark Milk Technology
and Cooperation Centre was officially

quality management were established
to enhance quality control across the inaugurated.

entire production chain.

Four divisions (PU% 5 ) related to

[MEFE FHEEEEEHE - A B AR R A MR EREMRIEEERR - RREFTH B F SRS - BARERIR
EXBE - A o

PEXFIEARAR —TE——FFR
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CEQ’s Statement

Dedicate Every Effort
to Create Value

BT B
RAlEEE

Ms. Sun Yiping
P

Chief Executive Officer
AaZ

Thanks to the trust of the Board of Directors, | have been invited
to join the family of Mengniu in April 2012. During the challenging
year, | could feel every effort exerted by my colleagues to constantly
drive the progress of Mengniu each and every day. Starting from
every small detail, and working hand-in-hand with my colleagues,
| also dedicated my best effort to leading the transformation and
development of Mengniu. | am very grateful to my predecessors
and all of our staff for building up such a dedicated, united and
passionate team, which has contributed to the constant progress
and the steady improvement in the overall results of Mengniu in
recent years.

Looking back into 2012, while food safety incidents had made
impacts on Mengniu’s brand image and sales performance, the hard
lessons have urged us to reflect deeply on ourselves. We continued
to make improvements in reconstructing our quality management
system, optimising our product structure, improving penetration
into new markets and advancing brand management as a modern
fast-moving consumer goods enterprise. Looking ahead, with the
core value of “becoming a dairy enterprise that delivers products of
the best quality and in the most professional and devoted manner
in China”, it is of utmost importance that Mengniu strengthens its
foundation and devotes every bit of attention to every detail. As
such, we will persistently strive for stable development, exert our
social value as a leading dairy enterprise and find room for further
development.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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CEO’s Statement AR REE

During the year, Mengniu reformed thoroughly in different aspects
ranging from corporate culture to quality control and from milk
sources to marketing. We launched the “Sunshine Campaign” (F%
J17E)) to rebuild Mengniu’'s culture and proclaimed the motto
“The New Mengniu Listens with Heart” G54 - 0iE). It
promoted open and transparent communications, encouraged all
staff members and business partners to re-ignite their passion for
reviving the business and fully released their positive power. Arla
Foods, a renowned dairy enterprise in Europe, was introduced
to Mengniu as a strategic shareholder. With the support of the
Ministry of Agriculture of the PRC, the two parties have co-
established the China-Denmark Milk Technology and Cooperation
Centre (“China-Denmark Cooperation Centre”), through which
collaboration has been extended from the management of ranches
and milk sources to the management of dairy product production,
product development, activities related to clients and consumers,
etc. We also re-rationalised the quality management system by
setting up a head office of quality and safety management system as
well as three quality centres on milk sources, operations and sales;
through these four divisions, quality control is being implemented
across the production chain and quality standards are applied
to every detail. We focused on the brand concept of “A Little
Happiness Matters” (2 &2 % =1&), and renewed our brand image
for the first time in 13 years. We rationalised the brand categories
of Mengniu, established a branding strategy driven by market
demand and formulated development plans with emphasis on the
key brands. In addition, we boldly reformed the sales channels and
sales strategy, and sent the sales team to the frontline to enhance
our understanding of the market and serve our clients in a more
professional manner.

i

N\ ©

T

b
\

o o

bt 41

et

09

FE—FF  SFRCEULIEE - #RE
MBETRBEEHNET T 2EMIE - RIS
TIBXTEINERSTFE XL  IRHIFESE
DEB IO - BEERNBRAEE B8
BIMAEREI ZRaIE MRS - o BRIE
B2 ;- FISI ABUM AN L S E Arla FoodsfX
AEERE  WEFHEEDNHZFTHERAFA
A1 KRR T IHBEAEIRFTEERL]
([HFEEFRL]) - FEFHRTEEIEREBUS
MMEEBRRITCXIDPEESTE ERA
% CRPHEBEEMNARIBEZMEAE  HM
EMHEEEEERR  RULPEELLEE
REMPRE - &8 - HE-ZKBEEEEHPL &
BEINEGFH |ER TES BN TIENEEXE
NEE  LESEZERETINT @4 &R
AR BZBEERINREIES  13FREEEH
TREEE  BRARETRFNREER - L
TUMSHRAERANREER  HFEEEE
BmENERE RMEHEEREMBEERE
HEITTRERE  REMANBEEEBRATISR
A BERTETHMS EEEREEFHE

BB R o

Sl

GEESS RSN

ZE—FFR



10

CEQ’s Statement &K EE

We understand that Rome was not built in a day, yet, we are more
courageous in facing our deficiencies than ever before. We are
dedicated to perfect our internal systems and procedures through
constant effort, so as to introduce gradual fundamental changes
from inside out, and from details to the whole.

In 2013, taking into account the long-term development of
Mengniu, we worked with a renowned consultancy firm to
formulate a new Five-Year Strategic Plan, which has been
implemented since 2013. According to the plan, we will fully
integrate the value of responsibility into each of our internal
systems and the daily operations. We will adopt scientific approach
in coordination and planning, and focus closely on branding,
channels, business structure, human resources, etc.

Driven by Mengniu’s constant efforts to appreciate the diversified
demands of consumers, we look forward to achieving a more
balanced development by fully enhancing the quality system of
the entire production chain, optimising the product structure
and focusing on competitive product categories and brands.
Meanwhile, Mengniu will further strengthen its collaboration
with the world’s leading dairy enterprises. We will leverage the
advanced management experience from Arla Foods to adopt a more
scientific and systematic approach to boost our own production
and management efficiency. In addition, by fully introducing the
production chain management systems of COFCO Group and
Arla Foods, two major strategic partners of Mengniu, we will
improve the management of ranch and quality assurance. In order
to enhance the efficiency of milk sources management, we have
redeployed the strategic road map for business structure and
matching of supply and demand to align milk sources in a scientific
manner and perfect the milk sources infrastructure.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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CEO’s Statement AR REE

We strive to restore our brand, further strengthen our product
competitiveness and optimise our product portfolio in the five
years to come. Meanwhile, we will improve market penetration
and channel expansion, and thus enhance our nationwide sales
capability and realise a leaner management structure. Enhancement
and optimisation of human resources is also our focus. On the one
hand, we will fully develop the corporate culture of “Sunshine,
Nobility, Responsibility and Innovation” (8% - &4 « EE - £l
¥1), and attract more talents to join us; and on the other hand, we
will provide training and promotion opportunities to existing key
staff through the “Dawn Scheme” (£ :TE]). We hope to increase
team cohesiveness by creating a good working environment and
offering an incentive mechanism for the purpose of laying a solid
foundation in terms of human resources reserves and intellect for
the reformation of Mengniu.

In recent years, the development of China’s dairy industry has
attracted great concern of the community that every single member
of the industry should fully appreciate the huge responsibility
he or she bears. Looking ahead, we will dedicate every effort
to attentively refine every detail in quality control, products
and branding. As such, we can offer consumers dairy products
that are safe, premium and healthy, as well as realise our brand
concept of spreading happiness to more and more people.
Through perseverance, we crave for creating greater value for our
consumers, staff and shareholders, and turning Mengniu into a
century-old enterprise and scoring more successes!

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2013

1"

RERF - BPIBATRERES - E£—FRTT
EmAMBLERGEE FAMEEENER
R - HPIK BTS2 ENRBIEER - £
RAZEHEERS  BERABRLEER - ANTER
BROEZRMTENER - —HTHEZETKR
FIBY - mE - BE - gIF R - ]E
ELNBEAIMEFAT AR : m—7E - &
B REEAREBTHE TIRHEIRF A
g HMFE - BRAERIN THERENE
b REEBERREN > REFHO[ ZIRAEIZE]
TTRENANDRENE DER

MFER - PEAHRITENEREILENRE
BT B P EILMITENKE - WMERIH
AHMEFNEEZERN - BHRAARK RF
DYl EEMAE - EmANE - miga A
CBBTEHNERE S TRAEEEERE
CBE - RENIESG  TREIBTRTN
TR EFHAERIEEINEZATE - B
P EEBRRTENE N - A ARRMEE
E BIMBEREVEEARNEE —F—FKE
STAFRENSE |

=

3

50 Hp B @
C-

e

=
&

7

BFE
A

EA —T—=%F=H_-+/\H

PERFIEEARAR —T——FFR



¥
e
- e

S
AT
% 'F"

el
P ._’-

- LE p— ]
T el R N

WHEBEPR - TEREE

Nutritious products from quality milk sources

nnnnnnn

SR



Bt Tﬁ = %
2 2

\l| 1
W

Deliver Nutrition,
Deliver Health




14

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR T

Economic Environment in China

There was a slight slowdown in China’s economic growth under
difficult global environment for the year 2012. However, guided by
the PRC government’s principle of progressing with stability, the
GDP for the year exceeded RMB50 trillion, representing a year-on-
year growth of 7.8%, down by 1.4 percentage points as compared
with 2011. The actual growth of urban household income per
capita and rural household net income per capita were 9.6% and
10.7% respectively. Retail sales of consumer goods for the year
totaled RMB20,716.7 billion, representing an actual year-on-year
growth of 12.1% eliminating the impact of price changes. The
consumer price for the year showed a 2.6% year-on-year rise, down
by 2.8 percentage points as compared with 2011.

Fast-moving Consumer Goods and Dairy Industry
Structural upgrade of products remained a key driver for the
growth in the fast-moving consumer goods sector. During the
year, total sales of the sector grew by 16% comparing with 2011.
The slowdown in the pace of growth was mainly due to difficult
external economic conditions and fiercer market competition.

For the dairy industry, the government and society continued to
reinforce regulated development through stringent supervision
and media scrutiny. Driven by external environment and consumer
demand, total sales of the dairy industry maintained steady growth.
Meanwhile, product mix within the industry was further upgraded
in response to the rising consumer demand for high-end dairy
products. Furthermore, high priced and high value-added products
grew at an accelerated rate. However, affected by the continuous
rise in prices, the price of raw milk also increased as a result of the
relatively fast growth of feeding costs.

Created the “Happy Hours for Basketball Fans” (Bkik =185 %) at the
sixth NBA China Games

REERENBAR BIFISITIE (Bt ERFA

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Market inspectors for MENGNIU ARLA (Bt 54) “Trustworthy Milk
Powder” (HULNEL#D) visited the production base in Inner Mongolia
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E&4m & 247

According to AC Nielsen, Mengniu’s liquid milk products captured
27.4% of the market share of the sales of domestic liquid milk
during the year, maintaining its top position in the market. Star
brands such as Milk Deluxe (47 #%) also continued to lead the
high-end market.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Action One - Quality System Reform

In 2012, by aligning its quality management system with the
international market-leading counterparts, Mengniu optimised its
processes including milk sources, production and sales, and set up
a new quality and safety management structure. Firstly, Mengniu
established a quality and safety administration centre, which is
responsible for formulating quality systems, developing uniformed
standards, and assessing and inspecting quality management
work. In addition, Mengniu established three separate quality
administration centres in milk sources, operations and sales to
manage quality and safety throughout the entire process. By
establishing a comprehensive organisational structure, the quality
and safety management duties and responsibilities of each
department were more clearly defined and assigned, enabling
effective coordination among departments and quality management
across the entire production chain.

During the year, Mengniu devoted considerable resources in the
quality and safety management system to enhance its overall
quality management level. Important measures included engaging
a quality assurance expert from the international fast-moving
consumer goods industry, allocating more staff and equipment to
different operational segments for quality assurance purpose and
strengthening the training of staff to bolster their quality inspection
skills.
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These measures have laid a solid foundation for quality
management within Mengniu. In 2013, Mengniu will further
implement standardised quality and safety management and
introduce more advanced internationalised inspection techniques
into the production process through cooperation with Arla Foods.
Mengniu will also encourage all staff to participate in quality
management so that quality control can be brought into full play.

To reinforce the commitment to quality, Mengniu will take concrete
actions by caring and refining every detail with sincerity and
practicality, to spread happiness among consumers.

Action Two - Milk Sources Enhancement

Mengniu continued to enhance its strength in milk sources by
promoting scaled ranching and monitoring quality sources more
strictly. Through provision of entrusted loans, raw milk prepayment,
investment in large-scale ranches and construction of modernised
ranch facilities, the proportion of Mengniu’s milk sources provided
by ranches and scaled farms further increased to 93%, a leading
position within the industry.

To enhance the milk sources, Mengniu established two platforms in
regard to ranch management, namely the Entrusted Management
Centre and the Resource and Technology Integration Centre.
The Entrusted Management Centre separates the ownership and
management of Mengniu’s collaborative ranches by introducing
Mengniu’s own professional team to manage and standardise
the management standards of the ranches, and help increase
their effectiveness and revenue, thereby ensure the safety of raw
milk supply. The Resource and Technology Centre streamlines
the workflow and reduces the operating costs by consolidating
production materials including pasture, fodder, veterinary drugs,
equipment, etc. In addition, Mengniu set up the Dairy Cattle
University (434 K&) to consolidate domestic and international
technical resources and enhance the management level of ranches
in terms of yield rate per dairy cattle and somatic cell control, etc.

Mengniu proceeded with eight self-built ranches during the year.
The design of the standardised ranch in cooperation with Arla
Foods was also completed during the year. The project covers
processes from forage grass planting to preliminary processing of
milk, and was a combination of advanced, scientific, intelligent
and environmentally-friendly international farming concepts with
Mengniu’s self-built ranch management. It will be served as the
model ranch of milk sources management of the Group.
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Leveraging its position as a large-scale dairy product producer,
Mengniu aims at facilitating the transformation of upstream
industries to scaled ranching, so as to ensure reliable product quality
for Mengniu, and contribute to the upgrade of dairy industry in
China as well.

Action Three - International Strategic Collaboration

On 15 June 2012, Mengniu entered into a long-term strategic
cooperation agreement with Arla Foods, an European dairy
enterprise. Arla Foods became the second largest strategic
shareholder of Mengniu by acquiring its equity interest, and began
to participate in its daily operations.

Mengniu and Arla Foods efficiently formulated a range of plans
to expedite cooperation, which has been implemented in phase.
Supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the PRC and the
Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Fisheries of the Kingdom of
Denmark, and prepared over the course of several rounds of
negotiation, the China-Denmark Cooperation Centre was officially
established on 26 November 2012. Combining the resources of
both parties, a professional team was set up to facilitate technical
exchanges.

During the year, the China-Denmark Cooperation Centre
completed the design of the standardised model ranch. The quality
management system model of Arla Foods will also be applied to
Mengniu'’s self-built ranches which are currently under construction.
The China-Denmark Cooperation Centre introduced the Fourier
Transform Infra Red spectrum method on fingerprint technology (&
BIRE R 54581 77 7%) to enhance the accuracy of raw milk testing.
The China-Denmark Cooperation Centre also proactively pushed
forward the “Dawn Scheme” (Ei=T2l) to cultivate talents. The
first group of outstanding staff selected from each department will
be sent to Denmark to study dairy management and broaden their
international horizon in 2013. The China-Denmark Cooperation
Centre has also initiated several projects for cooperation and
exchange over milk sources and quality inspection techniques,
which will be further launched in 2013.

Moreover, quality dairy products including UHT milk, milk powder,
cheese and butter produced by Arla Foods will also be brought to
consumers in China through Mengniu’s channels.

The collaboration between Mengniu and Arla Foods has gained full
support from respective government departments of both countries.
Mengniu believes that Arla Foods’ 140-year long history and
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advanced industrial experience will be beneficial to the establishment
of an international technical exchange platform between the two
enterprises. At the same time, the partnership will open a window
for Chinese dairy industry, so as to promote the development of the
whole industry.

Action Four - Branding Strategy Reform

The vision of “New Mengniu” has been reconstructed with a brand
concept focusing on “Quality” and “Happiness”. Under this theme,
the overall sub-brand structure was established, marking the birth
of a brand-oriented vision driven by consumer needs. Through the
concept, Mengniu delivered the corporate vision of caring for the
needs of consumers and bringing happiness to consumers by paying
every bit of attention to every drop of raw milk.

In line with this concept, Mengniu has not only enhanced its
product quality, but also actively launched a diversity of branding
activities to deliver the brand promise of “Quality” and “Happiness”
to its consumers. Mengniu has adopted a refreshing colour in
the new packaging of its pure milk and basic functional milk
products, and used the pattern of a drop of milk to demonstrate
Mengniu’s determination to change by “beginning from a drop”
(2L 4GEE). Mengniu held several interactive activities under
the theme of “The New Mengniu Listens with Heart” (540
JB3®) to present its corporate motto to the public sincerely and
openly. Such activities included inviting internet opinion leaders
and consumers to visit its production bases and communicate with
Mengniu physically. Targeting major sports events, including the
NBA Finals, the World Table Tennis Championships and the UEFA
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Euro football competitions, Mengniu launched a series of television
advertisements under the theme of “Selection Through Trust” (&
A{EFE FTLAESE) to connect the brand image with healthy and
energetic sports stars. Mengniu was also designated as the “Official
Milk Products for Mongolian Athletes at the London 2012 Olympic
Games” Q012F A RESSTHEHEETES ) by the General
Administration of Sport of Mongolia (FH 8B 4) and the
Mongolian Foundation for the Promotion of the Olympic Games (5
HEMEHEREESE). In addition, Mengniu has been sponsoring
China’s space programme for nine consecutive years and took the
opportunity of the successful launch of Shenzhou 9 Spacecraft (&
£ 15%) to promote its quality products.

Mengniu reorganised the overall structure of its sub-brands by
eliminating certain brands and formulating the strategy of focusing
its resources on selected key brands. Mengniu regrouped the
sub-brands under four categories in light of consumer needs
and market trends, namely daily nutrition, leisure nutrition,
professional nutrition and luxurious nutrition, and set up brand
centres to manage these diversified brand categories. Each brand
centre implemented tailor-made branding strategies with different
directions and focuses.

In the future, Mengniu will continue to build its brand under the
two main themes of “Quality” and “Happiness”, and communicate
with consumers and stakeholders more proactively and openly. In
order to gradually enhance consumers’ confidence in the brand and
deliver positive message to the consumers, Mengniu will also carry
out more interactive thematic campaigns to meet consumer needs.

Action Five — Sales Channel Consolidation

During the year, Mengniu embarked on comprehensive
consolidation of its sales channel aiming at taking more controls
over sales terminals and increasing overall efficiency. At present,
Mengniu has finished the consolidation on the three below aspects.

First, Mengniu has reduced layers between sales management
headquarters and points-of-sale, which greatly enhanced efficiency
of internal communication and approval process and shortened the
response time. The decision-making point was also shifted from the
headquarters to the points-of-sale to better cater for the demand
of the distributors and increase overall operational efficiency with a
view to facilitating business development.

Mengniu integrated sales resources of UHT milk, chilled products
and ice cream, and set up centralised platforms based on key
functions such as sales management and channel. The platforms
were built for the purpose of sharing marketing resources and
enhancing the utilisation efficiency of resources.
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Mengniu has formulated workflow and inspection standards to
standardise the management process of all points-of-sale so that
front-end sales will become more controllable with professional and
standardised operational procedures.

With regard to channel promotion, Mengniu has adjusted its
branding strategies to focus on key brands with an aim to boost
their sales performance and channel penetration.

The integration of the sales channel is still in progress. In the future,
Mengniu intends to establish a standardised and informationalised
operation model and perfect its system through resources
consolidation and brands competitiveness.

Action Six — Information System Upgrade

With an aim of establishing an informationalised operation
management system that can quickly adapt to changes and meet
internal control requirements, Mengniu launched a project to
upgrade the information system in accordance with the industry
standards during the year. Both the human resources management
system and the financial budget management system were
standardised accordingly.

Besides, Mengniu has optimised the transportation system by
deploying base stations and GPS systems, which not only enabled
control of refrigeration and tracking of transportation vehicles, but
also shortened the transportation distance, thereby lowered logistics
costs and slowed down the melting of chilled products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Food quality and safety incidents during the year adversely affected
consumer confidence and sales to a certain extent. In face of
the severe challenges, Mengniu took the initiative to identify
its shortcomings and perfect its quality management system.
By devoting greater efforts to sales activities and enhancing
communications with consumers, Mengniu has been regaining
the affected market share and restoring its brand credibility
gradually. During the year under review, revenue of the Group
amounted to RMB36,080.4 million (2011: RMB37,387.8 million).
Profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB1,257.1
million (2011: RMB1,589.3 million). Basic earnings per share were
RMBO0.711 (2011: RMB0.908).

Revenue

Revenue for 2012 amounted to RMB36,080.4 million, representing
a decline of 3.5% as compared with the revenue of RMB37,387.8
million in 2011. The decrease was mainly attributable to the drop
in sales volume, partially offset by the price increase as a result of
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the optimisation of product mix. Meanwhile, revenue of key brands
including Milk Deluxe (475 #%), Champion (TZzx#l), Future Star (&
#2) and Fruit Milk Drink (B2£#7) has maintained fast growth
since their launch into the market, all of which recorded a double-
digit increase in 2012, while Youyi C (#£z:C) enjoyed a three-digit
growth during the year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012
amounted to RMB9,054.6 million (2011: RMB9,592.2 million), a
decrease of 5.6% as compared with 2011. During the year under
review, the Group continued to enhance the control over product
quality and restore consumer confidence in its brand and dairy
products by increasing the proportion of milk sources purchased
from ranches and scaled farms, resulting in a rise in the cost of raw
milk. Meanwhile, the Group devoted more resources to adding
quality inspection staff and deploying more inspection equipment. As
a result, the overall gross profit margin for the year was adjusted to
25.1% (2011: 25.7%).

To cope with the continued increase in raw milk and quality
control costs, the Group enhanced operational efficiency through
optimising the internal production and operation management
flow, thereby lowered the production cost. The Group also reduced
the procurement cost of raw and auxiliary materials and equipment
by rationalising and optimising the deployment of suppliers. In
addition, the Group optimised logistics and reduced transportation
cost through effective production, sales and distribution
arrangements and flexible deployment of conveyances.

Operating Expenses

The operating expenses of the Group for 2012 were RMB7,817.3
million (2011: RMB7,992 million), accounting for approximately
21.7% of the Group’s revenue (2011: 21.4%). Among which, the
selling and distribution expenses for the year decreased by 4%
compared with the previous year to approximately RMB6,425.8
million (2011: RMB6,694.7 million), representing 17.8% of the
Group's revenue (2011: 17.9%). Starting from the second half of
2012, the Group modified its sales channels strategies in light of
the diversity of the market, and optimised its brand portfolio and
distribution channels, in order to make better and more flexible use
of sales and promotional resources. The percentage of advertising
and promotion expenses to revenue for the year slightly declined to
6.4% (2011: 7.6%).
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During the year, the Group not only devoted more resources to
the quality management system, but also recruited a renowned
professional agency to optimise its internal structure to increase
the management efficiency. This led to a slight increase in the
administrative and other operating expenses to RMB1,391.5 million
(2011: RMB1,297.3 million), and its percentage to the Group’s
revenue has increased to 3.9% (2011: 3.5%)).

Profit from Operating Activities and Profit Attributable to
Owners of the Company

Owing to the decrease in turnover year-on-year and the increase in
costs, the Group's earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) was RMB2,525.0 million (2011: RMB2,812.1
million). EBITDA margin declined to 7.0% (2011: 7.5%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB1,257.1
million (2011: RMB1,589.3 million). Net profit margin was 3.5% for
the year (2011: 4.3%).

Income Tax Expenses

The effective income tax rate of the Group for 2012 was 14.6%,
up by 1.2 percentage points as compared with 2011, primarily
due to the less utilisation amount of the tax credit limit related to
purchases of domestic equipment in 2012 as compared with 2011.

Capital Expenditure

As at the end of 2012, the total capital expenditure of the Group
amounted to RMB2,266.5 million, generally consistent with
that of 2011. The capital expenditure for 2012 was mainly used
for constructing production plants and equipments, enhancing
milk sources, etc. Its investment in the enhancement of milk
sources reached RMB193.6 million, demonstrating the Group’s
determination and efforts to enhance the safety of milk sources.

Capital Structure, Working Capital and Financial
Resources

The Group’s net cash flows from operating activities amounted to
RMB2,006.9 million (2011: RMB2,520.1 million). The decrease in
net cash flows was mainly due to the decrease in profit. Net cash
balances (cash and bank balances net of total bank loans) of the
Group reached RMB5,204.6 million as at 31 December 2012 (31
December 2011: RMB5,985.5 million), indicating a strong financial
position and healthy cash flow of the Group.

The outstanding bank loans of the Group amounted to RMB573.8
million (31 December 2011: RMB537.5 million), which was
repayable within one year. Furthermore, the bank loans totaling
RMB93.4 million (31 December 2011: RMB167.1 million) were fixed
interest-bearing loans.
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The total equity of the Group was RMB13,071.8 million as at 31
December 2012 (31 December 2011: RMB12,048.8 million), and
the debt-to-equity ratio (total bank loans over total equity) of the
Group was 4.4% (31 December 2011: 4.5%).

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB41.75 million (2011:
RMB60.94 million), representing approximately 0.1% of the
Group's revenue (2011: 0.2%).

PRODUCTS

To meet the ever-increasing consumer needs for natural dairy
products, Mengniu concentrated on category expansion along
with research and development of pure natural and additive-free
products, in addition to its continuous efforts in developing high-
end products catering for diversified market segments. Mengniu
will exert efforts to develop a safe, premium and healthy product
structure.

Mengniu’'s business is mainly divided into three categories,
which are liquid milk, ice cream and other dairy products. The
performance during the year are highlighted as follows:
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Product
category Financial performance Highlights
Emm BMERR FAEM
Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB32,337.0 million (2011: RMB33,701.2 million), accounting for 89.6%
(2011: 90.1%) of the total revenue of Mengniu
REL WABARE323370B (=T ——F : AR¥E337.012(87T) - AEFHLRKRARB.6% (=T ——
F:90.1%)
UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB19,706.2 -  To match Mengniu’s new brand image, new packages
UHTZ} million (2011: RMB20,837.6 miillion), have been used for basic functional products, such as Pure
accounting for 60.9% (2011: 61.8%) Milk (454 477) and High Calcium Milk (& £54F477)
of the liquid milk segment revenue EREMAFT REISFIREEFmETERERTE
WA BAREE197.062BTT(=F £
——% : AR¥208.376f87T) -
IEREEHUTARI60.9% (=ZZFE—— -  Milk Deluxe (475 #*) remained the top seller. Promotional
F:61.8%) activities were carried out at the experience stores to
enhance communication with consumers and build a high-
end brand image
HRARFHETESE - EmEERIES EEIILINER
3 BEED  BYmmRErE
= s I —  Launched functional products Awakening Youth Guli Milk
"“I‘-‘1-|_|J.i.1|l"'ﬂ'T : Eer— (#8255 574 47) and Awakening Youth Shuhuo Milk (f#8
J% ! ﬁQE £75F 4 477), which help to improve the health of the bones
L3 -..__.-ﬁ- and the cardiovascular system for the middle-aged and the
m f T @I elderly
—— WA MER  HEADFEFABHRRROME R
W R g, ROABEYEARASHTH
JRELL)
- Expanded the Future Star (;k2¢£Z) product category by
. Hags ; launching Future Star Kid Milk (K2 /)G B RFZ7)
.ﬂ;_-l? 304 and Future Star Milk-Nutrition Balance (K42 &t <4
(4K . 9 EL )
] N ERAKEERRE  AKE ) ZERRF RARKE
e '&4" i) FEARFYEELGER % T
Q ||I - '
e —  Developed the innovative brand Latte (#7%F) with several
Milk Deluxe Latte Arla Foods Pure Milk flavours including chocolate, vanilla and banana to bring
KA i Arla Foods #t44}

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

leisure nutrition to consumers
BEUNBEREN RGN BKkE N AR AEEZED
IR BHBEGRKEEE

Arla Foods Pure Milk (Arla Foods Zt443), which is
imported from Europe, was launched in China
BN R EE3#E O A rla FoodsAL4F 477 1E 3\ & R B T 45
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Product

category Financial performance Highlights

Emm BERR FAEM

Milk beverages Revenue amounted to RMB8,038.8 -  Focused on the chilled product Youyi C (#zC) by
ZLEr million (2011: RMB8,309.6 million), strengthening interactive experience and promotion under

Top Seller
HETE

Fruit Milk Drink
HEH

Yogurt
B4

Top Seller
HETE

[a] L)
LTI |
2

s

Champion
s fl

[l
a

accounting for 24.9% (2011: 24.7%)
of the liquid milk segment revenue
WABARYS0.388EIL(ZE
—— % : AR®83.096187L)
RN AR24.9% (=T ——
F:247%)

-

E

o

Iy r
e -
Suan Suan Ru Youyi C PET-packaged Peanut
BeBF & C Milk and Oat Milk
PETEIZRTELL) -

Revenue amounted to RMB4,592
million (2011: RMB4,554
million), accounting for 14.2%
(2011: 13.5%) of the liquid milk
segment revenue
WABARKEALASNREBIL(ZE
——&F : AR¥4554187L) ' &
REEPMAN142%(ZF——
F:135%)

New Product
FER

New Product
S
-

?%

Truly Pure Yogurt
fvm

Future Star Kid Yogurt
FRE LB REFT]

the theme of “Intestinal Exercises Help to Stay Young” (f%
JEEN EEFE)

FTHEAREREZC  BEEIBEH  FFEI2EE - m
REBBBR LR

Continued to expand the market coverage of Suan Suan
Ru (B#Z]) and launched the campaign “Mengniu Suan
Suan Ru Superstar Dream Academy” (X4-E5FE 9L B 2 18
E2[%) to enhance interaction with young consumers
SERABREZMSESE AR ZSFBRERILEESREE
bt | EfaEE) - R FEEEE L&)

Maintained the market share by expanding the product
category of Fruit Milk Drink (& E#7)
MREENERMEA - RETISHE

The PET-packaged milk beverages Peanut Milk (7£447)
and Oat Milk (725475) were launched into the market
PETEIE I RRL/EALLS « FZEY T

Champion (7% 73 #.) remained the top seller
B A RIGHETE

New product Truly Pure Yogurt (4%;), an additive-free
pure natural healthy yogurt, was launched into the market
AELFT o BT - ST DR ANAR R A & FRBE )

Future Star Kid Yogurt (KK ZZZM RE4T)) was
launched to bring brand synergy into full play
AKEZEXRBF o £ - BE R0 RE

TESEAEERAT —T—_FERH
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Product
category Financial performance Highlights
Emm MBREA FRENG
Ice cream Revenue amounted to RMB3,171.5 -  Deluxe (##7EZ) launched a pure natural high-end new
KR million (2011: RMB3,258.6 million), product named Gelato, which is made of pure natural
accounting for 8.8% (2011: 8.7%) materials using traditional Italian techniques
of the revenue of Mengniu R EZTHRARAS IR MGelato - HABEAFEHRT
WARARKEINNTISET(ZE 2N AR RRERE
—— % AR#®32.586187T) -
{E.gqiﬁ?llﬁz)\ﬁ’\]&S% =% L Certain products under /ce+ (7k+) use natural mango juice
F:8.7%) imported from India, which are free from artificial pigment
to give an original flavour
|F,.f.~;.|r FK+EBOERERANEEATRRE  TAMNMAIEKE
[?". % BT REKER
1 |
P
Deluxe Ice+
BWEZ k+
Other dairy Revenue amounted to RMB571.9 —  The sales coverage of milk powder was expanded. The
products million (2011: RMB428 million), “Trustworthy Milk Powder” (F/0y%L4) project pioneered
HEmZl e accounting for 1.6% (2011: 1.2%) a pilot project with the Administration of Quality and

of the revenue of Mengniu
WABARESTIIEL(ZZE
—— % : AR¥428187L) - h
SHBEBANI6%(ZF——
F:1.2%)

MENGNIU ARLA
B

Kids Cheese Sticks
B

Technology Supervision of Inner Mongolia
MNERBREEEHE  [HOIM I IEERNFTLHEEE
ERAMEE  RITEEEREZLA

Product lines were added to the cheese segment; the
sales of new products such as Cheese Baby (## &) and
European Yogurt Cheese (B (B 7/%) increased

TR TS IL INE AR - BEeB A KRB =B DS 5 fn B e
SHE

Apart from the Mainland China market, Mengniu’s products are
also being sold in Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore and Mongolia.
During the year under review, despite the slowdown in overall
sales growth due to the food safety incidents, the business in
overseas markets still achieved stable performance through targeted

marketing and sales strategies.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

SENERBRERENMBESN  FEEEE
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In the future, Mengniu will continue to monitor the consumer
demands and market trends closely, and seize the market
opportunities in chilled products, organic products and infant milk
formula. Mengniu will step up its efforts on developing potential
new business. Meanwhile, Mengniu will continue to develop and
expand high-end brands and diversify product portfolio to increase
the profitability of each business segment.

PRODUCTION

In response to market demands, Mengniu’s annual production
capacity reached 7.58 million tons by December 2012 (December
2011: 7.05 million tons).

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

With its strong commitment to social responsibility, Mengniu has
not only actively participated in various community activities, but
also attached great importance to environmental protection and
sustainable development of ecology. In 2012, Mengniu set up the
Centre of Health, Safety and Environmental Protection to better
perform its social responsibilities.

Public Welfare Activities

Mengniu launched the campaign “Looking for the Most Beautiful
Teachers in Rural Areas” (S &ZE4BHIZ4EN) to support teachers
in rural areas. Mengniu established cooperation with the World
Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) to promote the “Earth Hour” (MiEk—
/|\B%F) activity and went on with the “Charity Well Project” (.03
TE H) to help relieve the water shortage problem in remote areas.
Mengniu also founded an education fund to support the “Dream
Realisation” under “Project Hope" in Hainan Province (8m& %= £
Ti2[E|22778)), spreading happiness within the society.

Upstream Ecosystem Building

Mengniu has always been taking initiatives in ecosystem building.
During the year, the Group has set up a wholly-owned subsidiary
Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Co., Ltd. (R B RHREERE
£/~ 7)) to offer professional services in dairy farm management. To
resolve potential pollutions caused by manure, biogas slurry, biogas
residue and sewage, Mengniu applied advanced technologies
and equipment to minimise negative impact on the surrounding
environment, and at the same time transformed those excessive
energy and materials from ranch waste into renewable resources
such as electricity and organic fertilisers, so as to achieve recycling
use of resources and balanced ecological development.

27

RE - RFEBBEZHHEBEFTKEMSEE
AEERER BARERNERESTPHERR
FEVBRATR - RFAEAGENNMER I
FEBENMIRRRERME SEBHERM
B RASBEEBEMNED -

HE

S BEREMSRRGRESR  BE-T—=
F+_F AEtFEREISEWM(ZT——F
+—H : 7058H) -

HERE

S -EWBAELRES TEEBSEARS
MEFHARESREELE - EREBRLE
WERBREORENTHERRE - FER-F

——ERIRBELZERFETLO - ZEETHRBR
HRE -
DR E B

CIEFAR  REFLEER T SRR 26
EE - FRNTABNHBERY - BWWF(HER
BARESE)EE B/ ED K8
HITIEOHIER ] HEKERERNEBILR
fORAKREE : MRUBBESIHFIERERE
TREZTHIE  ERERTHS =R IEESR
HE e

EirEgER

ST —BRERITREERERRREM - NFAK
VEEFAR-ARETERBUEBEREELRA
BRTMBRAMCBUGETERERE - £HRS
FERBAFERANTHERE AR BEMS
IKERIEEIRED - 5| ABI AR S R 8RR 14 3R e
RIS REEBREPRELENRIGREENYESE L
REENERICEBELER  BRTERNER
ALK FEER -

PERFARERAR —T-—FER



28

Management Discussion and Analysis B2 E 545w & 247

Water Resource Preservation

Mengniu pays great attention to water resource preservation,
and also devotes considerable resources to build and improve
water ecology environment. During the year, Mengniu set up 28
sewage disposal plants (with an annual treatment capacity of 15
million tons) under real-time supervision. The processed water
complied with the national discharge standards and was reused
for afforestation, road cleaning and toilet flushing in the plants.
Besides, Mengniu managed to rebuild and restore rivers around
the headquarters so as to improve the functions of floods and
droughts prevention, wind-shielding and sand stabilisation, water
preservation (with a reserving capacity of about 60,000 tons
of water) to optimise the ecosystem. The renovation added an
extra 80,000 square metres of greenbelt. Through technological
upgrade and elimination of energy consuming equipment, Mengniu
managed to save a total of 350,000 tons of water annually.

Low Carbon Value Chain and Green Innovations
Mengniu has greatly reduced carbon emissions and improved
efficiency in its logistics throughout the country by deploying
the strategy of “selling to where it is produced and producing
at where it is sold” (EHhH $8H8E). In addition, Mengniu has
achieved satisfactory improvements on energy savings by means
of implementing scientific design and optimising the combination
of functional layout, lighting system and power facilities within
workshops. With regard to the supply chain, Mengniu has worked
closely with its suppliers to identify and use FSC-certified (a global
forestry certification system) packaging materials. Mengniu has also
established a green supply chain together with its upstream partners
through innovative measures such as producing environmentally-
friendly stools made from discarded packaging materials.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had approximately 28,000
employees in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Total staff costs for
the year, excluding directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration,
were approximately RMB1,930.2 million (2011: RMB1,745.1
million).

Mengniu has recruited more senior management talents from
international fast-moving consumer goods companies. Management
experts have been employed particularly in areas of quality control,
branding and sales, thus adding new expertise to power the
strategic development of Mengniu.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Mengniu draws great emphasis on internal staff cultivation while
bringing in professional expertise from the outside. To develop
and reserve more outstanding talents for long term development,
Mengniu launched the “Dawn Scheme” (2#&:t2l), a talent
cultivation program allowing outstanding staff to study advanced
management and techniques at Arla Foods in Denmark every year.

PROSPECTS

Stepping into 2013, there is still great development potential and
room for improvement for China’s dairy industry, in view of the
continuous urbanisation and the ever-increasing spending power
and health awareness of consumers. Under the government’s
stringent supervision, the dairy industry would maintain a healthy
development along with a more concentrated industry trend. As
one of the leaders in China’s dairy market, Mengniu is continuing to
lead the healthy development of the industry by proactively seizing
industry opportunities and leveraging its strength.

Organisational restructuring in 2012 has prepared Mengniu for its
overall enhancement in the coming years. By adhering to principles
of strategy orientation, market-driven business, transformational
upgrade and shared growth, Mengniu has developed a new
Five-Year Strategic Plan. In the future, Mengniu will continue to
enhance its cross-departmental collaboration, strengthen team
cohesiveness and management capability by integrating the new
and existing culture. Meanwhile, Mengniu will continue to carry
forward the upgrade of information system and rebuild the core
operating system in accordance with the benchmark software
platform adopted by the fast-moving consumer goods industry. This
will standardise the management system of purchase, sales and
inventory, enabling Mengniu to respond quickly to market trends
and feedback. At the same time, Mengniu will continue to make
efforts on research and development to develop new star brands
and products that meet market demands, product mix optimisation
and sales channel expansion, in order to achieve a balanced
development of Mengniu.

2013 will continue to be a challenging year. Mengniu will start
afresh and implement measures guiding by the new Five-Year
Strategic Plan. With an aim to achieve the transformation into “New
Mengniu”, Mengniu will sustainably strengthen milk sources and
quality control, rationalise brand structure, enhance brand image,
adjust product portfolio based on market demands and enhance
the international management level. Mengniu is committed to
becoming a dairy enterprise that delivers products of the best
quality and in the most professional and devoted manner in China,
and bringing happiness to consumers.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREER

Executive Directors

Ms. Sun Yiping, aged 46, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ") of the Group and an executive Director of the
Company in April 2012. Ms. Sun graduated from China Agricultural
University (formerly known as Beijing Agricultural Engineering
University) in 1993 with a Bachelor’s degree with specialisation
in food engineering and a Master's degree with specialisation in
agricultural products processing engineering. She also holds an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the Olin
School of Business of the University of Washington in the United
States. She joined COFCO Group in 1993 and was involved in
the management of COFCO’s investment in Coca-Cola bottling
business. In 1997, she became the deputy general manager of
Swire Guangdong Coca-Cola Limited and subsequently the general
manager of Hainan Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd. in 2002. Ms. Sun
also concurrently became the general manager of Zhanjiang COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. in 2005. Prior to joining the Group as
CEO, Ms. Sun was the deputy general manager of COFCO Property
(Group) Co., Ltd. and the general manager of COFCO Group (south-
west region). Throughout her nearly 20 years of work experience,
Ms. Sun has acquired extensive management experience in sales
and marketing of brand food, processing of food and oil, and
real estate in addition to which she has over 10 years of extensive
management experience in the international fast-moving consumer
goods industry.

Mr. Yang Wenjun, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company in February 2004. Mr. Yang was the
former CEO of the Group and is one of the founders of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”). He was appointed as a Vice-Chairman of
the Company with effect from 10 June 2011. Mr. Yang graduated
from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute and holds a Master's
degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University. Mr. Yang has
over 20 years of management experience in the large-scale dairy
industry and extensive experience in production management and
sales and marketing of dairy products. Mr. Yang was elected as one
of the “World Economy’s Top 10 Outstanding Chinese Professional
Managers” by the Professional System Assessment Committee
of the appraisal system of World Chinese Economy (WCE) at the
Annual Conference for Investment and Financing in Asia Pacific in
2008, and as one of the “China’s Top 10 Celebrities for Industry
Leaders” and “Tenth Session of Top 10 Celebrities for China’s
Reform Programme” in 2010. Mr. Yang resigned from his positions
as CEO of the Group with effect from 12 April 2012 and an
executive Director and a Vice-Chairman of the Company with effect
from 30 July 2012.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Mr. Bai Ying, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company in July 2008 and is a Vice President in Operation of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Bai graduated with a Master’s degree
from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. Mr. Bai was the Vice President of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu and the General Manager of UHT milk division of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. He has been working in the dairy industry
for almost 20 years and has extensive experience and advanced
management concepts in the dairy industry. In 2010, Mr. Bai was
elected as "Advanced Staff of Hohhot” and “Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region Labour Model” for the second time.

Mr. Wu Jingshui, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director
and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in March 2010 and
is a Vice President (Finance) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Wu
graduated from Inner Mongolia Light Industry Institute majoring
in industrial enterprise financial accounting and holds a Master’s
degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University and a Master
of Business Administration degree from China Europe International
Business School. He also holds a senior accountant qualification.
Before being appointed as the Vice President (Finance) of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu in April 2008, Mr. Wu served as the Financial
General Manager of liquid milk division and the Chief Financial
Officer of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and has extensive experience in
financial management. In 2010, Mr. Wu was honoured as a “Labour
Model (Advanced Staff) of Hohhot".

Mr. Ding Sheng, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company in March 2010 and is a Vice President of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Ding graduated from Inner Mongolia
Light Industry Institute majoring in dairy products techniques and
is a senior engineer. During his work, he pursued studies in Inner
Mongolia University and Nankai University majoring in economics
and management and business administration. Mr. Ding joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003. He served as a Vice President and
the General Manager of yogurt division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
and has extensive management experience in the dairy industry.
Mr. Ding was elected as a “Labour Model (Advanced Staff) of Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region” in 2010. Mr. Ding currently serves as
a member of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology
and the vice—chairman of the lactic acid bacteria branch of the
Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009 and the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Ning is
currently the chairman of COFCO Corporation and COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, an executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong, a non-executive director of China
Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
a non-executive director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong, and an independent director of Huayuan
Property Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai. Mr. Ning is also a
director of BOC International Holdings Limited and an independent
non-executive director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited,
a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ning was a non-executive
director of Lippo China Resources Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong, from December 1998 to August 2009 and a director
of Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed in New York, from 27
August 2008 to 2 March 2011. Before joining COFCO Corporation,
Mr. Ning held various positions such as vice-chairman, director and
general manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. Ning has over 20 years of experience in corporate management,
investment and corporate finance, business restructurings and
governmental relations. Mr. Ning graduated from Shandong
University in China with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and from
the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master of
Business Administration degree in Finance.

Mr. Yu Xubo, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2009 and a Vice—Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Yu is currently the
president of COFCO Corporation and a director of COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, the chairman of both COFCO Meat Investment Co.
Ltd. and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Ltd. and also an executive
director and the chairman of China Agri-Industries Holdings
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics from the University of International Business
and Economics in Beijing and an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from China Europe International Business
School.
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Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 55, is a non-executive Director of the
Company, one of the members in the team founding Yili Group,
the founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the founder of Laoniu
Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated from Inner Mongolia University
with a degree in Administration and Management and obtained a
Master’s degree in Enterprise Management at the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences Graduate School. With his extensive experience
and insights in China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu receives high
reputation in the industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as one of
“China’s Most Influential Business Leaders” for the fifth consecutive
year, and was honoured the “2007 Hong Kong Bauhinia Award”.
Mr. Niu is devoted to charity. He was among “China’s Top 10
Philanthropists” guided and published by the Ministry of Civil
Affairs of the People’s Republic of China in 2007 and ranked
third in the “2007 Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and received the
first and only “Lifetime Achievement in Philanthropy Award”
presented by the “China Philanthropists List” in 2010. Mr. Niu was
an independent non-executive director of Alibaba.com Limited, a
company previously listed in Hong Kong and withdrew from listing
in June 2012, until 21 June 2012, and was an independent director
of Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion & Accessories Company, a
company listed in Shenzhen, until 22 April 2011.

Mr. Ma Jianping, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009. Mr. Ma is currently a vice
president of COFCO Corporation. He is also a non-executive director
of China Foods Limited and an executive director and the chairman
of The Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited, both companies listed
in Hong Kong, and a director of COFCO Property (Group) Co.,
Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Ma graduated from the
University of International Business and Economics in Beijing with
a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration. Mr. Ma
has extensive experience in corporate finance, investment, strategic
planning and management and worked in Japan for over five years.

Mr. Fang Fenglei, aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2009. Mr. Fang is currently
the chairman of HOPU Investment Management Co., Ltd. and the
chairman of Goldman Sachs Gaohua Securities Company Limited.
Previously, Mr. Fang was a deputy CEO of China International
Capital Corporation Limited, CEO of BOC International Holdings
Limited and CEO of ICEA Finance Holdings Limited. He was an
independent non-executive director of Central China Real Estate
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, from January 2008 to
December 2009. Mr. Fang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun
Yat-sen University. Mr. Fang resigned from his position as a non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 30 July 2012.
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Mr. Ma Wangjun, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2010. Mr. Ma is currently an
assistant president and the chief accountant of COFCO Corporation.
He is also a non-executive director of China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited and The Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics from Beijing Technology and Business University
and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. Mr. Ma resigned as a
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 12 April
2012.

Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen, aged 48, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2012. Mr. Jargensen
graduated from Copenhagen Business School in 1991 with a Master
of Economics degree, specialising in international strategy and
marketing. He joined Arla Foods Amba in 1991 and has held several
management positions within Arla Foods Amba’s international
business group, including a three-year position in the Middle East
and a three-year position in Brazil. In 2005, he became the business
group director for Arla Foods Amba's Danish division and in 2007,
he was appointed as executive vice president, with the overall
responsibility for Arla Foods Amba's international activities outside
Scandinavia and the United Kingdom. Since 2010, Mr. Jgrgensen
has also been a director of Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy
Products Co., Ltd., a Mengniu-Arla joint venture engaging in the
principal activities of manufacture and sale of dairy products.
In 2012, he was appointed to lead Arla Foods Amba's newly
established German/Dutch business group, with the clear objective
of establishing Arla Foods Amba as a leading dairy company in
Germany through mergers and acquisitions. Throughout his 20
years in Arla Foods Amba, Mr. Jgrgensen has acquired extensive
management experience within international sales, brand building,
supply chain efficiency and general management. Mr. Jgrgensen
has especially been focused on growing the business significantly
both organically and through acquisitions.
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Mr. Finn S. Hansen, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2012. Mr. Hansen graduated
from Haderslev Business College in 1986 with a Bachelor’s
degree in Commerce. He joined Arla Foods Amba in 1977 and
has held several management positions within Arla Foods Amba’s
international business group, including a three-year position in
Canada and more than ten years in different countries in the Middle
East. In 2006, he became senior vice president with responsibility
for Arla Foods Amba'’s activities in the Middle East and North Africa.
Mr. Hansen was appointed as executive vice president in 2012, with
the overall responsibility for Arla Foods Amba’s activities outside
Scandinavia and the United Kingdom.

Ms. Liu Ding, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a Vice—Chairwoman of the Board of Directors of the Company
in January 2013. Ms. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University
with a Bachelor’s degree in History and holds an Executive Master
degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business. Ms. Liu was appointed as a non-executive
director of China Foods Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, on
28 March 2011. Ms. Liu joined COFCO Corporation in April 2005
and is currently a director and the head of the Communist Party
Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO Corporation. She was a
director of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shenzhen, until 21 July 2011. Prior to joining COFCO Corporation,
she was a deputy director of the Propaganda and Education Bureau
of the Propaganda Department of the Chinese Communist Party. Ms.
Liu has more than 20 years of experience in legal affairs, general
management, governmental relations, public relations, corporate
culture development, organisation development and propaganda
and education.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 47, was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company in February 2004 and
is a Vice—Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.
Mr. Jiao has been re-designated from a non-executive Director of
the Company to an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the Group
in September 2002 and is currently a director and Managing Partner
of CDH China Management Company Limited. Mr. Jiao received a
Bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from Shandong University and
a Master’s degree in Engineering from the Ministry of Aeronautics
and Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves as a non-executive
director of China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong and a director of Joyoung Company Limited and a
director of Henan Shuanghui Investment & Development Co., Ltd.,
both companies listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao was a non-executive
director of China Yurun Food Group Limited, a company listed in
Hong Kong, from 13 April 2005 to 22 September 2012.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 39, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2006 and has been
re-designated from a non-executive Director of the Company to an
independent non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently a partner of KKR Asia
Limited focusing on private equity transactions in the Greater China
region. Mr. Wolhardt is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified
Management Accountant and received a Bachelor’s degree in
Accounting from the University of lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in
the United States. Mr. Wolhardt currently serves as a non-executive
director and the chairman of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a
company listed in Hong Kong, and an independent non-executive
director of China Cord Blood Corporation, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive director of
United Envirotech Ltd, a company listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to August 2012.

Mr. Liu Fuchun, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr. Liu was a
graduate of the Beijing Foreign Trade Institute and is now a senior
commerce specialist. Prior to his retirement in 2007, Mr. Liu acted
as an executive director and the CEO of COFCO Group. He served
various departments in COFCO Group in the past, including the
finance department, business planning department, general office
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and oils and fats department of COFCO Group, the representative
office of COFCO Group in the United States and Top Glory (London)
Ltd., the base of COFCO Group in the United Kingdom. Mr. Liu
was the deputy consulate of the Chinese Consulate-General in
Vancouver. Currently, Mr. Liu serves as an independent non-
executive director of DaChan Food (Asia) Limited, a company listed
in Hong Kong, and an independent director of China Aviation Qil
(Singapore) Corporation Ltd., a company listed in Singapore.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in May 2009. Mr. Zhang
was a graduate of the Shandong University and the school of
management at the Beihang University and is now a senior
engineer. Mr. Zhang is the chairman of Unibank Media, and is also
an independent director of SYSWIN INC., which is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange, and an independent director of Guangzhou
Zhujiang Digital Group. Mr. Zhang previously served as a director
and president of Airmedia which was listed on NASDAQ and is
experienced in the management of media operations and initial
public offering.

Mr. Xie Tao, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in June 2011. Mr. Xie was
the chief executive officer and a director of Agria Corporation, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and a director
of PGG Wrightson Limited, a company listed on the New Zealand
Stock Exchange, both until September 2012. Mr. Xie is also an
independent non-executive director of China Merchants China
Direct Investments Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
and an independent non-executive director of Tongyu Heavy
Industry Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Xie has previously been engaged in the advisory practice at
PricewaterhouseCoopers for 22 years where he led the China
market corporate finance practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers and
served on the firm’s management board. Mr. Xie has extensive
experience in China related cross-border investments and mergers
and acquisitions and corporate restructuring. Mr. Xie received his
Bachelor’s degree in Physics from Peking University in China and is
a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of
the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in January 2013. Mr. Yan is
the founding managing partner of SAIF Partners (“SAIF”). Prior to
joining SAIF, he was the managing director and head of the Hong
Kong office of Emerging Markets Partnership from 1994 until 2001.
From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World Bank in Washington,
the Hudson Institute and Sprint International Corporation as an
economist, a research fellow and a director for strategic planning
and business development for Asia Pacific Region respectively.
From 1982 to 1984, he was a chief engineer at Jianghuai Airplane
Corporation.

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Nanjing
Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the Master Program in
Department of Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986
and received a Master of Arts degree from Princeton University
in International Political Economy in 1989. Mr. Yan also studied
advanced finance and accounting courses at the Wharton Business
School in 1995.

Mr. Yan holds a number of directorships in listed companies — he
is (a) an independent non-executive director of China Petroleum &
Chemical Corporation (SinoPec), China Resources Land Limited and
Fosun International Limited; (b) a non-executive director of Guodian
Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited, Digital
China Holdings Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited, eSun
Holdings Limited and MOBI Development Co., Ltd; (c) the chairman
and a non-executive director of NVC Lighting Holding Limited (all
listed in Hong Kong, other than that, China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, London
Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange); (d) an independent
director of Giant Interactive Group Inc. (listed on the New York
Stock Exchange); and (e) a director of Acorn International Inc.
(listed on the New York Stock Exchange), ATA Inc. (listed on the
NASDAQ) and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was a director of Global
Education & Technology Group Ltd. (which was formerly listed on
the NASDAQ) from March 2007 to December 2011, the shares of
which were withdrawn from listing on the NASDAQ in December
2011.
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Senior Management

Mr. Lu Jianjun, aged 36, is the Chief Administrative Officer of
the Company and the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Lu graduated from Inner Mongolia Normal
University with an Art degree in Chinese Language. Mr. Lu joined
the Group in June 2000, and served as various positions including
Secretary to CEO Office, Secretary to CEO and Executive Assistant
to Chairman. Mr. Lu was re-designated as the Secretary of the
Board of Directors of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2009 and was
responsible for the office management of the board and the audit
department as well as investor relations. In 2013, he started to be
in charge of the office management of the CEQ. In May 2010, Mr.
Lu was awarded the professional qualification as secretary of board
of directors by the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yao Haitao, aged 50, is a Vice President of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu. He graduated from Inner Mongolia Finance and
Economics College with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from China
Europe International Business School. He also holds an accountant
qualification. Mr. Yao joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2003 and
served as various positions including Deputy General Manager of
the liquid milk division, Assistant to President and Vice President of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu during his term. He has solid experience in
administrative management. Mr. Yao currently serves as the deputy
chairman of the China Dairy Industry Association.
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Ms. Liu Yan, aged 54, is a Vice President in Strategy of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Ms. Liu obtained a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from China Europe International Business School.
Ms. Liu graduated with a Master’s degree in Industrial Science
from the Chinese Academy of Agricultural Mechanisation Sciences
("CAAMS") and was qualified as a senior engineer. Ms. Liu also
held the position of senior engineer in CAAMS. She served as vice
president of customer relationship management of Tetra Pak (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. and is very experienced in the management of dairy
industry. Ms. Liu joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in December 2010
and is responsible for the research and planning of international
strategies, planning and development of international businesses,
including the planning and execution of mergers and acquisitions
and investments of the Group.

Mr. Liu Shengli, aged 47, has served as a Vice President of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu since September 2012. Mr. Liu was graduated
from Dalian Ocean University majoring in aquaculture. During his
work, he pursued studies in Hubei University of Technology and
China Europe International Business School in Beijing. Mr. Liu joined
Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2002. He served as a Vice President,
Assistant to President and the General Manager of ice cream
division of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and has extensive management
experience in the dairy industry. Mr. Liu was elected as a “Labour
Model of Hohhot” of Inner Mongolia in 2010.
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Mr. Jesper Fournaise Colding, aged 42, a Vice President of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. Mr. Colding obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Macro Economics and a Master of International Marketing from
Southern Denmark University and the University of Denver in the
United States. Before joining Inner Mongolia Mengniu, he was
the senior vice president of Arla Foods in Global Categories and
Operations from September 2009. From January 2007, he worked
as the general manager of Royal Unibrew Baltic countries, a leading
beer and beverage company in the region. From 1994 to 2007, Mr.
Colding had taken various roles within sales/marketing in P&G and
worked in leading roles in Denmark, Sweden, and Norway before he
worked as an associate director in P&G Malaysia/Singapore. He has
extensive experience in sales/marketing and general management
and a record of building strong organisations and results. Mr.
Colding joined Inner Mongolia Mengniu in 2012 and is responsible
for managing the Marketing Division.

Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant
Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 40, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong Main Board listed company and he also
served in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board of Directors (the
“Board"”), sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are beneficial to
the Group and its shareholders. The Company is committed to
improving those practices and maintaining its ethical corporate
culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (effective until 31 March 2012)
during the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 March 2012 (the “Old
Code"”) and the Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1 April
2012) during the period from 1 April 2012 to 31 December 2012 (the
“CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance
practices.

Throughout the year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
Old Code and the CG Code, except that nine Directors (1 executive
Director (also the Chief Executive Officer), 6 non-executive Directors
(including the Chairman) and 2 independent non-executive
Directors) were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM") held on 15 June 2012 due to unavoidable
business engagements and other commitments outside of Hong
Kong. The AGM was attended by 3 executive Directors, and 3
independent non-executive Directors. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Investor Relations and Communications”.
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The Board

As at 31 December 2012, the Board comprised fifteen Directors,
including four executive Directors, namely, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr.
Bai Ying, Mr. Wu Jingshui and Mr. Ding Sheng, six non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Ning Gaoning, Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Niu
Gensheng, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Tim @rting Jargensen and Mr. Finn
S. Hansen and five independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Liu
Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao. The Chairman of the
Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company is Ms. Sun Yiping. Each of Mr. Yu Xubo and Mr. Jiao
Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) is a Vice-Chairman of the Board. Subsequent
to the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the date of this
report, two additional Directors were appointed. On 10 January
2013, Ms. Liu Ding was appointed as a non-executive Director
and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Liu Ding is also a Vice-Chairwoman of the
Board.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management
of the Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise
formulation of the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting
of performance and management targets, evaluation of business
performance and supervision of management’s performance. The
management was delegated the authority and responsibility by the
Board for the management and operations of the Group. The role
of the management is to implement the strategies and directions
determined by the Board and to work within the framework of
any written procedures and instructions laid down by the Board. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
Board Committees as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 43 of the
annual report, which demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business or relevant relationships among the
Directors.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and decisions.

During the year, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt have been re-designated from non-executive Directors
to independent non-executive Directors with effect from 12 April
2012. Notwithstanding their positions as non-executive Directors
and a director of the board of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), the main operating
subsidiary of the Company, the Board considers Mr. Jiao and Mr.
Wolhardt to be sufficiently independent to act as independent non-
executive Directors as, prior to their re-designation, Mr. Jiao and
Mr. Wolhardt did not have any executive function or any day-to-day
or operational management role in the Group, except for attending
meetings of the Board, the relevant Committees and the board of
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, carrying out supervising and monitoring
functions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their
independence and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the definition of the
Listing Rules.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report).

Directors’ Training

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company Secretary also provides Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has arranged in-house training for
Directors in the form of a seminar and reading materials since the
new CG Code became effective from 1 April 2012, with appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Directors. During
the year, a Guide on Directors’ Duties published by the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong and a Guide for Independent Non-Executive
Directors published by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors have
been sent to each relevant Director for his/her information and
ready reference. Directors’ visit to the Group’s operations and local
management in the PRC, with briefings by senior PRC staff was
arranged for the Board members to enable them to gain an up-to-
date understanding on the businesses of the Group. A summary of
training received by Directors during the period from 1 April 2012
up to 31 December 2012 according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

RARSEMEES2HEBETERE  UBRE
WEMEANE R B EEATAR S
—ZFMA —HAEBUAR - AREE UM E R
EYHABERLHREEI  UREESE
ENAR - BERET - TR ARREMEE
BMEFRHAEEARTMETZEA(ESETIE
SDEHRAEBESES BB LIENITESE
) UHEMP2ERREE - XRABNLHESS
BASEEPBRIMNES RIS ERE WHTES
BEERMPETEN  AEESENE THAR
EEEBHNRTBN - RIEBESZMREMLE
EER - —_FOA—H=_ZE——-—F+=A4
=t+—HEEMEXHOENSM AT

Type of trainings

Directors E= AR
Executive Directors BITES

Sun Yiping (Note 1) RPE(PIEET) A C D
Yang Wenjun (Note 2) 15 X 1& (B sE2) C.D
Bai Ying BBt A CD
Wu Jingshui REK C. D
Ding Sheng TE A C, D
Non-Executive Directors FHTES

Ning Gaoning EoE A B, C, D
Yu Xubo TIER A C D
Niu Gensheng R4 A C D
Ma Jianping BT A C D
Fang Fenglei (Note 3) 7 EE (KtsE3) C
Ma Wangjun (Note 4) BEE(FIE4) @
Tim @rting Jergensen (Note 5) Tim @rting Jergensen(K{5E5) A C D
Finn S. Hansen (Note 5) Finn S. Hansen(Bff5E5) A C D
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES

Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERR(XEER) A C D
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A, B, CD
Liu Fuchun 2EEHF ¢ D
Zhang Xiaoya sRMBE DD ¢ D
Xie Tao Bl A CD
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A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the
business or directors’ duties

B:  giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C: reading materials relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities and
regulatory updates

D:  visiting the Group's operations and local management in the PRC
Notes:

1. Ms. Sun was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 12
April 2012.

2. Mr. Yang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 30 July
2012.

3. Mr. Fang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 30 July
2012.

4. Mr. Ma resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 12 April
2012.

5. Mr. Jgrgensen and Mr. Hansen were appointed as non-executive
Directors with effect from 30 July 2012.

Board Proceedings

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding
key business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect of
operational issues. The Directors may take independent professional
advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at the
Company’s expenses.

51

A: REREBREEREAROTIGR KEH
R/ S8

B: &R sk sinE EEREN

C: HB=EREREELRSHREENEBHIEY

D: Z2BAKEEPENERIMTEE

1. BLULtDEZTAWTES BT —FMA
+-B4RK-

2. BELCEERGTEE BT —FtHA=1H
AR e

3. AELCEBHEEMTESE BT —_FtA=t
HAR

4. BEACEBEIFNWTEE BT —_FMOA+=
HAR

5. Jorgensendti4 M Hansent A ER T AIEMITE
= e T —F+A=+ALK-

EEEREERER
EXe8FRIBTORER  YEAFTERD
SRITHMERK SR - AN EEERESEZR
BAE AEESRERETERRESRM
FRASEIZXBERNZEAKEZTENE
Be—RME  #EMEGENES —HERTSE
RATRGRES MEFHAREESHEMER R
BREEERN  BEFAEEE BN NGB
BEXER  UEETRE  BRAAQKRESE-

PERFARERAR —T-—FER



52

Corporate Governance Report ¥ ER#H &

The Board held six meetings during the year ended 31 December

2012 and two further meetings since 1 January 2013 up to the date
of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and
Board Committee meetings and the AGM held in 2012 are set out

in the following table.

EEZgHE_T -+ _A=T—HIFESE
TTRREgHE THRZE—=F—F—HZAHK
SHHEPEZIEBRTTRAEZH  SEFHER
T CHFBROVEFEREFFLTESEHEUR
REAFREHBERFBHATE °

Meeting Attended/Held
i/ Bres
Annual
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Meetings®” Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors B Ezgeso ERZES yHzES REZES RRBEAS
Executive Directors HiTES
Sun Yiping® Bifsge 4/4 0/1
Yang Wenjun® X 3/4 0n
Bai Ying HE 56 17
Wu Jingshui REK 6/6 1
Ding Sheng TE 5/6 17
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ning Gaoning EgE 3/6 13 0/1
Yu Xubo TR 6/6 33 0
Niu Gensheng ERE 6/6 o
Ma Jianping SRY 6/6 0/1
Fang Fenglei® FRES 2/4 o
Ma Wangjun® 5IEe 212 n 0/0
Tim @rting Jergensen® Tim @rting Jargensen® 22 0/0
Finn S. Hansen'® Finn S. Hansen® 2/2 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)® ERB(XEEE)e 6/6 444 33 0/
Julian Juul Wolhardt® Julian Juul Wolhardt® 6/6 33 111
Liu Fuchun g 5/6 24 33 33 0/1
Zhang Xiaoya R 5/6 3/4 33 33 1N
Xie Tao e 6/6 4/4 33 33 1N
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Notes:

(1) During the year, the Company held four quarterly meetings and two
other meetings to handle operational-level matters. According to the
Company's articles of association, the quorum for convening a Board
meeting is two members.

(2)  Ms. Sun Yiping was appointed while Mr. Yang Wenjun resigned as an
executive Director with effect from 12 April 2012 and 30 July 2012
respectively.

(3) Mr. Fang Fenglei resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from
30 July 2012.

(4)  Mr. Ma Wangjun resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from
12 April 2012.

(5)  Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen and Mr. Finn S. Hansen were appointed as
non-executive Directors with effect from 30 July 2012.

(6) Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt were re-
designated from non-executive Directors to independent non-executive
Directors with effect from 12 April 2012.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept
by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only open
for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the Directors for
their records. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
of the Company, who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
Group’s business. For the financial year ended 31 December 2012,
the Chairman of the Board is Mr. Ning Gaoning, a non-executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Sun
Yiping, an executive Director.
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The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Directors receive adequate information in a timely manner,
which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable. The Chairman
shall also ensure the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities; all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner; good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; and appropriate steps are taken to
provide effective communication with shareholders and that views
of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with article 112 of the
Company's articles of association. The Directors appointed as an
addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board will
be subject to re-election by the shareholders at the next following
annual general meeting or next following general meeting of the
Company respectively after the appointment.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established four Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy and Development Committee, each
of which is governed by specific terms of reference approved by
the Board, covering its functions, duties and powers. The terms of
reference of the respective Board Committees have complied with
the Old Code and the CG Code provisions and are disclosed on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available
for public inspection at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2012, the Remuneration Committee comprised
five members, four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang
Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) and the remaining one member is a non-
executive Director (Mr. Yu Xubo). The Remuneration Committee is
chaired by Mr. Xie Tao.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments in
their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of the
Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s workload
and required commitment will be taken into account. In addition,
factors comprising economic and market situations, individual
contributions to the Group’s results and development as well
as individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2012. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors and
senior management including terms of letters of appointments;

—  reviewed the remuneration policy and recommended to the
Board; and

— reviewed the proposal of granting of share options
according to the Company’s share option scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2012 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)
FMNAR (AR T)

FHEESREBE_T——F+_-_A=+—HLt
¢F§QTTT REF - NFEER > HFHEBEE =

BT THIBIETIE -

- FEEFRRSREBRENRE

~ REHRBEEERER
ZEEMOHHR

ERBOFM - B
— BRHEMEELAEESREYES R

RATIREREFSRLBRENS
THEESREES -

= A
- Fi&
—
e

EENEREEETH

BE-T-—F1-A=t-ALFES
BB IEARIEIA BT ¢

REE

Number of persons
N -

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-2,000,000

5

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 7 to the
financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2012, the Nomination Committee comprised
five members, four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Liu Fuchun, Mr.
Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) and the remaining one member
is a non-executive Director (Mr. Ning Gaoning). The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Ning Gaoning.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members and makes recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of directors if necessary, in particular, candidates who can add
value to the management through their contributions in the
relevant strategic business areas and which appointments will
result in the constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board.
In the selection process of a candidate to act as a Director, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including,
inter alia, reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience
in the dairy industry, professional and educational background,
and commitment in respect of available time and assesses the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2012 to discuss mainly, the change of the
Board Committees chairman, re-designation of Directors, the new
appointments of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and the resignations of Directors.
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2012, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao
Zhen), Mr. Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Xie Tao) in which
one possesses the relevant professional qualifications required
under the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Xie
Tao.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
internal controls and the auditing. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent
review of financial reporting and by satisfying themselves as to
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and as to the
efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2012. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;

— reviewed external auditors’
management’s response;

management letter and
—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

—  made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

—  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

—  reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,

annual and interim reports, and annual and interim
announcements of the Company;
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— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

—  reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or other
matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit Committee
have been addressed by the senior management. The work and
findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.
During the year, no issues brought to the attention of the senior
management and the Board were of sufficient significance for
disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors
(please refer to the independent auditors’ report set out on pages
81 to 82), the Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group and the Company
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the profit and cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an established and effective
internal control system, to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the interest of shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness
regularly. Aiming at strengthening the risk management culture
of the Group and minimizing the impacts of the major risks on
the business and earnings of the Group, the senior management
of the Group meets to actively evaluate and review the significant
risks to which the Group is exposed and reports to the Board on a
regular basis. The Group also appoints external consultants, when
considered appropriate, to review the Group’s internal control,
working systems and workflows, as well as the management
systems, and to make suggestions on system enhancement.
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Besides strict implementation of a performance assessment system
and training programs for its staff, the Group has in place a series
of written working systems in respect of business, production,
finance, legal compliance and administration aspects, to ensure the
significant risks, to which the Group is exposed, are contained:

—  Control environment — The Group has established defined
organizational structures. Authority to operate various business
functions is delegated to respective management within limits
set by senior management of the headquarters or the executive
Directors. The senior management meets on a regular basis
to discuss and approve business strategies, plans and budgets
prepared by individual business units. The performance of the
Group is reported to the Board on a regular basis.

—  Risk assessment — The Group identifies, assesses and ranks the
risks that are most relevant to the Group’s business according
to their likelihood, financial consequence and reputational
impact on the Group.

—  Control activities — Policies and procedures are set for each business
function, in which approvals, authorization, verification,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and
segregation of duties are included.

— Information and communication — The Group's working
systems document operational procedures of all business units,
as well as authorization and approval procedures for significant
decision making.

—  Monitoring = The Group adopts a control and risk self-
assessment methodology, continuously assessing and
managing its business risks by way of assessment by the
headquarters of the Group and each business unit on a
regular basis, and communication of key control procedures to
employees.
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During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Board had examined
the internal control system and reviewed the evaluation performed
by the Audit Committee, the management and internal and external
auditors, on the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. No significant areas of concern were identified.

The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions and their training programmes and budget and
considered that they are adequate.

External Auditors

The Group's independent external auditors are Ernst & Young. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Committee will,
prior to the execution of contract with external auditors and the
commencement of their duties, consider whether the non-audit
functions will result in any potential material conflict of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year ended
31 December 2012 are as follows:
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Other professional services HEZERK 760 300

4,980 4,440

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and effectiveness
of Ernst & Young and has recommended their reappointment as
the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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Strategy and Development Committee

The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee on 27 August 2009, which currently comprised two
executive Directors, Ms. Sun Yiping and Mr. Wu Jingshui, two non-
executive Directors, Mr. Ma Jianping and Mr. Tim Qrting Jgrgensen
and one independent non-executive Director, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias
Jiao Zhen). The Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by
Mr. Ma Jianping.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments on financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendation on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

The Strategy and Development Committee held one meeting since
1 January 2013 up to the date of this report to discuss mainly the
budget and performance target for 2013.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company
Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well
as communication among Board members, with shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and management. For the year
ended 31 December 2012, the Company Secretary has confirmed
that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

Constitutional Documents
During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standard required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all the directors in the securities of the Company (the
“Model Code"). Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors,
the Company confirms that, during the year ended 31 December
2012, all the Directors have strictly complied with the Model Code.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.
When the Company announces its interim and annual results,
briefings are conducted to apprise investors, analysts and the press
of the Group's operating results as well as business strategies and
outlook. Investor relations website is updated on a timely basis to
ensure that investors are able to have access to the Company’'s
information, latest news and reports.

The AGM of the Company was held on 15 June 2012. Due to
unavoidable business engagements and other commitments
outside of Hong Kong, nine Directors (1 executive Director (also the
Chief Executive Officer), 6 non-executive Directors (including the
Chairman) and 2 independent non-executive Directors) were unable
to attend the AGM. Reasons for their absence were explained to
the shareholders at the AGM.

Six Directors (three executive Directors (including the Chief Financial
Officer) and three independent non-executive Directors (including
the chairman of the Audit Committee)) attended the AGM and they
were available in person for answering questions from shareholders
and investors at the “Questions and Answers” session of the AGM.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the shareholders of the Company. The
circular also included relevant details of proposed resolutions and
biographies of the Directors standing for election.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two or
more shareholders of the Company or any one shareholder of the
Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s))
holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition, to convene an extraordinary general
meeting by depositing the written requisition at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory
Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary, specifying the objects of the
meeting, the name(s) and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and
signed by the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the shareholders of the Company
may contact the Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office
of the Company at Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by email to
info@mengniuir.com. The Company will endeavor to respond
to their queries in a timely manner. Shareholders may also make
enquiries with the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

A shareholder of the Company may, during the period commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of any
general meeting and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting, give a notice in writing to the
Nomination Committee of the Board of his/her intention to propose
any person (other than himself/herself) for election to the office
of a Director and a notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. Such notices shall be
sent to Suite 1602, 16th Floor, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary, specifying the name and contact details of the
shareholder putting forward the proposal for election of Director
and the name and contact details of the person proposed to be
elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for election
as Director, shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.
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Report of the Directors
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The board of directors (the “Directors”) presents its report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal Activities and Analysis of Operations
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group’s main operating subsidiary,
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”), and its subsidiaries are manufacturing and
distribution of dairy products including liquid milk (comprising
UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream and other dairy
products (such as milk powder) in China.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities in
China. An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended
31 December 2012 by business segments is set out in note 3 to the
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 83.

The Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.16 (2011: RMB0.198) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB282,917,000 (2011: RMB349,953,000) in total, to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members on Friday, 14 June
2013.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 12
to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 87 to 88 and note
43 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB8,003,854,000 as at 31 December 2012 (2011:
RMBS8,055,410,000).
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Donations
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately RMB6,046,000 (2011: RMB7,924,000).

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 42 and 45 to the
financial statements.

Directors
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2012 were:

Executive Directors

Ms. SUN Yiping (appointed on 12 April 2012)
Mr. YANG Wenjun (resigned on 30 July 2012)
Mr. BAI Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui
Mr. DING Sheng

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. YU Xubo

Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping

Mr. FANG Fenglei

Mr. MA Wangjun

Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN

(resigned on 30 July 2012)
(resigned on 12 April 2012)
(appointed on 30 July 2012)
Mr. Finn S. HANSEN (appointed on 30 July 2012)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. JIAO Shuge (re-designated to an independent
(alias JIAO Zhen) non-executive director on
12 April 2012)
(re-designated to an independent

non-executive director on
12 April 2012)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. LIU Fuchun
Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya
Mr. XIE Tao
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Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the date
of this report, Ms. Liu Ding was appointed as a non-executive
Director and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director both with effect from 10 January 2013.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Ding Sheng and Mr.
Niu Gensheng will retire by rotation and Mr. Tim @rting Jergensen,
Mr. Finn S. Hansen, Ms. Liu Ding and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan will also
retire in accordance with the Company’s articles of association and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and that a
confirmation of independence has been received from each of
them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 32 to 43.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Directors’ Interests, Long and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance) (the “SFO") as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company/Associated
Corporation:
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o~ FBERDREEET  BEEEIAFE S K
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B i EmAR RIS ATEY)  RE E TR
ANEERETEFRFNZESTH([1ZESFE]])
BARNEARBMEBBMAERZERAT (B
)z AR mT
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Percentage of
the Company'’s/

Associated
Corporation’s
Issued
Share Capital
Company/Name of Total Number of N P )
Name of Director Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares EEE T
=g NE/HEEE AR EmtE ERRAY BREZE D
(Note 1)
(FtEET)
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 603,209 (L) 0.03%
A PA/NE] AR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 448,201 (L) 0.03%
NEELS (EPN
Note: Pt

1. The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2012 was
1,768,232,712.

(L) Indicates a long position.

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options under
the Company’s share option scheme, details of which are set out in
the section “Share Option Scheme” below.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2012, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company whose interests and short positions in
the shares of the Company and of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) are set out above, in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

BREMFIEREN RZE—F+_A=*+—
H ARRASEBERFTBTHRABREZAZHE
ATRARB KA EZE (TR RESLRBE
IEBIEXVER) 2 & fn - RN RERET - #BE
HHBEREREFES MBEIEIIEIS2HERTET
EMEEMA - RBEETRAEMNE A QFM
BT 2 R MR o

FTERRER

R-ZFE-—"F+-_A=+t—8 REEFNIHEE
{GRPIZE336IRREFE 2 BreMprics - TERR
(RARB R EABEE(EE LB 5 MG R
SEXVED) BB T A M fOR B BN EXE
FIMARREREREETHABRINKARER
0 RABRAR D PR SORB LT -

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Issued

Share Capital®
Number of LN
Ordinary Shares ERITRAE

Name of Substantial Shareholder FERRER BB ZEREE BoLE®
COFCO Corporation FREEEFRAT 496,014,022 (L)® 28.05%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited RESE(EH)BRAF 495,614,022 (L)@ 28.03%
Farwill Limited Farwill Limited 495,614,022 (L)® 28.03%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited 347,600,000 (L)@ 19.66%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited COFCO Dairy Investments Limited 347,600,000 (L) 19.66%
Arla Foods Amba Arla Foods Amba 495,614,022 (L)® 28.03%
Morgan Stanley Morgan Stanley 91,000,570 (L) 5.15%
25,162,491 (S) 1.42%
UBS AG UBS AG 99,695,166 (L) 5.64%
5,548,457 (S) 0.31%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 160,884,000 (L) 9.10%
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Notes:

(1

L

COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in (a) 495,614,022 shares
in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited and (b) 400,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 400,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is deemed interested in 495,614,022
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill
Limited.

Farwill Limited is deemed interested in 347,600,000 shares in the
Company through its 70% owned subsidiary, COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited. Farwill Limited is also beneficially interested in 148,014,022
shares in the Company.

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in 347,600,000
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
Dairy Investments Limited.

On 15 June 2012, Arla Foods Amba entered into a shareholders’
agreement in relation to COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited with COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited and COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited, which constitutes an agreement under Section 317 of
the SFO. Accordingly, Arla Foods Amba is deemed interested in
495,614,022 shares in the Company.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2012 was
1,768,232,712.

Indicates a short position.

Indicates a long position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.

1
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Continuing Connected Transactions

On 20 February 2012 the Company entered into a new Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement with COFCO Corporation, a substantial
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 28.05% in the
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and therefore a
connected person of the Company, pursuant to which the Group
will continue to, subject to the Group’s regular review and at
the Group’s option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation, its
subsidiaries and certain associated companies (collectively “COFCO
Corporation Group Companies”) for a term commencing from 20
January 2012 to 31 December 2014.

The transactions under the new Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Group. The annual transaction amount under the new Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2012
and each of the two years ending 2014 was/is not expected to
exceed RMB600,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the COFCO Corporation Group Companies
for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials and
related products was approximately RMB411,311,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions
were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

Connected Transactions

On 8 November 2012, the Company announced that Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary owned as to 93.29% by the
Company, has entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement with
Mr. Yang Wenjun (“Mr. Yang”), a former director and chief
executive officer of the Company and Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
on 8 November 2012, pursuant to which, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
has agreed to sell (the “Disposal”), and Mr. Yang has agreed to
purchase, 32,000,000 ordinary shares in Inner Mongolia Saikexing
Reproductive Biotechnology Co., Ltd (“Saikexing”), a company
incorporated in the PRC which is engaged in the business of
cultivation and sale of cattle embryos, representing approximately
17.78% equity interest in Saikexing, at a cash consideration of
RMB101,760,000, of which RMB50,880,000 has been paid within
30 business days from the date of the Equity Transfer Agreement.
The balance of the consideration has been paid within 10 business
days after all the approvals from the PRC governmental and
regulatory authorities for the Disposal have been obtained. The
Board believes that after the Disposal, the Company’s management
can focus on its principal business. After the Disposal, Saikexing
will cease to be accounted for as associated corporation of the
Company and Inner Mongolia Mengniu will continue to hold a
minority equity interest of approximately 4.14% in Saikexing. By
keeping a minority equity interest in Saikexing, the Company will
continue to gain first hand insight of the dairy industry market
trend, in particular, the new development in cultivation and sale of
cattle embryos which are related to the Group’s core business. The
Disposal has been completed as at the date of this report.

Since Mr. Yang is a former executive Director within the preceding
12 months of the date of the Equity Transfer Agreement and is
therefore a connected person under Rule 14A.11(2) of the Listing
Rules, the entering into of the Equity Transfer Agreement with Mr.
Yang constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Share Option Scheme BB E

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)  ZNA T4y —IEREARRESHEI([51&1)) - E LAY
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible HRNEBXKKINEER S ER2HEEELEEH
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's K#EE o FR -« G EIRERITEZBEBRENT -
operations. The following share options were outstanding under

the Scheme during the year.

As at Exercise Exercise
As at 31 December period of price of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 2012 Date of share options share
Name or Category of 2012 during during during RZE-ZF grantof (both dates inclusive)® options
Participant R-B-—F the year the year® the year +ZH shareoptions BRETESDH BB E
SEER LA AR -A-H FRE ERIER  FREX =t-B RUEBRERS (BEERWR)0 e
HK$
BT
Executive Directors
HIES
Bai Ying 1,840,000 - - - 1,840,000 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
A “EEN\E “2-ZE\AT/\AZE
NR+AR “E-mENATER
3,210,000 - - - 3,210,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 t0 22.11.2015 24.40
“TINF “F—Ft-AZfZRZ
t-A=+=R —F-RF+-A-+zA
3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24.10
“T—F  —I-1§TATHEE
tAtR  —E-\EtAAA
Wu Jingshui 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
REK “EEN\E ZE-ZEN\AT/\AZE
NA+AR “E-mENATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 t0 22.11.2015 24.40
“TINF “F—Ft-A-fZRZ
t—A=+=R —F-RF+-A-tzA
2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24.10
“T—F  —I-1§TATHEE
tAtR  —E-\EtAAA
Ding Sheng 1,150,000 - - - 1,150,000 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
TE “EEN\E Z2-ZE\AT/\AZE
NB+TAR “E-mENATER
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 t0 22.11.2015 24.40

“FEAF CFFt-ACtERE
t-A=+=R —F-RF+-A-tzA

3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t0 9.10.2018 24.10
—T——F “Z-1§tATRE
TA+H —F-\EtANA
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As at Exercise Exercise
As at 31 December period of price of
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 2012 Date of share options share
Name or Category of 2012 during during during RZE--F grantof (both dates inclusive)® options
Participant R-B--F the year the year® the year +ZH8 shareoptions BRETESRH BB E
SEER LR AR -A-H FRR FRER  FREAX =t-B RUEBRERS (BEERWR)O T
HKS
A7
Former Director
HES
Yang Wenjun 9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
X i3 “2-ZEN\AT/\AZE
VR VA= “E-mENATER
6,600,000 - - (2,200,000) 4,400,000 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 t0 22.11.2015 24.40
—EENE 2 By =
T-AZt=R ZZ-hE+-A-tZH
9,000,000 - - (9,000,000) - 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24.10
—E—f —Z-LETATREE
TATH —Z-\E+ANA
Employees in Aggregate 212,108 - (212,108) - - 26.10.2006 26.10.2007 t0 25.10.2012 13.40
BB ZEERE ZERLETACTARE
TAZtRE ZB-Z#1tA-THH
24,780,494 - (579,590) - 24,200,904 18.8.2008 18.8.2010t0 17.8.2014 22.03
3 “2-ZEN\AT\AZE
VR VA= “E-mENATER
61,588,868 - - (4,201,473) 57,387,395 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 t0 22.11.2015 24.40
—EENE 2 By =
T-AZt=R ZZ-hE+-A-tZH
4,370,000 - - (300,000) 4,070,000 6.12.2010 6.12.2012t05.12.2016 22.80
“T-%% e SN E
TZARA “Z-"ETZALA
47,200,000 - - (3,000,000) 44,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018 24.10
—E—f “Z-IETATREE
TATH —Z-\E+ANA
182,151,470 - (791,698)  (18,701,473) 162,658,299
FESRFAEARRR —T——FFR
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Notes:

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfilment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than seven years from
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the Scheme are
set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

(2) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was
HK$23.14.

(3) Mr. Yang Wenjun resigned as executive Director with effect from 30
July 2012.

(4) As at the date of this report, the total number of the Company’s
shares available for issue under the Scheme (excluding the share
options granted but not yet to be exercised) is 67,323,001 shares,
which represented approximately 3.8% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective
nature of and uncertainty related to a number of assumptions of
the expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. Details of the valuation are
set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

Pre-emptive Rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to its existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company'’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Public Float

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.
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Report of the Directors EE&#R &

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest customers
of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total revenue of
the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has pledged certain bank
deposits, bills receivable, land use rights and certain property, plant
and equipment aggregating to approximately RMB347,306,000
(2011: RMB555,103,000). Details are set out in the respective notes
to the financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are set out in
notes 47 and 50, respectively, to the financial statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2012 and for the previous
four financial periods are set out on page 244.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 65.
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Report of the Directors EE&#R &

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2013

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VR R - G

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
%z Kk

Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 243,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report &3 1 Sk ¥} &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

26 March 2013

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE—F

——Ft+ZA=+—BIFE

83

2012 2011
— —T——%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
et ARET T ARKETTT
REVENUE KA 4 36,080,353 37,387,844
Cost of sales B E R (27,025,786) (27,795,692)
GROSS PROFIT EF 9,054,567 9,592,152
Other income and gains E MUY Bz 4 257,054 296,265
Selling and distribution expenses HE MEHE A (6,425,842) (6,694,705)
Administrative expenses THER (1,195,416) (1,110,089)
Other expenses HitnEH 5 (196,046) (187,162)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES #&R&EXEFHE 1,494,317 1,896,461
Interest income B2 U A 218,616 173,052
Finance costs BRE R 8 (41,754) (60,942)
Share of profits and losses of associates — FE{EHE4 A 717 & &8 20 13,855 52,059
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRI A 6 1,685,034 2,060,630
Income tax expense Frigti s 9 (245,476) (276,081)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REFH 1,439,558 1,784,549
Attributable to: AR 77 FEA
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIETZE DN 1,257,148 1,589,274
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R 182,410 195,275
1,439,558 1,784,549
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR RZERESA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EEERER
THE COMPANY (EXPRESSED IN RMB (U ARSTE)
PER SHARE) 11
— Basic — 5K 0.711 0.908
— Diluted — s 0.711 0.905
Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are  ZARFEEN K EZ IR IR E ISR B RE M
disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements. 109 EE -
FPESRFAEERAR T —F5R
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
et EHWER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=-ZT——F+-A=+—HIFE

2012 2011
—E——F —E——%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR¥T T AREFIT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REF)H 1,439,558 1,784,549
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit 2wk
Available-for-sale investments: AHHERE
Changes in fair value AT 22 61,504 (108,536)
Income tax effect TSz 2 22 (10,221) 17,035
51,283 (91,501)
Exchange differences on translation of HMEBINETER
foreign operations M o, Z= 28 474 (196,303)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEH{MW2EUKZS -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MERBE 51,757 (287,804)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FEZHEHKRRAEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1,491,315 1,496,745
Attributable to: AT &7 FEfR -
Owners of the Company RREHER A 1,306,848 1,304,899
Non-controlling interests AR R 184,467 191,846
1,491,315 1,496,745

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e R R

As at 31 December 2012 A =ZE——F+—-/F=+—H

2012 2011
—E——F =5
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR¥T T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKRERE 12 7,891,914 6,806,539
Construction in progress EEZIR 13 596,812 887,103
Land use rights T AR 14 807,443 585,007
Long term prepayments REIFEAR 29 299,947 243,942
Goodwill Bma 15 482,436 482,436
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 16 225,977 224,887
Investments in associates REEE R EIIRE 20 77,921 153,352
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 22 509,788 295,206
Deferred tax assets EEFTISTE E 23 72,093 66,749
Other financial assets HitemEE 24 53,521 69,961
Biological assets EMEE 25 211,686 -
11,229,538 9,815,182
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 22 240,000 -
Inventories 7E 26 1,419,898 1,685,247
Bills receivable TEWER 27 176,386 261,024
Trade receivables TEUEBR =X 28 625,087 574,734
Prepayments and deposits B HEZE 29 949,956 774,907
Other receivables H i e R TE 30 359,877 289,427
Investment deposits WEFR 31 160,000 102,800
Pledged deposits REBEESTER 32 51,602 175,289
Cash and bank balances RE NIRTTETE 32 5,778,390 6,523,075
9,761,196 10,386,503
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables ETERFX 33 2,381,955 2,543,405
Bills payable e 215 34 1,296,910 1,141,141
Deferred income IRE W 2= 40 19,056 18,912
Other payables Hi e FIB 35 1,632,144 1,581,781
Accruals and customers’ deposits ERBREAEFPI S 36 993,460 1,180,720
Interest-bearing bank loans FHERITER 37 573,777 537,544
Other loans HthER 38 24,915 119,094
Income tax payable FER FT1S A 58,426 103,228
6,980,643 7,225,825
NET CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE 2,780,553 3,160,678
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERABASE
LIABILITIES 14,010,091 12,975,860
PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4z & B %Ak 2R

As at 31 December 2012 R =ZE——F+—-/F=+—H

2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
M=t ARET T ARKETTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Long term payables REIFERFUB 39 144,593 188,739
Deferred income R = 40 215,740 234,940
Deferred tax liabilities BLEFSHAE 23 33,051 22,830
Other financial liabilities Hibe@meE 41 544,858 480,531
938,242 927,040
NET ASSETS BEE 13,071,849 12,048,820
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners NATHEE AEGERE
of the Company
Issued capital BEITIRA 42 181,151 181,087
Retained earnings RE A 3,745,840 3,074,337
Other reserves E M 43(A) 8,516,301 8,215,634
12,443,292 11,471,058
Non-controlling interests FEVEAR AR R A 628,557 577,762
TOTAL EQUITY AR 13,071,849 12,048,820
Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
E5E R
Director Director
= 2

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #{Z - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

At 1 January 2011 W-E——%-f—-H 178,679 7,529,169 2,050,216 9,758,064 459,445 10,217,509
Profit for the year REFB - - 1,589,274 1,589,274 195,275 1,784,549
Other comprehensive income EFHpRENE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of available- ~ A/t ERERLME
for-sale investments, netof tax ~ £8) - MBHIE - (88,072) - (88,072) (3,429) (91,501)
Exchange difference on translation #1285 £ 74
of foreign operations ERER - (196,303) - (196,303) - (196,303)
Total comprehensive income ERRENREE
for the year - (284,375) 1,589,274 1,304,899 191,846 1,496,745
Shares issued under equity-settled 18 B IR A E)
share option arrangements BREZHRORE 45 2,408 518,208 - 520,616 - 520616
Equity-settled share option ARG Z 8
arrangements BIRETH 45 - 173,541 - 173,541 - 173,541
Transfer to statutory reserves BEEITRE - 285,920 (285,920) - - -
Final 2010 dividend declared BER-Z-%F
HRRS 10 - - 933 (279.233) - 219233
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [AZEE MRS
shareholders AR S - - - - (51,047) (51,047)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RFRF 46 - - - - 21,635 21,635
Derecognition of puttable IERERALE
non-controlling interests SRR AR R s 41 - (6,829) - (6,829) (44,117) (50,946)
At 31 December 2011 RZB—F
+-A=1+-H 181,087 8,215,634 3,074,337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820

FRESRFAEERAR T FFRHK
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #r& RS BR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE=-ZT——F+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREAAELER
Non-
Issued Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
BRIRA Rftfife  RENE A FERRR L 5

Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Mz ARBTR ARMTZ ARWTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR

Note 43(A)
HiEE43(A)
At 1 January 2012 R-E-—%-F—H 181,087 8,215,634 3,074,337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820
Profit for the year REF|E - - 125748 1257148 182,410 1,439,558
Other comprehensive income FEHMZAENE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of available- ~ A ERA R
for-sale investments, netof tax ) - MBHIE - 49,226 = 49,226 2,057 51,283
Exchange difference on translation ~ #1285 £
of foreign operations ERES = 474 - 474 - 474
Total comprehensive income FEXANGER
for the year - 49,700 1,257,148 1,306,848 184,467 1,491,315
Shares issued under equity-settled  1RiE AR T[40
share option arrangements BRETHETRG 45 64 12,063 - 12,127 - 12,127
Equity-settled share option PRI fT89
arrangements BRERH 45 = 19,172 - 19,172 - 19172
Transfer to statutory reserves ERTLTRE - 235,636 (235,636) = - -
Final 2011 dividend declared BER=Z—F
HRRE 10 - - (350,009) (350,009) - (350,009)
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [FHERRR RS
shareholders - - - - (79,363) (79,363)
Acquisition of non-controlling WEESER R s s
interests - (2,346) - (2,346) (8,367) (10,713)
Derecognition of puttable R\ E IR
non-controlling interests &2 4 - (13,558) - (13,558) (45,942) (59,500)
At 31 December 2012 RIE-ZF
+=A=+-H 181,151 8,516,301 3,745,840 12,443,292 628,557 13,071,849

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE—F

——Ft+ZA=+—BIFE

89

2012 2011
—F—=F —F——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B = AR¥T T AREET T
Cash flows from operating activities REEEXBELNHRLHTE
Profit before tax RN 1,685,034 2,060,630
Adjustments for: T A &IE T
Interest income FLEU A (218,616) (173,052)
Finance costs =Y %N 8 41,754 60,942
Depreciation of items of property, ME - BENBREITE
plant and equipment 6 993,853 839,264
Amortisation of land use rights -+ b {5 PR £ 6 14,863 12,538
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAh A A 6 8,156 11,735
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEME  BER
plant and equipment RAGEEE 5 6,035 8,502
Loss on disposal of biological assets EEAEMEEEE 5 428 -
Share-based payment expense VARG 10 B B e =2 1+t 45 19,172 173,541
Provision for trade receivables and J?EJ%ZBE RN H At FE Uk
other receivables RIEEAE 6 31,198 12,973
Share of profits and losses of ﬁ@(ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁ%@ﬁ%'ﬁfﬂ&
associates R 20 (13,855) (52,059)
Write-down of inventories to net TL%{HI
realisablevalue A& IR H(E 5 2,637 1,522
Government grants BZW%%EJU (103,493) (55,771)
Amortisation of deferred income R FE 8T 2 2 6 4 (19,056) (17,257)
Foreign exchange differences, net ME H ZREHER 5 289 (143,693)
Gain on deemed disposal of BREME — K&
an associate NG e 4 (4,384) (21,566)
Gain on disposal of associates B N A ES 4 (50,635) -
Unrealised fair value losses on derivative §E SISTA SR T A
financial instruments NREEE = 6,731
2,393,380 2,724,980
Decrease/(increase) in HiwsmEERL
other financial assets () 20,974 (26,230)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL(Em) 252,085 (512,744)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEWEES &Jﬁuﬁzmﬁ%i‘j}u (11,728) (272,752)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits RBESETRAD,(3EH0) (11,278) 57,175
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TEIFR ?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁqﬁl
other receivables SRIFIE HN (143,577) (167,288)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and FEN BRI B =R
bills payables S (g hn) (137,781) 252,847
Decrease/(increase) in accruals and TR B R M EMEN
other payables IR A n) (36,288) 706,936
Cash generated from operations WA E LIRS 2,325,787 2,762,924
Interest paid SAFLE (19,183) (46,420)
Income taxes paid SIS (299,708) (196,447)
Net cash flows from REEREEN
operating activities FEHESRE 2,006,896 2,520,057
PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #&&

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HZE= ==

RERER

——Ft+ZA=t+—HIFE

2012 2011
—B-C=F —T——f
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE ARET T ARKETTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEENHRESRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of BEEME - WEREE
property, plant and equipment FriS k18 14,738 12,371
Proceeds from disposal of E%%éﬁ?ﬁﬁ@fk
biological asset 300 -
Purchase of items of property, BEWE - WENREB
plant and equipment (770,678) (586,726)
Purchase of biological assets BEEVMEE (143,893)
Purchase of construction in progress T2 13 (1,189,527) (1,705 881)
Purchase of other intangible assets H b A A E N 16 (3.750) (6,796)
Purchase of land use rights + Hh {55 AR REIE AN (195,146) (94,110)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments EEE Al it HERE (370,258) (106,491)
Disposal of available-for-sale investments Hj%ﬁﬁ/ftﬁj%&ﬁ 400 3,870
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EEF N (5,200) 3,268
Capital injection to associates ‘;TH??J%“&T}E\E = (1,871) (738)
Capital injection to a jointly-controlled H-RAREHEEE
entity = (20,000)
Receipt of government grants WS B & - 20,630
Withdrawal/(purchase) of time deposits IeEl,/(BE)RFHA A
with original maturity of more than =B A LR EHTER
three months (671,297) 759,355
Interest received U B I B, 175,552 167,721
Dividends received from associates L HR B 2 N BB, 22,398 11,163
Dividends received from an ?&Tfﬁtﬂ%&ﬁqﬁﬁiﬁ’ﬂ
available-for-sale investment 4] 153 144
Disposal of associates i ’iﬂﬁ’ﬁ =W 101,810 -
Advances to a jointly-controlled entity B —RAEREHE
IR (135,000) —
Purchase of investment deposits WEFFIE M (2,800,960) (102,800)
Withdrawal of investment deposits W EEEFR 2,743,760 -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W s R IR IR R A 2 (10,713) -
Net cash flows used in investing BRETEMAZREERE
activities (3,239,182) (1,645,020)
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2012 2011
—F—=F —F——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FiEE ARET T ARKETTT
Cash flows from financing activities METHELENEESRE
Proceeds from interest-bearing FTEIRITERATS A
bank loans 549,925 404,186
Repayment of interest-bearing BEFTRBIRTER
bank loans (421,895) (723,682)
Repayment of other loans BEEMER = (2,646)
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged deposits IRITEFNRBESTER
for bank loans w,($8h0) 134,965 (130,065)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company AR BHAE AKIALE 10 (350,009) (279,233)
Dividends paid to non-controlling X ATIEERR AR R AR S
shareholders (71,397) (51,970)
Proceeds from other loans HtwERMEHIE 18,500 42,493
Repayment of long term payables EERAEMNZRIE (53,712) (37,886)
Capital contribution by a joint venture EEeBHIE
partner = 20,000
Shares issued under equity-settled share B4R LARR(D S AHHO BB A
option arrangements ZHREIT D 45 12,127 520,616
Net cash flows from REEEREEN
financing activities FRERE (181,496) (238,187)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeNREEHEY
cash equivalents #m, O ) 58 (1,413,782) 636,850
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNEESRESEEY
beginning of year 32 4,359,872 3,775,255
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  [E&REE)H 2L ((HEE)
net (2,200) (52,233)
Cash and cash equivalents FRNBESRESEEY
at end of year 32 2,943,890 4,359,872
Analysis of balances of cash and RERRESEZEY
cash equivalents e
Cash and bank balances as stated in the RERE B BARR T AT
consolidated statement of financial position BRI e MIBTTETF 32 5,778,390 6,523,075
Time deposits with original maturity more REEAE A=1&H A LAY
than three months EHFR 32 (2,834,500) (2,163,203)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RiFEBRSRERTIIER
in the consolidated statement of MRS RIRSZEY
cash flows 32 2,943,890 4,359,872
PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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Statement of Financial Position

BFFE AR 3R

As at 31 December 2012 R =ZE——F+—-/F=+—H
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2012 2011
—g-- -z~
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR®T T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENRE 12 342 28
Available-for-sale investments fHERE 22 89,642 69,008
Loans to a subsidiary FE—RFAEI A 18 2,657,176 2,656,684
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAIKE 19 5,108,191 5,043,682
7,855,351 7,769,402
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H fth E U R IE 30 802,202 647,991
Cash and bank balances REeMBITET 32 751,922 622,766
1,554,124 1,270,757
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBBE
Other payables H e B 1,629 1,133
Interest-bearing bank loans FTBEIRITE 37 405,425 -
407,054 1,133
NET CURRENT ASSETS EREEE 1,147,070 1,269,624
NET ASSETS BEE 9,002,421 9,039,026
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITARA 42 181,151 181,087
Reserves s 43(B) 8,821,270 8,857,939
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 9,002,421 9,039,026
Ning Gaoning Sun Yiping
EE T B
Director Director
EFE BE



Notes to Financial Statements
B iSRRI EE

2.1

Corporate Information

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the manufacture and distribution of dairy products mainly in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared on a historical
cost basis except for share options, certain available-for-sale
equity investments, biological assets and derivative financial
instruments, which have been measured at fair value. They are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2012. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The result of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the day that such control ceases. All intra-
group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are
eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

2.1

2.2

Basis of Preparation (continueq)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in the consolidated income statement. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate.

Impact of Revised IFRSs
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets

IAS 12 Amendments Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes —

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets

IFRS 7 Amendments

The adoption of the revised IFRSs has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9

[FRS 10

[FRS 11

IFRS 12

[FRS 10, IFRS 11

and IFRS 12
Amendments

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised)
Amendments

IFRS 13

IAS 1 Amendments

IAS 19 Amendments
IAS 27 (Revised)
IAS 28 (Revised)

IAS 32 Amendments

IFRIC 20

Annual
Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards — Government
Loans?

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities?

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and
IFRS 12 — Transition Guidance?

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised) — Investment Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation
of Items of Other Comprehensive
Income’

Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Amendments to IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation
— Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities3

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine?

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued
in May 20122
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective IFRSS (continued) 2.3 © 78 45t 4 R 4 R R B PR B RS R

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

The Group is in the process of determining whether these
new and revised standards and interpretations will have any
material impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are
not classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties
having unilateral control over the economic activity of the
jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's investments in its jointly-controlled entities are
accounted for by the proportionate consolidation method,
which involves recognising its share of the jointly-controlled
entities’ assets, liabilities, income and expenses with similar
items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line
basis. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Jointly-controlled entities (continued)

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments in jointly-
controlled entities are treated as non-current assets and are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’'s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-
current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportional share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at the acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in
the consolidated income statement or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not
within the scope of IAS39, it is measured in accordance with
the appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in the consolidated income
statement as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
consolidated income statement in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the consolidated income statement in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E A S BEBE @)

(continued)
Related parties BB AL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: — R R EAREE A B
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s @ RARZBATHREMATHERI
family and that person B m&ZBAT
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () FEHlsEREHIAEE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAREBEMMEAZE 5§
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEEFAEEF AR FTEEE
the Group or of a parent of the Group; ANEHWRKE
or B
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) %A BFEE TIMERIGHAERE

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZELOAEEBR-—SEMNXE
group; AT

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) —HERBAS —BEMEBZ ARk
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow EETE(HEZ—BEENTRA] -
subsidiary of the other entity); TARKRARFRARZET) :

(iiiy the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBEERAEEHAR—F=FH
same third party; aEPE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy — AEBERBAFEF=ZFEENEZED
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ ME—EBAZE=-FTEEN

/NG|

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the ) ZEBRBEREENGE - Ztdl
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity M A AAEE s EAE B S
related to the Group; NEEES

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEREM(a)IEATM A TIEHIEK
person identified in (a); and 7 R

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (viiy R@)()VBEFTIt A THZEEAEEK
influence over the entity or is a member of the key FEYIBZER(ZEBNEA
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent ET)IE%ETEE/\E\E’\]EJZE\ °

of the entity).

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and structures 20 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated income statement
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents plants and properties
under construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing
use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.
All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and
fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life
is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired separately are measured at cost.
Trademarks acquired as part of a business combination are
valued at fair value based on the royalty relief method.

Trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually.

Computer softwares

Acquired computer softwares are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated income
statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the consolidated income statement so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the consolidated income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
consolidated income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating lease are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised as an expense in
the consolidated income statement on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms of 50 years.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale investments, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate. The Group determines the classifications
of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the consolidated income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at their initial recognition
date and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets held for trading to
determine whether the intention to sell them in the near term
is still appropriate. When in rare circumstances the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intention to sell them in the foreseeable
future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
them. The reclassification from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-
sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends
on the nature of the asset. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation, as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated at fair value though profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and
receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
interest income in the consolidated income statement. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in the consolidated
income statement in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
and loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement in
other income and gains, or until the investment is determined
to be impaired when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the consolidated income statement in other expenses.
Interest and dividends earned while holding the available-for-
sale investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as “Other income and gains” in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until
the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to the consolidated income statement
over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost
and the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is
subsequently determined to the impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E XS BEBE @)

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Interest income continues to
be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of the
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the consolidated
income statement, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} #53R =R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated income statement — is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the consolidated income statement. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount
recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as
the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the consolidated income statement. Future
interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced
carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is
recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the consolidated income
statement if the increase in fair value of the instruments can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E A S BEBE @)

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, financial guarantee contracts, interest-bearing
bank loans, other loans, and other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognized in the consolidated income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} #53R =R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is
no active market, fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing
model.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
certain business risks. Such derivative financial instruments
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial
assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative under IAS 39 are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as cost of sales. Commodity
contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the
purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage
requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income
statement, except for the effective portion of cash flow
hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows):

e Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the reporting date,
the derivative is classified as non-current (or separated
into current and non-current portions) consistent with the
classification of the underlying item.

e Embedded derivates that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistent with the cash flows
of the host contract.

. Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item.
The derivative instruments are separated into a current
portions and non-current portions only if a reliable
allocation can be made.

Biological assets

Dairy cows

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
are measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding finance costs
and income taxes. The fair value of dairy cows is determined
based on its present location and condition and is determined
independently by a professional valuer.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the
depreciation charge, utilities cost and consumables incurred
for the raising of heifers and calves are capitalised, until such
time as the heifers and calves begin to produce milk.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E XS BEBE @)

(continued)
Agricultural produce BEm
Milk + 13

Agricultural produce represents milk. Milk is recognised at the
point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. The fair value
of milk is determined based on market prices in the local area.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location
and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials - cost on a weighted average basis;

Finished goods - cost of direct materials and labour and a
proportion of manufacturing overheads
based on the normal operating capacity
but excluding borrowing costs on a
weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provisions is recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated income
statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into considerations
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method on
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of the reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Government grants

Grants relating to biological assets

An unconditional government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the
consolidated income statement when, and only when, the
government grant becomes receivable. If a government grant
related to a biological asset measured at its fair value less costs
to sell is conditional, the Group recognises the government
grant in the consolidated income statement when, and only
when, the conditions attaching to the government grant are
met.

Other grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the consolidated
income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the consolidated
income statement by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E A S BEBE @)

(continued)

Government grants (continued)

Other grants (continued)

Where the Group receives a non-monetary grant, the asset and
the grant are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
asset and released to the consolidated income statement over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans
and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant
and released to the consolidated income statement over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold.

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
the payment has been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements B} #53R =R KiEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of
China except for Hong Kong (“Mainland China”) participate
in a central defined contribution retirement benefit plan
managed by the local municipal government in the locations
in which they operate. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the companies’ payroll costs and are charged to
the consolidated income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

The Company also participates in the defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for the its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the consolidated income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 45 to the financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 E A S BEBE @)

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions
at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the consolidated income statement for the period represents
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense if the terms had
not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met.
An additional expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare
for their intended use, are capitalised as a part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained earnings within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends are approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
directly as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. The Company, established in the Cayman
Islands, uses the Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency
and the subsidiaries, established in the PRC, use the Renminbi
("RMB") as their functional currency. As the Group mainly
operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or the consolidated income statement is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or the consolidated income
statement, respectively).

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of companies
whose functional currency differs from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated
at the weighted average exchange rates for the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.5

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or on whether certain companies of
the Group is determined to be a Chinese resident enterprise by
the PRC governing tax authorities in the future. Management
considered that it is not probable that the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries will distribute profits earned on or after 1 January
2008 till the end of 2012 in the foreseeable future, and
accordingly no additional provision for withholding tax was
made in 2012. Where the final outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts originally rewarded, the difference
will impact the deferred tax provision in the period in which
the differences realise.
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2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and 2.5 EASH HE R i@

Estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Operating lease commitments - group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
of its ranch facilities comprising of plant and machinery
included in the property, plant and equipment account. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties
which are leased out on operating leases.

Operating lease commitments — group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain
machinery. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it does
not bear all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
these machinery and accounts for the contracts as operating
leases.

Classification between investment properties and own-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and

EStImates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Details
of goodwill are given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwiill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs to sell is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and

Estimates (continueq)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits, which affects the probability of utilisation and
the tax rate to be used in the calculations. Details of deferred
tax assets are contained in note 23 to the financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value
is determined using valuation techniques including the
discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs
such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired. In
the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. The
determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates,
among other factors, historical share price movements and the
duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is
less than its cost.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and

EStImates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continueq)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based
on the credit history of its customers and other debtors and
the current market condition. Management reassesses the
provisions at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of contingent considerations

Contingent considerations, resulting from business
combinations, are valued at fair value at the acquisition date
as part of the business combinations. Where the contingent
consideration meets the definition of a derivative and thus, a
financial liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is
based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions take into
consideration the probability of meeting each performance
target and the discount factors.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate valuation
model for a grant of equity instruments, which is dependent
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the expected life of the option, volatility
and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The
assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 45 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

2.5 Significant Accounting Judgements and

Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges
where useful lives are different to those previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives; actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the
future periods.

Fair value of dairy cows

The Group’s dairy cows are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value of dairy cows is determined based on
either the market-determined prices as at the end of the
reporting period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected yield of the
milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of
growth of the dairy cows; or the present value of expected
net cash flows from the dairy cows discounted at a current
market-determined rate, when market-determined prices
are unavailable; or the cost when appropriate. Any change
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the dairy cows
significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in the fair value
of dairy cows. Details of assumptions used are disclosed in
note 25.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #53R &R KiE:

Operating Segment Information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

e Liquid milk products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ultra-high temperature milk (“UHT milk"”),
milk beverages and yogurt;

e |ce cream products segment — manufacture and
distribution of ice cream; and

e Other dairy products segment — mainly manufacture and
distribution of milk powder.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that interest
income, finance costs, dividend income, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3R & KHizT

3. Operating Segment Information (ontinuea)

Year ended 31 December 2012

3. 4

Lo ER @
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BE_T——F+-_A=+—HIEE

Liquid milk Ice cream  Other dairy
products products products Total
RENER AERER HtIlEm s
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%STn AR%TR AR®BTR AR¥Tx
Segment revenue: DEBA
Sales to external customers HETFINIEP 32,336,980 3,171,482 571,891 36,080,353
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 245,591 27,153 223,935 496,679
32,582,571 3,198,635 795,826 36,577,032
Reconciliation: PR
Elimination of intersegment sales %44 2B L& (496,679)
Revenue A 36,080,353
Segment results DEELE 1,830,740 39,048 (144,035) 1,725,753
Reconciliation: PR
Interest income M EUWA 218,616
Finance costs BB R (41,754)
Share of profits and losses of FER B & R A FIE
associates N EsiE 13,855
Unallocated corporate expenses A E#AE S (231,436)
Profit before tax T AIF)E 1,685,034
Income tax expense Fr{S Bz (245,476)
Profit for the year A RE 1,439,558
Segment assets PEEE 16,458,513 1,405,014 599,990 18,463,517
Reconciliation: R
Elimination of intersegment H3H 7 HP
receivables FEU IR (5,392,320)
Unallocated corporate assets IREORAIERE 7,919,537
Total assets REE 20,990,734
Segment liabilities PHEE 10,988,647 816,066 675,978 12,480,691
Reconciliation: RS
Elimination of intersegment HH o HP
payables B FIE (5,392,320)
Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ TAEH AR EE 830,514
Total liabilities FEy=Fr-} 7,918,885
PRESEUAXAERAT —T——FERH
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizT

3. Operating Segment Information (ontinuea) 3. REFTHER @)
Year ended 31 December 2012 HE_ZT——H+-_A=1T—HLFE
Liquid milk Ice cream  Other dairy
products products products Total
RENER KEHRER HtIlEm et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%BTR AR®BTRT AR®ETx
Other segment information: HitpZmas .
Depreciation and amortisation e M 851,104 90,441 27,085 968,630
Unallocated amounts RoEpFRIAE 48,242
Total depreciation and FEREHBTE
amortisation 1,016,872
Capital expenditure BARFEL 1,819,585 334,865 8,789 2,163,239
Unallocated amounts TR 103,291
Total capital expenditure BEARY B8 2,266,530
Impairment losses recognised RERE FIERERH
in the consolidated income REEE
statement 31,396 418 2,021 33,835
Other non-cash expenses Hih3ER e 21,273 3,277 (380) 24,170
Unallocated amounts T EpFIAE (4,998)
Total non-cash expenses R HERE 53,007
Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *  BARXBEABEVE  BEISRE T2

IR EEE THERE EMEER
WiEH S R R RRESHEE -

equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land
use rights, biological assets, and assets from the acquisition of
associates and subsidiaries.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizT

3. Operating Segment Information (ontinuea)

Year ended 31 December 2011

3. BKEQIER @)
HE-T —Ft+-A=t—BLFE
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Liquid milk Ice cream  Other dairy
products products products Total
RETER KEKER HOIEH et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue: ZEUYA -
Sales to external customers HE TINERE 33,701,215 3,258,602 428,027 37,387,844
Intersegment sales DERHEE 185,099 17,057 89,761 291,917
33,886,314 3,275,659 517,788 37,679,761
Reconciliation: FEE
Elimination of intersegment sales %44 2B L& (291,917)
Revenue WA 37,387,844
Segment results DEELE 2,026,108 31,181 (21,188) 2,036,101
Reconciliation: FEE
Interest income M EMWA 173,052
Finance costs BhE R (60,942)
Share of profits and losses of FERE & R A FIE
associates K Eia 52,059
Unallocated corporate expenses A E#AE S (139,640)
Profit before tax AR E 2,060,630
Income tax expense FTis R h (276,081)
Profit for the year AL RE 1,784,549
Segment assets DBEE 14,940,212 1,613,604 343,248 16,897,064
Reconciliation: FEE
Elimination of intersegment ¥T5H 0 FB ) B W FUR
receivables (4,756,443)
Unallocated corporate assets R0 UNCTE= =S 8,061,064
Total assets BEE 20,201,685
Segment liabilities PHEE 10,814,233 1,016,822 261,879 12,092,934
Reconciliation: RS
Elimination of intersegment ¥T5H D S FE (T 5UR
payables (4,756,443)
Unallocated corporate liabilities R OUNCTR=R 816,374
Total liabilities FEN=RE 8,152,865
PERFIEARAR —TE——FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizT

3. Operating Segment Information (ontinuea)

Year ended 31 December 2011 HEZZT——F+-A=1+—HILFE
Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy
products products products Total
REDER  KEKER E4AEH BEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBFT ARETT ARETR
Other segment information: HitpZmas :
Depreciation and amortisation Tﬁ%&}%ﬁéﬁ 706,532 85,752 23,113 815,397
Unallocated amounts EVaNziEN 48,140
Total depreciation and WEREHESE
amortisation 863,537
Capital expenditure BARAT 2,393,609 230,444 7,260 2,631,313
Unallocated amounts D EB T8 64,951
Total capital expenditure BARF Y 5 2,696,264*
Impairment losses recognised Rz e M ERERS
in the consolidated income REEE
statement 1,868 12,596 31 14,495
Other non-cash expenses ﬁ{makiﬁéiﬁj 66,420 6,357 652 73,429
Unallocated amounts R 100,112
Total non-cash expenses FIRe Y HiEsE 188,036

Geographical information
a.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment, construction in progress, intangible assets, land
use rights, and assets from the acquisition of associates and

subsidiaries.

Revenue from external customers
Over 90% of the revenue is contributed by customers in

Mainland China.

Non-current assets

BARSBIEAEYME  BERRE T2
TR -\EEE  LTiEAERKERER
AMTFRARESHEE -

hEER
REIIFEFE WA
90% JA = HI U A B B i 7 B A e e 2

a.

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located

in Mainland China.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizT

4. Revenue, Other Income and Gains

WA~ B AR K s
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Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods
returns and trade discounts, and after eliminations of all
significant intra-group transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as

WARAKEMERTE  HEELARME
FRE - BMREE
SENFABERRBZEARZRAISHEEE -

B - AREH

REFHWA - B ARBE TN

follows:
2012 2011
—B-=fF —E——fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BaE ARET T ARETTT
Revenue: L ONE
Sale of goods EmiEE 36,080,353 37,387,844
Other income and gains: Ha g A Rz
Government grants related to BT B &

— Biological assets —EAYEERR (a) 7,000 -
— Other assets —HEMEERR (b) 19,056 17,257
— Income — B AE (© 136,544 59,488

Gain on deemed disposal of REMEE K&
an associate NI 4,384 21,566
Gain on disposal of associates HERE AT 50,635 -
Foreign exchange gains, net PE H W F 58 = 143,693
Others EAth 39,435 54,261
257,054 296,265
36,337,407 37,684,109

Notes: B3 -

(a)

These government grants are unconditional government subsidies
paid in the form of cash by relevant government agencies for the
purpose of supporting the Group to purchase dairy cows.

The Group has received certain government grants in the form
of property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations
to purchase items of property, plant and equipment. The grants
are initially recorded as deferred income and amortised to match
the depreciation charge of the underlying property, plant and
equipment in accordance with the assets’ estimated useful lives
(note 40).

The government grants in the form of cash donations have been
received for the Group’s contribution to the development of the
local dairy products industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies attaching to these grants.

(a)

ZEBUT B E AA IR HEIAR
AVERGRIET R - U ASEBEAL -

BT LA ~ S M ER (5 R A 3R 2 R BAUA
BENE BEMXBIX  RAAKERT
T B o Z BB V16 1R BIEE W
& WRREER G AR A FHEE - A
EB%’HHE@%% - RS B AR e O B R B 2 (Bt ot
40) °

AEEAHEMAMRITENEREME
B MERSBERMEANBR#NE - %%
B & I MM B E R AR ER A R SR E
i

PESREUAXERAT —T——FE5H
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & Kizt

5. Other Expenses 5. Hitt&H
2012 2011
—8-—=%f —z——4%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHET T ARBT T
Write-off of inventories WHEFE 4,828 6,258
Write-down of inventories to net GEMRETZEFE
realisable value 2,637 1,522
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREME  BEX
plant and equipment RAEEE 6,035 8,502
Loss on disposal of biological assets REXMEERE 428 -
Donations B H 6,046 7,924
Provision for trade receivables and JRE LS BR 3R K A Uik
other receivables SRIR R 31,198 12,973
Educational surcharges and city A B W AN T AR
construction tax R 134,944 143,005
Foreign exchange losss, net b 5 S i85 5 289 -
Others i 9,641 6,978
196,046 187,162
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3R & KHizT

6. BiaiFE
REBMMBAFEEMR T RERTE

6. Profit Before Tax

The Group'’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

Firi% -
2012 2011
—F—=F —F—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Cost of inventories sold HEGF SN 27,024,074 27,788,961
Realised and unrealised fair value losses of BERAERITAESRTA
derivative financial instruments, net (a) AR EEEFE () 1,712 6,731
Cost of sales iy DN 27,025,786 27,795,692
Employee benefit expense (excluding EE®MEBRCIREWNET
directors’ and chief executive’s FrI B ESEREEITH
remuneration as disclosed in note 7) ANEF)
— Wages, salaries, housing benefits and I8 %H4e FEEMNE
other allowances H bz 1,738,773 1,471,455
— Retirement benefit contributions —iRRIE R TR 174,963 137,049
— Share-based payment expense — DARR D AR S
(note 45) (FMt5E45) 16,508 136,620
1,930,244 1,745,124
Depreciation of items of property, Y - BEREHETE
plant and equipment 993,853 839,264
Amortisation of land use rights + Hb {5 PR R B 14,863 12,538
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b A i 8,156 11,735
Research and development costs BFEMEREER
— current year expenditure 55,401 54,787
Provision for trade receivables and JEUBR A S EAth
other receivables FEUMGRIE R 1 31,198 12,973
Minimum lease payments under BENETHERED
operating leases on buildings and KEHEREES
certain production equipment 212,739 153,082
Display space leasing fees FRE =M E S 590,251 593,090
Auditors’ remuneration ZER B S 4,220 4,140
(@) Since 2011, the Group has entered into various commodity (@ AEEBE_ZT——FRIZZMHEMHAES

W LEBEBZRBEEARTEYNERR
R o FRFFAZEFBEROTESHIAER
AREBERFEAEARK1,712,000C(=F
——4& : AR¥6,731,0007T) °

futures contracts to manage its price exposure to future
purchases of white sugar. A net fair value loss on derivative
financial instruments of RMB1,712,000 (2011: RMB6,731,000)
was charged to the consolidated income statement.

PRESEUAXAERAT —T——FERH
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & Kizt

7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

EERTETHAEHMH
BEEEMAEXSMERDAES LM
(T EmRA) REBR T G161 ERE
MAFEEEREETRABHMAT ;

2012 2011
—g--5 -~
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBTT

Fees we 1,062 1,010
Other emoluments H b B &
— Basic salaries, housing benefits, other —BEAXHE - FEEF -
allowances and benefits in kind Hi 2B R BRI 8,887 7,224
— Retirement benefit contributions — BRI A X 334 249
10,283 8,483
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Notes to Financial Statements BA#&3R s+

7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 7. EERFTETHRASEFM 4

(continued)

2012 —2-CF
Executive directors HTESE
- Ms. Sun Yiping —FFERt (a) 20 2,064 50 2,134
- Mr. Yang Wenjun - BXREE @ 17 1,375 46 1,438
— Mr. Wu Jingshui -25KEE 30 1,062 46 1,138
- Mr. Bai Ying —-ABEE 30 2,181 73 2,284
—Mr. Ding Sheng -TERE 30 1,845 73 1,948
Non-executive directors FHTES
~ Mr. Ning Gaoning -EgBts 100 - - 100
- Mr. Yu Xubo - FRELE 100 - - 100
— Mr. Niu Gensheng ~HRERE 100 360 46 506
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BEILE 100 - - 100
- Mr. Fang Fenglei - HRELE (@) 58 - - 58
- Mr. Ma Wangjun -BEFE44L () 33 - - 33
- Mr. Tim @rting Jrgensen —Tim @rting
Jorgensent & (@) L'y) - - 4
~Mr. Finn S. Hansen —Finn S. Hansen%t 4 (@) 4 - - LY}
Independent non-executive BUEHTESE
directors
— Mr. Jiao Shuge -EBEARLE (b) = - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul
Wolhardt#: & (b) = = = =
— Mr. Zhang Xiaoya - REDEE 120 - - 120
— Mr. Liu Fuchun -8B 120 - - 120
~ Mr. Xie Tao —WELE (a) 120 - - 120
1,062 8,887 334 10,283

FERFAEARAR —T——FFR



Notes to Financial Statements B3R <=+

7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration

(continued)

7. EERFETHAEFMH @

2011 %
Executive directors HTES
- Mr. Yang Wenjun - HBXREE (a) 30 2,425 43 2,498
- Mr. Wu Jingshui Y bt 30 1,069 43 1,142
- Mr. Bai Ying -ABEE 30 2,108 53 2,191
~Mr. Ding Sheng -TEBEE 30 1,185 67 1,282
Non-executive directors FNTES
- Mr. Ning Gaoning -EgBhs 100 - - 100
— Mr. Niu Gensheng —4RERE 30 437 43 510
- Mr. Jiao Shuge - EEEEE (b) - - - -
- Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt —Julian Juul
Wolhardtst 4 (b) - - - -
- Mr. Yu Xubo - Tk EsE 100 - - 100
- Mr. Ma Jianping -BRTEE 100 - - 100
- Mr. Fang Fenglei -FREEE (a) 100 - - 100
- Mr. Ma Wangjun -BETEEE (a) 100 - - 100
Independent non-executive directors BV IFHITES
- Mr. Zhang Julin —-REMEE (@) 50 - - 50
- Mr. Zhang Xiaoya —REDEE 120 - - 120
- Mr. Liu Fuchun -8RERE 120 - - 120
- Mr. Xie Tao —HWELE (@) 70 - - 70
1,010 7,224 249 8,483
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7. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 7. EERTETHAEHFM @)

(continued)

Notes: (TE

Mr. Zhang Julin and Mr. Ma Wangjun resigned as directors on
10 June 2011 and 12 April 2012, respectively. Mr. Yang Wenjun
and Mr. Fang Fenglei resigned as directors on 30 July 2012.
Mr. Xie Tao and Ms. Sun Yiping were appointed as directors on
10 June 2011 and 12 April 2012, respectively. Mr. Tim Jrting
Jgrgensen and Mr. Finn S. Hansen were appointed as directors
on 30 July 2012.

During 2012, the two directors agreed to waive their
entitlements to directors’ fees totalling RMB230,000 (2011:
RMB200,000) for the year. Other than the aforementioned, there
was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options
in respect of their services to the Group under the share option
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in
note 45 to the financial statements. In accordance with IFRS 2,
share option benefits represent the fair value at the grant date of
the share options issued under the share option scheme of the
Company amortised to the consolidated income statement during
the year disregarding whether the options have been vested/
exercised or not. During the year, the share option benefits
relating to the share options granted to Mr. Wu Jingshui, Mr. Bai
Ying and Mr. Ding Sheng were approximately RMB2,787,000
(2011:RMB4,298,000), RMB3,035,000 (2011: RMB8&,448,000)
and RMB3,832,000 (2011: RMB5,223,000), respectively. In
addition, there was a reversal of share-based payment expenses
of RMB6,990,000 relating to the share options granted to Mr.
Yang Wenjun in prior years but lapsed in the current year as a
result of his resignation in July 2012 (2011: expenses charged
in the consolidated income statement: RMB18,952,000). Share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to the
directors are not included in the above analysis.

REMEEREETERENFIR T ——F
AATEER-_Z-—_FNA+_HHEE
= BXREERTRAEEEN-_T——F
T A=THEMEESE - HEEEERERFEL
TR ZE——FRATERZZT—Z
FMAT-—BEZEARES ° Tim Jrting
Jorgensent 4 K Finn S. Hansen%t £ =T
——FLtA=tHEZTAES -

RIZE——FE MUEERENEHES
e 2EAEHARE230,000T(ZF——
F : AR®200,0007T) ° BRATILE SN @ ARE
JE 3 4 A7) 78 B 2 =5 R EE 5k R B B 1 1A B
THZHE -

FR - ETEEREUAEBORBEERR
AR RS IR AT Bl R L B (BB
RIS RRMITE45) - 1B IR BIR B 75 3R 45 %
BIZE25% - BERRAERR AR A A A BB ERT
S THEREANREBHNARE  F
RERGERBERATIAESE  MTHEZE
BRESSCRB TE - TR BERT
REKEE  ABREERTEREEREN
BT D R4 B AR ?2,787,0007T (=
T——fF: AR¥4,298,0007T) - AR#
3,035,000t (= Z——4 : ARS8, 448,000
7o) M ARME3,832,000t(=ZFE——4F : A
R #5,223,0007T) ° ko ARG XE L
ERZZ——FLRAFHH AURBAEFE
) H 35 B R 2N 4F 5 5K 4K A B A A B [ A
B 1D B E AR AR #6,990,000T (=
T——F: BRAFBERIBRERARYE
18,952,0007T) o it 4TI B 35 A B 1A%
LTEERHBRENERERT -

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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7.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration
(continued)

Four (2011: four) of the five highest paid individuals were
directors whose emoluments have been shown above. Details
of emoluments paid to the remaining one (2011: one) non-
director, highest paid individual, who is a senior executive, for
the year was as follows:

7.

BEERFTETHAETMN @

IfuGsSHFALEEOMG(ZT——F : 1
f)EE FRRENHSER DN LXK
B AFEXNTHBRA(ZT—F: —
f)FEF  EeFaBRiTBRAENHES W
T~

2012 2011
—E-—F —F—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Basic salaries, housing benefits, other EXEFS - EEEH - Hib
allowances and benefits in kind R R EYFIE 1,788 1,715
Retirement scheme contributions RURREFIET B 73 67
1,861 1,782
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose BEP AL AN S HIEESREENI
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: Ba0F :
Number of employees
EE"A
2012 2011
—E-CF b
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T2
2,500,0007% 7T 1 1
1 1

During the year, share options were granted to one (2011:
one) non-director, highest paid employee in respect of her
services to the Group, further details of which are set out
in note 45 to the financial statements. During the year, the
share option benefits relating to the share options granted to
the non-director, highest paid employee was approximately
RMB1,942,000 (2011: RMB2,319,000) in aggregate. The share
option benefits relating to the share options granted to this
non-director, highest paid employee is not included in the
above analysis.
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FR —R(ZE2E—F: —R)BaHIHIE
EREEREEAEBMNREERBERE(GH
HBEMSREANFASHIEE) - FRN B
rZzima e SEERLBRENE
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8. Finance Costs 8. MERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BER AR DT -
2012 2011
—E-CF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Interest on long term payables REAFE I RIEF & 15,913 9,846
Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFAZEEENRIT
repayable within five years BERFLE 21,014 46,540
Increase in discounted amounts of R B s V78 24 T 28 hn sk AR (B
contingent consideration arising HATIRIRE
from the passage of time 4,827 4,556
41,754 60,942

Income Tax Expense

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
The tax charge represents the provision for the PRC corporate
income tax (“CIT") and deferred tax for the year.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Corporate
Income Tax (“PRC CIT law"), except for certain preferential
treatment available to eighteen (2011: sixteen) of the Group’s
subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity, the entities within
the Group are subject to CIT at a rate of 25% (2011: 25%)
on the taxable income as reported in their statutory accounts
which are prepared in accordance with the PRC accounting
standards and financial regulations.

FRrEBi
AEBEAFEYEEFTBELTMERN
B - MEFHRBR AN SN EE - BIASH
BEAFRFTRENTEEEMEHR([REAR
B MRS TEHE o

BREBPEARKNBCERETOE([HEE
EMBEE]D BRTAKE+N\B(ZF——
FooAREDFRAIR-—HAREZEHERE
BETREESRIN AEEETHEEER
HXERBAZHRERBANBILR25%(=F
——F :25%) ZRERMBEMBHR &
ERRE RRRHEEHEARATERRER -

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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9. Income Tax EXpense (ontinued) 9. FISHixHum
2012 2011
—E—_—F —_F—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETT
Current income tax BIHAFR 18 5
Current income tax charge BIHAFT IS RS2 255,739 260,330
Adjustments recognised in the year for FARTFEEHAEH
current tax of prior years R TR (4,919) 1,440
Deferred income tax EEFTEH
Relating to origination and reversal of tax BEANEEELEREER
losses and temporary differences (note 23)  HYEA & EI1#E (H5523) (5.344) 14,311
245,476 276,081
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit EFEEAN - BBAIA B EERBEH R
before tax at the statutory income tax rate to the income tax HHOMERI L - BERRAEEERMER
expense at the Group's effective income tax rate for the year is MEGFEHMEH L - FAHAT -
as follows:
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BiE ARBT T ARKET T
Profit before tax AT E 1,685,034 2,060,630
At CIT rate of 25% (2011: 25%) 1225%(—F——%F : 25%)
LEMBHRREHE 421,259 515,157
Non-deductible items and others, net  A[EFIFIAIE B R E b (F58) 4,645 17,352
Adjustment recognised in the year for  ERFEAHEE HAEHERN
current tax of prior years HE (4,919) 1,440
Effect of preferential tax rates EBERENFE (a) (65,011) (102,931)
Effect of tax exemptions RERENTE (a) (124,537) (132,691)
Tax losses not recognised RERBKIEE 34,821 13,566
Utilisation of previously unrecognised {4 R AR FEE R
tax credits (20,782) (35,812)
At the effective income tax rate of 1Z14.6%(ZF——F :13.4%)
14.6% (2011: 13.4%) ERMERBEAE 245,476 276,081
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9. Income Tax Expense (ontinued)
Notes:

(a)

Eighteen (2011: sixteen) subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled
entity were subject to tax concessions in 2012. The total
taxable profits of the subsidiaries that are subject to tax
concessions amounted to approximately RMB723,966,000
(2011: RMB541,960,000) in aggregate. Out of the eighteen
subsidiaries, nine (2011: six) were granted tax concessions by
the state tax bureau in accordance with the PRC CIT law and
the corresponding transitional tax concession policy and “The
notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of the
western China development strategy”. Fifteen (2011: thirteen)
subsidiaries were granted tax concessions in accordance with the
policy of “The notice of preferential tax policy for preliminary
processing of agriculture products”.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
approximately RMB8,613,000 (2011: RMB17,447,000) is
included in the share of profits and losses of associates on the
face of the consolidated income statement.

10. Dividends
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9. FIfBH XXt @)
B3 -

(a)

RZB——F T A\B(ZE——F : T
B FRARER—EHEEIEHEEEZHBER
% o REEB R LK TR A K FE R A E
EREATHARYT23,966,0000( —F——
F : AR%541,960,0007T) ° +/\[EF2a]
FoBARE(ZZE——F : ~H) FTARER
RIUIEBE T HORIE R E AR R EMEE
% BETRERREBCR R(ERFAERE
7030 A 5 25 B A A5 R B IR R B O3 AN DY
BREE - +HEB(ZE—%F : +=/[)F
REINT B R E AR BE M Z RS
BREICRMEERVIMNIEE(HT)/EA)
RIBUR AR ©

B4 2 A BUE K0 B A R #8,613,000 7T
(ZT——4 : AR™¥17,447,0007T) * B&t
AR PR AR 4 A R FB RSIRR -

10. BE

2012 2011
—E——fF —T——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ks AR®TT ARKETTT
Declared and paid during the year — ZKNF/Z 5N LT
Equity dividends on ordinary shares & 3@A% A% B, 350,009 279,233
Proposed for approval at B2 R RATF
the AGM AEH
Equity dividends on ordinary shares: i@ S :
Proposed final - RMBO0.16 BRI S — Tk
(2011: 0.198) per ordinary share ~ E@RARK0.167T
—EFE——F :0.1987T) (a)(b) 282,917 349,953
Notes: itz -
a. The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the a. BRFEARRESAEBARNARNRREER

approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM"). This dividend was not
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements as
at 31 December 2012 but was reflected as an appropriation of
retained earnings for the year ending 31 December 2013.

The proposed final dividend for the year is appropriated from the
undistributed profit earned before 1 January 2008.

BEAFAS([REBFEAS DIE - ZF
BRETRE—ZT——F+=-_A=+—HHELK
AU EREAERAEE  BEERBRAEZE
T—=F+_A=+—RHIFENRBFHE
D °

REFEHRREE-_ZZNFE—A—BA
PREERSHIR 3 BRI A B o

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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11. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Company
The basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by
dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The diluted earnings per share was calculated by dividing the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during that year, as used in the basic earnings
per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options
during the year pursuant to the contingent ordinary share
provision in IAS 33 Earnings per Share.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used
in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share amount is

11.ﬂiﬁﬁfﬂ%gﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ$§,kﬂﬁ4£E@ﬁaﬂﬁ

AF
REEOGRERBF HRBF AR E
SRR A BB R A NE BT B
BT BE B -

BRESARNRBEFARRAEBERES
ARG FIERR AR ERt E S REAR BT AR
REFERC ETERRINEF AL KRR
NATBBRRETE LR EBR S EASE
335R[ & F | R BB B R ERE
BT EBRINETFOEEE -

S E SRR N 5 2 A I P A AN T ik
BB FEIT

as follows:
2012 2011
—E——F T
Number of Number of
shares shares
ROEE aard=
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Weighted average number of STEGRERBFETAH
ordinary shares for the purpose of TR NN T8
the basic earnings per share calculation 1,767,801 1,750,820
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, 5% 4 A Ffi A BE AR REJETT(
assuming issued at no consideration on WiEREERT 2 EBR
the deemed exercise of all share options kg8
during the year 165 5,728
Weighted average number of SHESREERFIFT A
ordinary shares for the purpose of I AR N I8
the diluted earnings per share calculation 1,767,966 1,756,548
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements of the Group’s property, plant and equipment

12. Y% - BERR®H
AEBMOWE - WS R ERAE N E B

151

during the year are as follows: e
Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
EEREEY BERKEE WARE HE -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTL AR%ETR ARETR ARBT R ARETT
At 1 January 2012, net of w=F-—%-A-HB"
accumulated depreciation MREGHTE 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
Acquisition of a subsidiary G- e SN
(note 46) (MizE46) 8,323 5,784 148 15 14,270
Additions #10 192,498 307,299 107,273 20,977 628,047
Transfers from construction in ~ EEEAETR
progress (note 13) (M3E13) 457,579 998,385 12,835 5,598 1,474,397
Disposals RE (1,066) (33,584) (1,862) (974) (37,486)
Depreciation provided ERTERE
during the year (158,273) (753,963) (68,749) (12,868) (993,853)
At 31 December 2012, netof RZZE——F
accumulated depreciation +-A=+-R"
MAZHE 2,826,006 4,769,569 245,554 50,785 7,891,914
At 1 January 2012 R-Z--F-f-H
Cost AE 2,937,279 7,547,572 427,662 88,157 11,000,670
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (610,334) (3,301,924) (231,753) (50,120) (4,194,131)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
At 31 December 2012 RZZ-ZF
+-f=t+-B
Cost XA (E 3,598,090 8,768,330 533,117 101,762 13,001,299
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (772,084) (3,998,761) (287,563) (50,977) (5,109,385)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,826,006 4,769,569 245,554 50,785 7,891,914
PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (ontinued)

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

12. % - BEKRRE @

Buildings and Plant and Office Motor
structures machinery equipment vehicles Total
BEREE R Rutas N e &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2011, R-Z——*&
net of accumulated Sz =R 1V
depreciation Z:rE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-RTAF
(note 46) (Fittde) 16,065 25,850 1,521 244 43,680
Additions 1 102,097 693,933 79,876 12,833 888,739
Transfers from construction in -~ EEEAETRE
progress (note 13) (K3E13) 603,541 722,168 15,063 3,721 1,344,493
Disposals RE (561) (9,539) (923) (471) (11,494)
Depreciation provided FRTERE
during the year (116,271) (655,032) (57,567) (10,394) (839,264)
At 31 December 2011, RW_E——F
net of accumulated +-A=+-R"
depreciation MRZE 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
At 1 January 2011 RZZ——F-f-H
Cost WANE 2,207,809 6,139,155 347,408 72,540 8,766,912
Accumulated depreciation 2:ITE (485,735) (2,670,887) (189,469) (40,436) (3,386,527)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,722,074 3,468,268 157,939 32,104 5,380,385
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F
+-A=1-H
Cost HAE 2,937,279 7,547,572 427,662 88,157 11,000,670
Accumulated depreciation 2itihE (610,334) (3,301,924) (231,753) (50,120) (4,194131)
Net carrying amount ERFE 2,326,945 4,245,648 195,909 38,037 6,806,539
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (ontinues) 12. % - BERRE@®

(@) All of the Group's buildings are located in Mainland (a) AEEBEKERERHGMHAH B KEE -
China.

(b) Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with b AEBETEHERFEHNAARE
a net book value of approximately RMB271,327,000 271,327,000 (ZF——F : ARK
(2011: RMB345,261,000) and RMB8,047,000 (2011: 345,261,0007T ) & A R #8,047,0007T
RMB31,958,000) have been pledged to secure the long —ZF——4% : 31,958,000 ) K9 -
term payables and short term bank loans, respectively, MEMZECEREAEEESRIEE
details of which are set out in notes 39 and 37 to the NREREHRETERNERL - 57
financial statements. BN I SR M FE39 R MI7E37 ©

(¢ The Group leases its ranch facilities included in (00 REBREBELKEHELHERE TRE
property, plant and equipment with a net book value of SRARHEEENAME BEREHK
approximately RMB233,971,000 (2011: RMB185,243,000) BRI RENETDFEHNAREK
to certain dairy farm companies under operating lease 233,971,000 (=T ——F : AR¥
arrangements, with lease terms ranging from five to six 185,243,0007T) * HMEAHAFEARTF
years (note 49(a)). (FfF5E49(a)) °

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (ontinued)
Movements of the Company’s property, plant and equipment
during the year, which comprise only office equipment, are as

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

follows:

12. ¥ - BERRZRE@
RKRABHME BMELERE (L EH AR
BINAREREBHIT -

Company
b /NE|
2012 2011
e —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
At 1 January, net of accumulated depreciation #—HA—H » {IRZ T E 28 17
Additions =N 363 21
Depreciation provided during the year FRPTEREE (49) (10)
At 31 December, net of accumulated Rt+=—B=+—8"
depreciation MBRFITE 342 28
At 1 January m—H—H
Cost PRAE 188 167
Accumulated depreciation Extir e (160) (150)
Net carrying amount BRMEFE 28 17
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H
Cost FXANME 463 188
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE (121) (160)
Net carrying amount REFE 342 28
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13. Construction in Progress

Movements of the Group’s construction in progress, all of

13. FEIRE

which are located in Mainland China, are as follows: T

155

AEBEEMUNPEAENERZTIZZE N

Group
AEEH
2012 2011
—F--F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARKETTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYREREE 887,103 535,104
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) Wi —R1 AR (FizEa6) 45 10,994
Additions during the year FRIEN 1,189,527 1,705,881
Transfers to property, plant and equipment  #EE =% « BE N EE
(note 12) (MF3E12) (1,474,397) (1,344,493)
Transfers to land use rights (note 14) BB b AR (MEE14) - (15,003)
Transfers to other intangible assets EEREHMEREE
(note 16) (FI5E16) (5,466) (5,380)
Carrying amount at end of year FHRAEEMEE 596,812 887,103
FPESRFAEERAR T —F5R
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14. Land Use Rights 14. T ihfE AR
Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-F —T——f
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHMREE 597,806 495,052
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) Wi —RF R A (fEE46) 5,448 6,179
Additions during the year FREEMN 236,696 94,110
Transfers from construction in progress EREEEIE(E13)

(note 13) - 15,003
Amortisation provided during the year FNFHRE (14,863) (12,538)
Carrying amount at end of year FHRAEME 825,087 597,806
Current portion included in prepayments BNERER 9y (G AR BB EAF

and deposits under current assets TEN R ke

(note 29) (B95E29)) 17,644 12,799
Non-current portion FEBNHERER 807,443 585,007

825,087 597,806
(@) The leasehold land is held under a long term lease of 50 (a) HELHUUSOFERPHEERAF UK F

years and is situated in Mainland China.

(b) Certain land use rights of the Group with a net (b)
book value of approximately RMB2,530,000 (2011:
RMB2,595,000) have been pledged to secure the short
term bank loans of the Group, details of which are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

B AR o

AEBREFEL A ARE2,530,000
T(ZZE——F : AR¥2,595,0007T)
mET L FERECEREALRERSE
HETERNIRE - EEFBEIRTH

EKMIFEIT ©



Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

157

15. Goodwill 15. B8
Group
REME
2012 2011
—F-—=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BrEEE 482,436 451,613
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46) Wi —RF AR (fEE46) - 30,823
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—B8KREE 482,436 482,436

During 2012, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in
Shijiazhuang Taihang Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Taihang”). The business

acquisition did not give rise to any goodwill.

During 2011, the Group acquired an additional 41.66%
equity interest in Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Co., Ltd.
(“Leshi”). The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB30,823,000. Further details of the acquisition are included

in note 46 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the goodwill was tested

for impairment (note 17).

R_T——FR  ARERBOFHEATI
FERAA(TKRITI)100% 42 - ZEBU
BYEELEARE -

R-F——FR ARERBELOREELE
LI EBRDE ([L25 )RRIN1.66% %
1 ZEBWBELHEARK30,823,000
T WERE - T BER M WMERM T
46 °

RZE——FRZF——F+ZA=+—
H - BmELSETRER(E7) -

PERFARERAR —T-—FER
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16. Other Intangible Assets

Movements of the Group’s other intangible assets are as

follows:

16. EtuBLEE

AEEWEMBETEELINT

Patents and Computer
licences  Trademarks software Others Total
EVi)Eey: ] [ SiERY Hity @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(@) (b)
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of WZE-—%-A-H
accumulated amortisation REAE 2T E 3,819 182,499 35,952 2,617 224,887
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46)  UtB—% 1 7)(Hist46) - - 30 - 30
Additions gyl 251 - 3,499 - 3,750
Transfers from construction in BRETERTR(ME3)
progress (note 13) - - 5,466 5,466
Amortisation provided during FRFTREH
the year (522) (1,560) (5,413) (661) (8,156)
At 31 December 2012 RoB-—F+=A=1-A 3,548 180,939 39,534 1956 225,977
At 31 December 2012 RZE-—F+-fA=1-H
Cost AR 6,664 189,909 58,843 9,503 264,919
Accumulated amortisation 2t (3,116) (8,970) (19,309) (7,547) (38,942)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,548 180,939 39,534 1,956 225,977
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of RZZ—E-A—-R"
accumulated amortisation REAE R 2B 1,062 184,059 27,936 8,451 221,508
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 46)  YE—FFA A (FizH46) 2,938 - - - 2,938
Additions #n - - 6,796 - 6,796
Transfers from construction in BRETERIR(ME3)
progress (note 13) - - 5,380 - 5,380
Amortisation provided during FRREH
the year (181) (1,560) (4,160) (5,834) (11,735)
At 31 December 2011 RZZ—F+ZA=1—A 3,819 182,499 35,952 2,617 224,887
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F+-f=1-H
Cost FAE 6,413 189,909 49,904 9,503 255,729
Accumulated amortisation 2EH (2,594) (7.410) (13,952) (6,886) (30,842)
Net carrying amount ERFE 3,819 182,499 35,952 2,617 224,887
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

16. Other Intangible Assets (continueq)

17.

(a)

There were two trademarks: a trademark acquired in
2007 at a cost of RMB15,690,000, which was stated at
cost less any impairment losses and was amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years;
a trademark acquired as part of a business combination in
2010 at RMB174,219,000, which was regarded as having
an indefinite useful life because the trademarked product
is expected to generate net cash inflows indefinitely. As at
31 December 2012 and 2011, the trademark was tested
for impairment (note 17).

Others mainly represented the exclusive right of milk
supply, distribution channels and a right to receive
dividends acquired as part of a business combination
in 2010 at RMB5,982,000, RMB2,195,000 and
RMB1,326,000, respectively. Their useful lives ranged
from six months to 10 years.

Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Trademarks
with Indefinite Lives

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and
trademarks with indefinite lives have been allocated to the
following cash-generating units (the “CGUs") for impairment
testing:

liquid milk products excluding CGU of Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”);

ice cream products CGU;

other dairy products CGU; and

Junlebao CGU.
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16. EMEEEE @)

17.

(a)

BIEEERE : — AR EFRK
R AR ¥ 15,690,000 7T Y B - B IR AL
NMERE TR ER RSB RAE R
REMAAERFHTFEE 0 Z—@
AEAEBEHN—BIR_E—ZTF
LAANER#174,219,000 T W EE - AR
ZEMRBHANERBEEFESRA
MR BEEERAIEAFEH N2F
——FrZFT——F+=—A=+—8
ZEEEETRER S (HEE17) »

HEMEFEZREAEBEHN—HrK
T -ZEWENFNHEZERE - D
RERKBREMNEF S AARE
5,982,000 + AR®2,195,0007T & A
R #1,326,0007T - Er[{FE A FE AN
BAE+FERE -

2 & R R AR E R

BRFXGEHDENEERERFHERD
PEETIRGELSBU(TREELEM])
TERERIR :

BREPEMMRSELEM(ARERLE
BIXERAR(BELEDRSELE
RIRRSN) 5

KENERREEEEM

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

17. Impairment Testing of Goodwiill and Trademarks

17. BERERFHBERNBERNR

with Indefinite Lives (continued)

(#&)
The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks with NRESHeCELESNNHERERAFHA
indefinite useful lives allocated to each of the cash generating FHIRENEmEN T ¢
units are as follows:
Liquid milk products
excluding Junlebao Ice cream products  Other dairy products Junlebao Total
RENER
(BRERM KEHER HtA SR B4R by
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

“$-=F “2——F $-=F -2 ®-=f -2 “8--f -2 -8--f -2
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ABHTL ARRTL ARETL ARRTR ARETL ARRTR ARETL ARETR ARETR

Goodwill w8

£
Trademarks [12d = - - _

167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865 7,845 7845 283293 283293 482436 482,436

= - 174219 174219 174219 174219

167,433 167,433 23,865 23,865

7,845 7845 457,512 457512 656,655 656,655

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets or forecasts approved by senior
management covering a five-year period. The growth rates
used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period
are based on the estimated growth rate of each unit taking
into account the industry growth rate, past experience and the
medium or long term growth target of each CGU. The growth
rates for these CGUs are higher than the respective average
industry growth rates. Senior management believes such
growth rates are justified because:

— the growth rates of these CGUs have significantly
exceeded those in the market in the past years;

—  the new product launch and new market expansion have
been successful in the past;

— market share grew continuously in the past years due to
strong brand equity and marketing capability; and

—  expertise on product innovation, portfolio enhancement
and marketing will be further leveraged.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

17. Impairment Testing of Goodwiill and Trademarks

with Indefinite Lives (continued)

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-

year period are as follows:

Discount rate

17. BERERFHEHEZ

161

HY ik B R =
()

ARREREBANITIRER AR AFHIA
RIS MEHEHHIBRET

Growth rate

R =E BRE

2012 2011 2012 2011
—E-—-F 2% ZZEB-ZF ZT—F

Liquid milk products RENERBREESE

excluding Junlebao CGU BA(BLERS

EEBAIBRIN) 13.18% 13.93% 4.0% 4.0%

Ice cream products CGU KEMERBSESE
By 13.19% 14.03% 3.0% 3.0%

Other dairy products CGU ~ H{ihF| R A\ L EL
Eva 13.06% 13.82% 4.0% 4.0%
Junlebao CGU BREBRCEEEN 15.74% 15.44% 4.0% 4.0%

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of each
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake

impairment testing of goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margin achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency
improvements and expected increase in production costs.

b) Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

¢) Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to
the actual data of the past year of countries from where

raw materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

R EEReEAEMNFEREERRERT
— LB B EEJE?ﬁIEi/mE}E E'Jﬁf:fﬁég
BEASRFEREN BT ERZFALOT

a) BEME-ARETHREENXRER
E’J%/i)’b%@ﬁﬁ L FEA—FATERN
FHEMEK - W RAEER MR TT R TA
H A EERC AN SE INT T AT o

b) WIRE—-PABITREIIH AL RERA B
ReELXBMNFERR -

o BEMHEREH-2ERMARBERE
FERBUR -

TERRNEELIFBIRRIR 2 -

ARAREERAE  AJRESEAKENEE
BREWNEMAIENABEE » YT SEHIR
SELEBEVNEREBBE NSRS -

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

18. Loans to a Subsidiary

The loans to a subsidiary included in the Company’s
non-current assets of RMB2,657,176,000 (2011:
RMB2,656,684,000) are unsecured and repayable within
twenty years. The annual interest rates had been made by
reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The
carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to
their fair value.

18.

B —HFRERE

AARRBERBEENREE —RTAF
KB ARY2,657,176,00070 ( ZFE——4 :
AR#2,656,684,0007T) BEEKIF - BAR
T HFREE - FRER2ZEHBIRITRENR
Bt - Bl—XRTRRIFBEMNEEESRE

NAERE -

19. Investments in Subsidiaries 19. R FARINIERE
Company
ANF]
2012 2011
—E-—F —=——f
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Unlisted shares, at cost LM - KA 4,366,994 4,302,622
Loans to a subsidiary B —R TR RIF0E 741,197 741,060
5,108,191 5,043,682

Loans to a subsidiary included in the investments in subsidiaries
above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, the loans are
considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiary. The carrying
amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates to their fair
value.
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continuea
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2012 are set out below:

19. R FRARIMNKRE @)
W=Z—=%#+=A=+—0 AARFE
FATMHERAT -

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
AR E R BRfT/ KNFEED
&R BERH R RERDL TEXH
Direct Indirect
EE 3
China Dairy Holdings (i) 5 June 2002 Us$214 100% - Investment holding
—EE-E5ARA 2ET RERR
China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited (i) 15 June 2002 Us$100 - 100%  Investment holding
“EE-FRATER 100%7T RERR

China Mengniu Investment 11 April 2011 HK$1,000 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited () “E-——FMAt-H 1,000%7 RERR

(PERFREERAR))

Inner Mongalia Mengniu Dairy 18 August 1999 RMB1,504,290,870 8.97% 84.32%  Manufacture and sale of
(Group) Company Limited “ANENBTAR  ARE1504,2908707 dairy products
("Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) (i) FERMEASM

(AREFRFIR (BB RO AR AT
(TARKA) i)

Beijing Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) (iv) 4 July 2000 RMB500,000 - 4851%  Packaging and sale of dairy

ERRFAMBEREELRA0 () (v —TEZELANA AR 500,000 products

BERHNENLRR

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding 9 February 2002 RMBA45,000,000 - 9329% Investment holding
Industry Management Co., Ltd. () (i) ~ —EE-4-ANA AR 45,000,0007C REER

(REERGHREXER
BREERR) i)

Mengniu Dairy (Wulanhaote) 18 June 2002 RMB60,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “EE-E5A1N\H AE#60,000,0007 dairy products

(RFAR (SRR EREERR)0 () EERLEIER

Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Keergin 19 June 2002 RMB100,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “EE-ERATAE AR100,000,0007T dairy products

(RRERFTAERBN EERMNEN SR

BEETAE)) (i)

GEESS SN

T FFH
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & Kizt

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (ontinueq

19. RF R RINERE @)

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR ERE BRfT/ RNEEEN
£ EERM EfRE RERAL TEXK
Direct Indirect
EE G
Mengniu Dairy (Dangyang) 7 November 2002 RMB42,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) ii) “ZE-#F+-A+tH AR#42,000,0007 dairy products
(FFAXE(ER)BREERR)) (i) FERHEN ST
Mengniu Dairy (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (i) (iii 11 November 2002 RMB 120,000,000 26.70% 68.38%  Manufacture and sale of
(BFALER)EREMDAN) (i)  —FE-F+-A+-8 AREI20,000,000% dairy products
EERLEIER
Jinhua Mengniu Fronzen Food Co., Ltd. 19 February 2003 RMB500,000 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
(Former name: Jinhua Mengniu Dairy ~ —ZE=%-A+ 8 AR 500,0007 dairy products
Co., Ltd.) (i) (ii) (iv) EERLEIER
(RERFLRRRBRAT
(R% : 2ERFAXBRAA))
(i) i) ()
Mengniu Dairy (Shenyang) 4 December 2003 RMB100,000,000 26.05%  68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) “EEZE+-AME AR 100,000,0007T dairy products
(4515 RB)RRREDA)) i FRRIEARE
Beijing Mengniu Hongda Dairy 12 September 2002 RMB20,000,000 - 4851%  Packaging and sale of dairy
Co., Ltd. (i) ii) (iv) “EE-FNA+ZH ARE#20,000,0007 products
(EREFLENEm BERHELRR
BREFERF) (i) (iv)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Baotou 9 January 2003 RMB30,000,000 26.40% 68.66%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (iii) “TE=E-ANH AR#30,000,0007T dairy products
(RRERTAXBERREELF)) (i) FERHEN ST
Mengniu Dairy (Dengkou Bayan Gaole) 13 July 2003 RMB70,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i “TE-FLAt+=H AR 70,000,000 dairy products
(FH3IE(BAEEZRS) EERLEIEA
BREERR)) i)
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3R & KHizT

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continueq

165

19. RFRARINERE @)

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR, ER R B/ RNEEEN
£1 BERM aRA REB A TEER
Direct  Indirect
EE 3
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) 14 July 2003 RMB10,000,000 - 896%  Manufacture and sale of
Shanxi Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i iy g = AE#10,000,0007T dairy products
(AREFRFSE (@) LATLE EERLENER
BRRRD0 (i)
Mengniu Dairy (Jiaozuo) Co., Ltd. (i) (i 6 November 2003 RMB170,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAE(EE)BRAR0 (i) “ER=E+-ARH AR¥170,000,0007 dairy products
EERLEIER
Mengniu Dairy Taian Co., Ltd. (i) (i 18 November 2003 RMB110,000,000 26.03%  69.01%  Manufacture and sale of
(REIAEZTERETAR)) (i) “ET=E+-ATAR AR110,000,0007 dairy products
EEREEIER
Mengniu Dairy (Luannan) 31 March 2004 RMB56,000,000 26.06% 68.98%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) iii) ZEEME=F=1-H  AR56,000,0007 dairy products
(RESLER(RE)BRELRR)0) (i) EEREEIED
Mengniu Dairy (Tangshan) 31 March 2004 RMB70,000,000 26.05% 68.99%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “EEME=A=+-H  AKH 70,000,000 dairy products
(FEAE(BEWL)BREERR)) (i) EERHEN RS
Mengniu Dairy (Maanshan) 4 February 2005 RMB355,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “ZERE-AMA AR H#355,000,0007T dairy products
(FEAZE(FRL)BREERR) (i) EERMENLRR
Hubei Frealth Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 6 January 2006 RMB120,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEBRE)RZRAZBRLR) () ) —EEAF—ARA AE120,000,0007T dairy products
EEREEIEM
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Hi-tech Dairy 2 August 2006 RMB 150,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “EE EN\AZH AE#150,000,0007T dairy products
(RREFFRMAFERAR)0 (i) EERLEIER
Mengniu Dairy (Tai Yuan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 13 April 2006 RMB116,670,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(REFLEKR)BBRAR)0) (i) “EEAFENAT=E ARK116,670,0007 dairy products
EEREEIER

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & Kizt

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (ontinueq

19. RF R RINERE @)

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
FMRL/ EWR BRT/ AATEMLN
S1 ZEAH TR A REGAL FEER
Direct  Indirect
Ei B
Mengniu Dairy (Shangzhi) 10 June 2005 RMB80,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. () (ii) “EEREAATH AR#80,000,0007T dairy products
(REAE(HT)BRETLR (i) EERHEAEM
Mengniu Dairy (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) 15 June 2005 RMB30,000,000 - 7277%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEAZE ) BRERFD (i) “ETRFERATRE AE30,000,0007T dairy products
FERBELZM
Mengniu Dairy (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (i) (iii) 1 November 2005 RMB96,840,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(RHEAZEER)BERAF0 (i) “ZTRF+-A-H AE£96,840,0007T dairy products
FEREEAZR
Mengniu Dairy (Baoding) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) 22 January 2007 RMB62,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REAERT)BBRAR)0 (i) “ETHFE-FZTZH AKEH62,000,0007 dairy products
EERHEAEM
Beijing Mengniu Cheese Co., Ltd. (i) (i 23 May 2007 RMBS5,000,000 - 9329%  Manufacture and sale of
(ERFEPBRBERAF)0 (i) “ERLERATEA 0 AEES,000,0007T dairy products
FERBELZM
Mengniu Dairy Meishan Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) 29 August 2007 RMB60,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REIAZRBWLBRAE) (i) “ERHENRZTAE AKH60,000,0007 dairy products
FEREEAZR
Mengniu Saibei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (il 29 August 2007 RMB67,121,418 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(REELAEBR DA i) “ERHENEZTAR ARK67,1214187 dairy products
EERHEAZM
Mengniu Dairy (Qigihaer) 23 November 2007 RMB75,000,000 26%  69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “FEHEH-FAZt=0  AR75,000,000T dairy products
(REAE(EERR)BRAR)) (i) FERBELZM
Mengniu Dairy (Qingyuan) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 25 September 2009 RMB 120,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(FHAZCER)BRAF (i) “ETAENRECTRE ARE120,000,0007 dairy products
FERBEAZR
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continueq
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19. RFRARINERE @)

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
FMRL/ MR BRI/ AATEMLN
i ZERH A REF2L FEER
Direct Indirect
E# B3
Mengniu Dairy (Sugian) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) 20 September 2010 RMB110,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(REILE(ER)BRAR)) (i) “E-ZEARZFE AR110,000,0007 dairy products
EEREEAZM
Mengniu Dairy (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 9 July 2010 RMB134,000,000 26%  69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
(FEAZE(RE)BRAF0 (i) “Z-ZE+ANA AE134,000,0007T dairy products
EEREEAZM
Mengniu Dairy (Yinchuan) 27 July 2010 RMB210,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “E-ZELA-++HH  AR210,000,0007T dairy products
EHARRIDERLA0 FERAEARE
Mengniu Dairy Hehe Investment 29 November 2010 RMB200,000,000 - 9329% Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) “F-FE+-A-tNE  AR%200,000,0007C REZR
(REAE(RM)BRAE)0 (i)
Mengniu Dairy (Hengshui) 16 May 2011 RMB150,000,000 26% 69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) i) “E——%nR+RE  AR¥150,000,0007 dairy products
(RAEFLEEROBRAF) i EEREEAZM
Baoding Mengniu Beverage 17 May 2011 RMB80,000,000 26%  69.03%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “E——FRAR++H AE£80,000,0007T dairy products
(RESHHEBBRAR) (i) EEREEAZA
Mengniu Dairy (Jinhua) Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 31 December 2011 RMB172,458,007 26.06% 68.98%  Research and development
(RHAE(EE)BRAF) (i) “E—E+-A=+-8 AR¥172,458,0077 of dairy products
EAEn
Sichuan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) 1 April 2012 RMB5,000,000 - 93.29%  Manufacture and sale of
(m)IIREAEBRAE) (i) —E-—FEMA-B ARH5,000,0007T dairy products
EEREEAZM
Xinjiang Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 13 February 2012 RMB10,000,000 - 9329%  Packaging and sale of dairy
(rERFAZERAAN) i —“T--F-A+=H AR10,000,0007C products
BERNEALR

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizTt

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (ontinueq

19. RF R RN E @)

Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR ERE BRfT/ RNEEEN
ZR EERMH aRA REFDL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE i
Beijing Fangshan Mengniu Dairy 5 September 2012 RMB50,000,000 - 9329%  Technology development
Co., Ltd. () (i) “T-_FN\ARA AE#50,000,0007C UEES
(ERBIWEFAZBRAE)0 (i)
Arla Foods Dairy Products Imp. & Exp. 16 August 2012 RMB50,000,000 - 9329%  Packaging and sale of dairy
Co., Ltd. () (i) “E-ZHAATRE ARMS50,000,0007 products
(EREBALLELOERAT)) () BRREEARE
Chengdu Founding Sales Dairy 25 November 2012 RMB7,000,000 - 9329%  Packaging and sale of dairy
Co., Ltd. (i) ii) “F-—#+-A-+t7A  AR¥7,000,000 products
(R RAMBERRRT)) (i) BERLEIER
Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming 17 February 2012 RMB100,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. () (i) “E-CE-ATEH AR¥100,000,0007T BHE
(RREERUEBREELE)0 (i)
Wuzhong Nuogan Farming 24 July 2012 RMB20,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. () (i) “E-CHEEACTEA ARM20,000,0007T BHE
(RETmATEREAREERR)0 (i)
Inner Mongolia Saihan Fuyuan 23 August 2012 RMB25,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
Huasheng Farming Co., Ltd. (i) il “T-ENF=+=R  AR%25000,0007 B
(RELEFREREENE
BREERR) (i)
Inner Mongolia Tuoketuo Fuyuan 23 August 2012 RMB50,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
Huatai Farming Co., Ltd. (i) (i} “T-ZFN\AZ+H=A  AR¥50,000,0007 2
(ARERRREERERNE
BREERR) (i)
Sugian Nuogan Farming Co., Ltd. (i) (i) 29 July 2011 RMB55,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
(BRATHERRAEDAN) (i) “E—%tAZTNA  ARES55000,0007 -
Xing'anmeng Nuogan Farming 15 June 2012 RMB10,000,000 - 9329%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. () (i) “E-CFXATRERE AR¥10,000,0007 2H

(ERBHTHEBRATAR)) (i)
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KHizt

19. Investments in Subsidiaries (ontinuea 19. A F QA RNRE @)
Date of incorporation/ Issued/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered  interest attributable
Name operation* share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR, R BT/ RNEEEN
£ EERH EfRE REBEAL TERH
Direct Indirect
B (3
Zhangjiakou Saibei Nuogan Farming 29 June 2012 RMB20,000,000 - 93.29%  Dairy farming
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) “E-ZERAZTAR ARM20,000,0007 2

(RROBGETHREBERETAF0 ()

Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy 21 April 2000 RMB53,251,700 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) () “ETTFNACF-B  ARE53,251,7007T dairy products
(RRHELEAZBRAR)) EERLEIER
Shijiazhuang Yongsheng Dairy 25 September 2007 RMB80,000,000 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (iv) “EEHENA-TEE AKH80,000,000T dairy products
(RRIKESLZBRAF)) (i) (v) EEREEIER
Baoding Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) (iv) 25 August 2003 RMB32,540,000 - 24.23%  Manufacture and sale of
(REBLEZAEERLF0 () (v) “ET=ENBZTRA AKRMH32,540,0007 dairy products
EERLEIEM
Hebei Guanwei Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (iv) 30 July 1996 RMB9,650,000 - 2426%  Manufacture and sale of
(Tt EAZEBBAE0 (i) (v) —WNAELA=1H AE59,650,0007T dairy products
EERLEIER
iangsu Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (iv) 8 March 2004 RMB20,617,666 - 24.26%  Manufacture and sale of
(CTEELEILLERAT)0 ) (v) —ZTME=ANA AE#20,617,6667C dairy products
EEREEIER
Xuzhou Junlebao Guorun Dairy 20 June 2008 RMB10,000,000 - 24.26%  Manufacture and sale of
Co, Ltd. (i) (") () ZZEN\FRAZTH AE%10,000,0007T dairy products
(BMELEREAZERAR)0 (i) (v) TERENRR
Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy 20 June 2008 RMB29,000,300 - 3421%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (i) (i) (iv) “EEN\ERAZTH ARE#29,000,3007 dairy products
(AFHELELHIAZARAR)0 () (v) FERNEANRR
Shijiazhuang Taihang Dairy Co., Ltd. 12 September 2006 RMB20,637,500 - 4758%  Manufacture and sale of
(i) (i) (v) ZEERENATZH AR#20,637,5007T dairy products
(BRRHEKTIEBRAFN) (i) (v) EEREEIER

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (ontinueq

*

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Except for China Dairy Holdings and China Dairy (Mauritius)
Limited, which were incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and
Mauritius, respectively, all subsidiaries were established in the
PRC.

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited
liability under PRC law.

The subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign equity joint
ventures under PRC law.

Since more than 50% of the equity interest of the
subsidiaries was held by either Inner Mongolia Mengniu
Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) or Inner Mongolia Hehe Investment Co., Ltd.
("Hehe") in which the Company held a 93.29% equity
interest, the Company had control over the subsidiaries
even with less than 50% of equity interest held indirectly as
at the end of the reporting period.

20. Investments in Associates

19.

i
*

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

FATNRE @
B* China Dairy Holdings & China Dairy
(Mauritius) Limited ) Rl £ 8 E R EEK
TSSO - PR F A B R A BT K

s

RAEEBLKGETMEBAA LK
BB R E MK B A RIPTE

ZETRAARBETEEFEMRER

BERQA -

%ETREHRETEDAREEMAF I
BERQA -

RBEHR - ARZFTFRRE—FIK
BEASRERFIER(EE)RNDAR
RETARERF DHARERNEKE
BEREFEAR (RN (RRFFHAH
93.29% K8 ) KB - HHEA R RIREZ T
BOMN—FEBHE - AARYHZETAH
HEBEHIE -

20. REFE DTN IRE

Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-—F —ZT——f
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT
Share of net assets PEFEE 77,921 153,352

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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20. Investments in Associates (continueq) 20.

REBERQNTINKRE @

Details of the Group’s principal associates at 31 December RZEBE——F+_A=+—H KX&EHz*
2012 are set out below: TEE A RBFFREHN TX
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FsEERTT ML/ AEEEGNRE
8 RoEs BOREXNY AR (EE) TERH
2012 2011
¥-=F FF%
Xinjiang Tianxue Food Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 23% 23%  Trading of dairy products
(FEXERmERAF)) AMER E AR A8nE5
Fuzhou Mengxin Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 43% 43%  Trading of dairy products
(BNZEBHERAR)) HAMER GBS A8mES
Shijiazhuang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co,, Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(AREFFKEMAERRAA)) AR E AR A8nE5
Tianjin Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFKEMEERREARR)) AR GBS A8mES
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China - 37%  Trading of dairy products
(BMARFIEXESBRRAR)) AMER E AR A8nE5
Wuhan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 26% 26%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFAEFERRA)) AR EIKE A8mES
Guilin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(EHSFAKHERRRA) AMER hE AR A8nE5
Tianjin Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(REMRFAFHERRAA)) AR GlEN: A8mES
Wenzhou Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
CRMEAAERRRR)) AMER E AR A8nE5
Heilongjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BRIRFIRHEARAA)) AR GBS A8mES
Chengdu Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 34% 34%  Trading of dairy products
(KBS AKHERREMALA) AR E AR A8nE5

GEESS SN

ZECFER
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20. REBEE N TIMNRE @)

20. Investments in Associates (continueq)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERTT AL/ AEBEEHRE
£ RiyER BRRERLE AR (EE) TEXH
2012 2011
“g8-f —-F%

Nanjing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BREFAFHERRRA)N) AMER B AR A8mEH
Jinan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BEFFAFERRA)0 AR YN A8mE
Taiyuan Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(RARFRFAFERAA)0) AMER B AR A8mEH
Nanchang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BESHILHERREMALA) HMER YN AHRES
Chongaing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(EEMRFIAKHEARAA)) AMER B AR A8mEH
Hefei Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 3% 43%  Trading of dairy products
(BEFZFAEKHERRAR)) AR YN A8mE
Shijiazhuang Jinmengyuan Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RFEESREHERALAR)) AMER B AR A8mEH
Beijing Mengniu Technical Development Registered capital Mainland China 19% 19%  Technology development

Co., Ltd. (i) (i) AR YN RS
(ERFHRBERBEERAF)N) (i)
Wulumugi Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(EAESFASKHERRLDA) AR E AR A8REH
Kunming Deluxe Commercial Trading Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products

Co., Ltd. i) AMER EIKE A8mE
(RRERHEEERRAA)
Changsha Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RS AERREERR)) AR B KR A8mE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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20. Investments in Associates «ontinued) 20. REEE A RNIRE @)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERTT AL/ AEBEEHRE
8 RHEH BRRERLE AR (EE) TEXY
2012 2011
- ZE——F
Xi'an Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 3% 43%  Trading of dairy products
(ARFFAKHERRRA) HMER E AR AHRES
Changchun Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(REZHARHERRAA)) AR NS ARmES
Xuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(EMEAAKHERRRA) HMER ME AR AHRES
Foshan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BUFFFAFHERRRR)) AR NS ARmES
Guiyang Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(EBRFAXEHERRA)) HMER ME AR AHRES
Shengyang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) (i) Registered capital Mainland China 19% 19%  Trading of dairy products
(BEZFAEHERRDA) (i) AR NS ARmES
Xiangfan Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(BRPRFIFHEARAA)) HMER ME AR AHRES
Hangzhou Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. ()~ Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(RMEFBHERAR)) AR NS AHmES
Suzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BMNRFAHREERRAR)) HMER ME AR AHRES
Guangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 29% 29%  Trading of dairy products
(BMHREAEHERRAR)) AR NS AHmES
Shanghai Mengniu Food Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(FERFRmEERRATF)) HMER E AR AHRES

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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20. Investments in Associates (continueq)

20. REBEE N TIMNRE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERT HMRYL/ REBELNRE
1 RAER BRREEHY B (HE) TEER
2012 2011
ZB-Zf T——F
Hohhot Menglai Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(FREETEREEERETLA0 HREA iGN IEmES
Cangzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(CBMmRFAFHEEERAF)0) HER iGN HESREY
Changsha Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. (i) HHER R ARRE
(ROEFRZRAZHEBRAA
Changsha Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. (i) HMER REAE IEmES
(ROEFAMEEBRAT))
Wuhan Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(REFFRRRmEEERAA)) HREA HEIRRE HESEE)
Nanjing Wanjiahao Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. (i) FMER R 12mE
(ARERHEHKEMEEERAR0
Hefei Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(RRERFICEMEEERAE)() FREL REAE IEmES
Nanjing Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co., Ltd. (i) HHER B AR AEREH
(ARRFAERRARHERRAF)()
Changsha Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
Products Sales Co., Ltd. (i) HHER RERRE AERES
(ROFFAEERAZRBEERLAN
Guangzhou Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Sales Co., Ltd. (i) FHER YN ARRE

(BMTRFAXERDHEEER A
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GEESS RSN

20. Investments in Associates «ontinued) 20. REEE A TINVIRE @)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERTT AL/ AEBEEHRE
8 RH&EH BORERNY AR (EE) TEXY
2012 2011
B 2%
Jinhua Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFIEMEERRAR)) AR E AR AHmES
Dalian Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFEMEEARRAR)) AR mE AR A8nE5
Nanchang Mengniu Ice Cream Sales Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. i) HMER B KR A8mE
(BERFKEMEERRAR))
Talyuan Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales  Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Co,, Ltd. i) AMER GlEN: A8mES
(RRFHASERARBEARDA))
Xi'an Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales Co., Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
Ltd. (i) HMER E AR AHRES
(ARFFAFERIARHEBRAA))
Zhanjiang Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(EITSAEHERRAR)) AR B KR A8mE
Dezhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BMPRIIAREERRAF)) AR GBS A8mES
Zhaoging Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 29%  Trading of dairy products
(BETSFARHERRAA)) HMER EARE AHmES
Liuzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 33% 33%  Trading of dairy products
(INEAAKHERRRA) AR mE AR A8nE5
Quanzhou Mengniu Hongtai Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 23% 23%  Trading of dairy products
(FMTREAEBREERRLDA)) AR B KR ARmES
Harbin Mengniu Frozen Food Sales Co., Ltd. () Registered capital Mainland China 2% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(RREZH L RARHEERRAF)) AR GlEN A8mES

T FFH
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20. Investments in Associates (continueq)

20. REBEE N TIMNRE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERT AL/ AEBEEHRE
£ RHOER BLRERNH AR (AE) TEXH
2012 2011
~g8--f —B-F%
Harbin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 28% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(REERTHEARLAD) AMER hEIRKE A8mES
Jiaxing Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(FERFAmHEERRRA)N) AMER E AR A8nE5
Hengshui Guangyuanjuxing Trading Co., Ltd. () ~ Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
(EKTmERZRSHEARAR)) AR EIRE A8mE
Kunming Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(BASFAEKHERRRA)) AMER EIRE A8mE
Inner Mongolia Saikexing Reproductive Registered capital Mainland China 4% 20%  Cultivation and sale of
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. ("Saikexing") () (i)~ FfER A _ Gattle embryos
(WEEBHEEREMRITRIERAR) HRRHE R
(TERLE 1)) (il
Xianyang Mengniu Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(REZFAEHERRRA)) AR B AR ABmE
Wuhan Mengniu Frealth Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. ()  Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(RERFRZRAKHERRRR)) AMER N A8mE
Tianjin Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 45% 45%  Trading of dairy products
(REPRLSTHEARAR)) AMER PEIARKE A8mES
Shenzhen Mengniu Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 37% 37%  Trading of dairy products
(MIFFEHBRAF)) AMER B AR A8mEH
Changzhou Mengniu Dairy Sales Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 42% 42%  Trading of dairy products
(FMEA A mEERRAF)) AR B KR IHRES
Beijing Mengniu Dairy Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 45% 45%  Trading of dairy products
(EREFBHERAR)) AMER N A8mE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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20. RBEE N TIMNRE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
Particulars of registration and interest attributable to
Name issued shares held  operations the Group (indirect) Principal activities
FEEERT AL/ AEBEEHRE
8 RH&EH BORERNY AR (AE) TEXY
2012 2011
~g8--f —2-F%
Chengdu Mengniu Low Temperature Dairy Sales  Registered capital Mainland China 46% 46%  Trading of dairy products
Co., Ltd. () HMER E AR AHmES
(KBFFERImBERRAR))
Zhengzhou Mengyuan Trading Co., Ltd. (i) Registered capital Mainland China 33% - Trading of dairy products
(BNZREHERAR)) AMER hEIKE A8mES
Shijiazhuang Junelebao Langsheng Food Registered capital Mainland China 23% - Trading of dairy products
Sales Co., Ltd. (i) AR E AR A8nE5

(RFHERENERGHEARAA))

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Since more than 20% of the equity interest of the
associates was held by Inner Mongolia Mengniu, the
Company had significant influence over the associates
even with less than 20% of equity interest held indirectly as
at the end of the reporting period.

Saikexing ceased to be accounted for as an associate of
the Group after the Group disposed of certain ordinary
share in Saikexing in 2012.

(ii)

(iii)

REBEB LK G EFAHLKEIR
AR B EALR B AR TR ©

RBEHR - ARZFHE R FE20%
BEAARKTREE @ fEARRREE
BARREEN20% « ANQ A2 S
ERENAEATES -

RZZE——F  ARAEEREREE T H5
BENERENZTER  AEEEIHE
BREEABE A RZXE -

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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20. Investments in Associates (continueq)

20. REBEE N TIMNRE @)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRETAEEBEARNMEERTE (55
information of the Group's associates extracted from their HEEREEZEERA)

unaudited management accounts:

2012 2011
—E——F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: S {HEtE ATINEERBE -
Current assets MENEE 275,868 415,951
Non-current assets EMENEE 5,517 49,137
Current liabilities MEEE (203,464) (300,035)
Non-current liabilities JERBAE - (11,701)
Net assets FEE 77,921 153,352
Share of the associates’ revenues and profits D {GEE2 A AU A K&
and losses: FE(EE) -
Revenues N 1,769,294 2,150,137
Profits and losses FE (2 EB1E) 13,855 52,059
All the above associates have been accounted for using the LA E AR EFEAER AN ®RER
equity method in these financial statements. The Group has WNERIE - AEE D RIEERE LS THE
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain NAIMEE - BAEBEHE QRN EERR
associates because the share of losses of the associates REBRBERARNEZ - RAFE - &%
exceeded the Group's interests in the associates. The amounts EREREGZEHEAANEERETE
of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these associates BoRAARK22,378,000 (=T ——4F :
for the current year and cumulatively were RMB22,378,000 AR #6,607,0007T) & A R #53,502,0007T
(2011: RMB6,607,000) and RMB53,502,000 (2011: (ZZ——%F : AK%33,142,0007T) °

RMB33,142,000), respectively.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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21. Investment in a Jointly-Controlled Entity
Details of the Company’s jointly-controlled entity are set out

below:
Particulars
of issued
Name shares held
FriEEER1T
£18 5 &E R

Place of
establishment
and operations

BRI R it B
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21. REARZEHERNRE
RATMHFEH EROFERTINT

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Group (indirect)
7S EE [ PE 1k Y B
B2t () FEEK
2012 2011
—E——-F —ZT——%F

Principal activities

Mengniu Arla (Inner
Mongolia) Dairy
Products Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu Arla”)

A EB R
mBREERT]
(Bt 5 )

Registered capital

Mainland China
SiCipN

The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
jointly-controlled entity at 31 December 2012 and for the year
then ended, which is included in the consolidated financial

statements, is as follows:

46.65% 46.65% Manufacture and sale
of dairy products

EERHEIRS

TRETIR_ZE——F+_A=+—HEKE
EZBALEFEAEESHERZHEENE
E - Aff - WAKRAE  BESEEF AL
B IBEwE

2012 2011
—E——F =5
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARET T
Share of the assets and liabilities: EREERARE
Current assets B E 104,757 110,090
Non-current assets ERHEE 169,921 190,659
Current liabilities mENAE (315,185) (222,736)
Net assets FEE (40,507) 78,013
Share of the revenue and loss: FEE WA K E51E -
Revenue WA 79,355 286,595
Cost of sales and operating expenses HERARLEEER (197,865) (321,543)
Loss 518 (118,510) (34,948)
PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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22. Available-For-Sale Investments

22, I HERE

Non-current assets: IEMBEE
Listed equity investments, LTRAIRE -
at fair value: BARE
Hong Kong B (a) 89,642 69,008
Unlisted equity investments, FELTRAKRE
at fair value BRARE (a) 144,201 103,319
Unlisted equity investments, at cost 3F FHRRARE » R AE (b) 275,945 122,879
420,146 226,198
509,788 295,206
Current assets: MENEEE
Unlisted equity investments, FEEMRRARE -
at cost B AE (0 240,000 -

Listed equity investments,
at fair value:
Hong Kong

ERBRAKRE
BanE:

BB

89,642

69,008
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22. Available-For-Sale Investments (continuea)
Notes:

(a)

The holding company of an unlisted company, in which
the Group held a 2.13% equity interest at the cost of
RMB12,000,000 at that time, was listed in 2010. Accordingly,
the fair value of the unlisted equity investment has been estimated
by reference to the quoted market share price of its holding
company, taking into account the liquidity factors.

In addition, the Company invested cash of approximately
HK$151,512,000 (equivalent to RMB128,926,000) into the
aforementioned holding company upon its listing, representing a
1.08% equity interest in the holding company at that time. The
fair value of the listed equity securities is determined by reference
to published quotations in an active market.

The above equity investments have no fixed maturity date or
coupon rate and were designated as available-for-sale financial
assets.

Changes in fair value of the Group's above available-for-
sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to RMB51,283,000 (2011: loss of RMB91,501,000),
net of tax of RMB10,221,000 (2011: RMB17,035,000) (note 23).

As at 31 December 2012, certain unlisted equity investments
with a carrying amount of RMB145,687,000 (2011:
RMB122,879,000) were stated at cost less impairment because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors are of opinion that their fair value cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them
in the near future.

In addition, during the year of 2012, the Group, as one of the
beneficiaries, purchased 130,000,000 units in certain unit trusts
set up and managed by an affiliate of a substantial shareholder
and connected party of the Company, at a consideration of
RMB130,258,000. According to the trust documents, the
trust shall apply the entire amount of trust fund invested by
its beneficiaries to finance certain specific projects owned and
operated by an independent third party. The investments in
unit trusts were unsecured with no guaranteed return amount
and with original maturity of more than one year, which were
measured at costs less impairment under non-current assets
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors are of opinion that their fair value
cannot be measured reliably.

As at 31 December 2012, the available-for-sale investments of
approximately RMB240,000,000 with original maturity of less
than one year, which were measured at costs less impairment
under current assets because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of opinion
that their fair value cannot be measured reliably, represented
certain investment instruments acquired from domestic financial
institutions. The investment instruments were unsecured with no
guaranteed return amount.
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22. A HERE @)
GEE

(a)

—MFELETAR(AEBR = —ZTFIRMAR
AR#12,000,0007CH 8 EH2.13% 84 ) 2 1=
BABIR T —ZTFLH e it - %I L™
BAREN AR B2 EHEER ARG NHES
FTsRAR B & BBy IE R =M fEfdaT o

1 NN N 1 2 /Nl A L
&émwwuom%m<MiﬂAEM
128,926,0007T) R & - HERZIERARE
BEH)1.08% %48 - EMRAZENAARET
DENERMBAMRHREET -

Bk AREYEEEZHALIEE X -
WHIEERAHEESREE -

FE 2 IS T R A A £ [ ] 4 ﬁ%&ﬁ
NAREZSHEARES,283,0007T(=
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23. Deferred Tax 23. IEERIE
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRNREFRBEERBENEHEOT -

the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets: EEBEEE -
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

At 1 January »—HA—H 66,749 81,060
Deferred tax debited to the consolidated FRRERAFERMNBRD
income statement during the year (note 9)  JEIERIE (HIEH9) 5,344 (14,311)
Gross deferred tax assets at Rt+-_A=+—HH
31 December R IAE 4R 72,093 66,749
Deferred tax liabilities: EEREAE
Group
REE
2012 2011
—E-C—F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
At 1 January Kn—H—H 22,830 39,865
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRREAHEEKRER
statement of comprehensive income NRaEEEmMEETTA
arising from fair value changes of ZAEEEKEREN
available-for-sale investments during IEERIA (Mi5E22(a))
the year (note 22(a)) 10,221 (17,035)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RTZA=+—HH
31 December EEHIR B EERE 33,051 22,830
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Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

23. Deferred Tax (ontinued) 23. IEFERIIE (@)
Deferred income tax assets at 31 December 2012 related to R-E——F+__A=1+—"HHELERER
the following: BEHETSBEEERA
Consolidated statement Consolidated
of financial position income statement
FREMBEMRRR FEFBE
2012 2011 2012 2011

—Eg-——-F —T—F T —FT——*F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT AR¥TR ARETT

Tax losses available for A GH A 12 FERR TN
offsetting against future KR IEES 18
taxable profits 26,268 10,244 16,024 (46,321)
Write-down of inventories to  #iFif7 & & ] 237 %(E
net realisable value 224 257 (33) 154
Un-invoiced accruals AEFERENTEARER 21,797 30,859 (9,062) 30,859
Deferred income RIEN 2 23,804 25,389 (1,585) 997
Deferred tax assets FIEFRIAE B 72,093 66,749
Deferred income tax expense  EIEFTIEHISZ H
(note 9) (Fg7E9) 5,344 (14,311)
Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be FEERBRKRFESR VL LR ERDF
available against which the above tax losses and deductible E B DA 40 st A T ES 48 K2 BT ARk T By
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. MER o
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23. Deferred Tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

23. IEAERIIE (@)
IRIEFIIBE EW AR N5I8 B #ER

Group

AEE
2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) FAFR B R R 7 A O B TE B 1R i) 278,673 160,102

Tax credits related to purchases of HEEERRNREEBEN

domestic equipment (i) TRIEHER (i) 2,100 20,749
Deductible temporary differences AR ER 134,474 132,379
415,247 313,230

(i)  The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a
maximum of five years.

(i)  Tax credits can be carried forward for five to seven years to
offset the tax payables if the future year tax exceeded the base
year tax.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that tax profits will
be available against which the above items can be utilised or
tax authorities should approve the Group to utilise the above
tax credits or deductible temporary differences.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

23. DeferrEd TaX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2012, no deferred tax liabilities (2011: Nil)
have been recognised for the withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding tax of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and other
subsidiaries located in Mainland China whose equity interests
were directly held by the Company. The directors of the
Company represented that there was no plan to distribute the
earnings generated in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

At 31 December 2012, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2011: Nil) for taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu’s subsidiaries and associates, as Inner
Mongolia Mengniu has no liability to additional tax should
such amount be remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Except for the amount disclosed above, the Group and the
Company did not have any material unrecognised deferred tax
liabilities or deferred tax assets at 31 December 2012 (2011:
Nil).
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23. IEFERIIE (@)

RBHECEMETE KRB AREKZT
SNERERIEIREE T IR KRB AR
10%BHNH - EEREE-FTT/N\F—A
—HREM YEAR-_ZTZTLF+_H
=t —HEMEENAN - fWF B EINEI
BEMBRIZER AT BRBIHE - A7
BREEBRIHEEE - AEENERHES
5% 10% ° Fitt - AEBARZERFE
REKRIHWFRARR-_ZZNFE-A—HiE
EER BN T2 IKEALE SHTE -

R-E——F+-_F=+—08  IXHXRA
SEFERMNRFRAENEMAATREER
2 B HE TR R R EE & A i e R TR AL
BRELEHBEEE(ZE—F : &) - AR
AESRIREFEIRR_TZNE =&
—ZTF T ——FRIT-FEANR
FIED IR ©

RZZE—ZF+ZA=+—H8 #EE»
RARKFETFRAREERRAREL
B RN TRIBR ERRERIELERIER
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

24. Other Financial Assets 2. HittemEE
Other financial assets represented entrusted loans to certain EMemEEERBTRETFETIEYN
dairy farmers via banks. A maturity analysis of the entrusted ZAER c AEEZAERZ BB T ¢

loans of the Group is as follows:

Group

rEE
2012 2011
—E-C-F —FE——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

Within 1 year —F R 41,377 45,911
1 to 2 years —EF 45,318 41,564
2 to 3 years MNE = 7,051 24,666
Over 3 years =FE 1,152 3,731
Total entrusted loans LEEREEE 94,898 115,872
Less: Amount due within one year included in 3§ : 5t ATREVEE T H M fE
current assets under other receivables WK IE B — F A B B
(note 30) A (FEE30) (41,377) (45,911)
53,521 69,961
The above entrusted loans are unsecured, with annual interest FRBEERBEERT  FRENF5%E
rates ranging from 5% t0 9.98% (2011: 5.40% to 6.90%,). 9.98%(=F——4F : 5.40%%6.90%) °
The above entrusted loans are neither past due nor impaired P EFEE O R EASORE - A R AR Ef
and have no recent history of default. A AR R FRIE 2 FO ek o
As the Group’s entrusted loans related to a large number of BERAEENZEERERNETEERftE
diversified suppliers, there is no significant concentration of PR - U EE A EESTRAR -
credit risk.
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25. Biological Assets 25. Y EE
(A) Nature of activities (A) EKMHE
Certain subsidiaries of the Company are milk production ARalBTTFRARIRFNEELE £
companies that principally engaged in the production and DREBFPES - ILFEBENFHIEE
sales of milk. Dairy cows are primarily held to produce 7 - TR REBRREHRES
milk. The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group and WIFHEREDNEMAT o

the output of milk during the year at end of the reporting
period are shown below.

Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-—F k=
Head of Head of
dairy cows dairy cows
2.4 (88) FLA(58)
Milkable cows e 86 -
Heifers and calves N RN 8,923 -
Total dairy cows FLA-4ag 9,009 -
Milkable cows are those dairy cows that are held for milk AR EEENRENILE o NEFF
production. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows that R/ KRB EDPNEERAILE o
have not reached the age that can produce milk.
In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when —REAT - NEFEREEL+HEA
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an REFHEITERE - WA AEANZRHEBEE
approximately 9 month pregnancy term, a calf is born INEH A F AR ERD I ER
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and Fh - M EEEEPLIZ40K - 2%
the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically HEALGOKRAFLZLE o

milked for approximately 340 days before a dry period of
approximately 60 days.
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25. Biological Assets (continued)
(A) Nature of activities (continued)

When a heifer begins to produce milk, it would be
transferred to the category of milkable cows based on the
estimated fair value on the date of transfer. The sales of
dairy cows is not one of the Group’s principal activities
and is not included as revenue. The sales of dairy cows
are determined based on the actual selling price.

25. EYEE @)
(A) EBME @
NERFRE R ¢ AS IR R B HAR
AR BEEBREFER o ILEHET
IEAREEMNEEZEER 22— MAFTAR
A AFHEETRBEERESEME -

Group
AEE
2012 2011
—EB-—F —T——%
KG KG
F= T
Volume of sales of milk produced FEEISE= 24,320 -

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from
changes in price of the dairy products. The Group does
not anticipate that the price of the dairy products will
decline significantly in the foreseeable future and the
directors of the Company are of the view that there is no
available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price
of the dairy products.
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25. Biological Assets (continueq)
(B) Value of dairy cows

189

25. £MEE @)
(B) IL4MEE

The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting period RRERRNILFEE :
was:
Group
REE
Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Total
NEERNF 4 #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥TF T AR®T T
At 1 January 2012 R-_ZET——F—HF—H - = =
Increases due to purchase iz 193,639 - 193,639
Increase due to raising EHE(RERER
(Feeding cost and others) Htb) 18,775 - 18,775
Transfer [y (2,007) 2,007 =
Decrease due to sales k== (728) - (728)
Gains (loss) arising from changes 2 7 (& & B
in fair value less costs to sell SHE KN E £/
Wzs (E18) — = =
At 31 December 2012 RIE——F
+-—A=+—H 209,679 2,007 211,686

The Group’s dairy cows in the PRC were valued by an
independent qualified professional valuer. The fair value
of dairy cows approximates to their purchase costs plus
raising costs at the end of the reporting period.

AEBERENIFIHBELAERE
KGEMETRE - RBEHR - A+
B A o (B B E IR R AN I B I A AN A3 AN
Bz BEE °
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190

Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

26. Inventories 26. 78
Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-C-F b
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETFT
Raw materials A 865,596 1,155,840
Finished goods R 554,302 529,407
Total inventories at the lower of cost and 2Rk 7N B A B3R R E A
net realisable value RIRESNENTERR 1,419,898 1,685,247
The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an HARAABHIHNEFEEMRSEAARE
expense was RMB2,637,000 (2011: RMB1,522,000). This was 2,637,000 c( —ZF——4% : ARK#¥1,522,000
recognised in other expenses (note 5). JC) W E i & B (B s¥5) R ERR ©
27. Bills Receivable 27. ERREE
An aged analysis of the bills receivable as at the end of the AREBRBRERRNEREEZEEB L
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BREC OMTINT ¢
Group
rEE
2012 2011
—EB-—F —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Within 3 months 3ME B AN 123,024 224,987
4 to 6 months 42 6{E A 53,362 36,037
176,386 261,024
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27. Bills Receivable (continueq)

The amount due from associates of approximately
RMB45,838,000 (2011: RMB66,316,000) is included in the
above balances.

None of the bills receivable is either past due or impaired, for
which there were no recent history of default.

Certain bills receivable of the Group amounting to
approximately RMB13,800,000 (2011: Nil) have been pledged
to secure the bills payable of the Group, details of which are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

27.

191

FE N E 45 ()

JE Ui Bt & A Bl R IE 49 A R 545,838,000 T (=
T——4F : AR#66,316,0007T) T35 A it
KEeg o

BRI R IS AR - B A
6 /R FORRESE -

NEBE BEHARE13,800,000T( ZFE——
F o EINETERERCEHEANEEE
NEZEENEE - AEFBEHNR SRR
34 o

28. Trade Receivables 28. FEWER X
Group
AREE
2012 2011
—E——F 5
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Trade receivables TEUBR X 641,788 576,578
Impairment RE (16,701) (1,844)
625,087 574,734

The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers
which is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEEBERTEFPRHEFERE  YA#E
BREBY TTETAE AEETEERH
REBEREER - ERX LA RAE BB R
BRARTVEAETFRBRNETLER  HALE
BEXEESETRR - AEE N ELE R
RO EFFEAERRKEMEERT - &
S Pfe SR I P A A8
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28. Trade Receivables continuea) 28. FEUNBR K (a)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RI|EEAR - EH G B EUEBR IR =
the reporting period, based on the invoice dated and net of HERRBRER D ATZA T -

provision, is as follows:

Group

AEE
2012 2011
—E-—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Within 3 months 3{E A A 488,313 465,053
4 to 6 months 4% 618 A 129,015 86,195
7 to 12 months 721218 A 6,811 15,347
Over 1 year 1A 948 8,139
625,087 574,734

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade IR FZOREBER BRI T
receivables are as follows:

Group

ZREEE
2012 2011
—g——F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
At 1 January n—A—H 1,844 1,489
Impairment losses recognised BRI ERK 31,212 14,818
Amount written-off as uncollectible & 77 a] Y [a] i Hi 3 B T8 (16,341) (12,541)
Impairment losses reversed BEEUREB X (14) (1,922)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 16,701 1,844
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28. Trade Receivables (ontinued

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

193

28. R BR R (a)

118 531 =k 48 88 25 177 2 )Rk 18 i B ) B MK PR R Y
FRECDITANT -

Group

AEE
2012 2011
—E-—F —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
Neither past due nor impaired BT AR 38 B MR (B 591,009 573,220

Past due but not impaired BB EERE

- Within 3 months —3@AR 10 249
- Over 3 months —3EANRE = -
591,019 573,469

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from associates of approximately
RMB300,303,000 (2011: RMB259,948,000) and due from
a jointly-controlled entity of approximately RMB48,770,000
(2011: Nil) are included in the above balances. These balances
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable on
credit terms similar to those offered to other major customers
of the Group.

B8 20 7N A L 2 B SOR T B A B TR
BANEEAN - 558 R R
28

BHR (B R (E < R MR IR ) B — 5
VEFEHW ZERFEAKEABREN
FHERE - REBELR  ARREFEAS
EFAZSERTIRAERE  TEREEY
EWEANRNEBEMBERKRBRERATAE
g -

T EHRBERBBE QR REHAR
# 300,303,000 (Z T ——4F : AR#
259,948,0007T ) M JE U — K L B 15 ) &= 88
RIEX AR #48,770,000c( —F——F :
) o Pl AEIEEREE  BEEER
B TFAREREMFEFERFNES

o
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29. Prepayments and Deposits

29. ENRKRES

Group

A Em
2012 2011
—g-=% —r——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AR¥ETTT

Deposits s 8,271 11,406
Prepayments SCANEEN 708,221 644,627
Value-added tax recoverable AR ER 161,870 82,204
Corporate income tax recoverable AR TSR 12,101 10,357

Land use rights — current portion T A RE — BNERER
(note 14) (Mf3E14) 17,644 12,799
Long term prepayments (note a) RETER R (FizFa) 341,796 257,456
Total prepayments and deposits AR RIZE 8 1,249,903 1,018,849

Less: Long term prepayments — B REATER K
non-current portion (note a) FEBNERER 5 (P 5Ea) (299,947) (243,942)
949,956 774,907
Notes: B3 -

(@) During the year, the Group has entered into various long term
raw milk supply contracts with certain milking cow raising
companies. In accordance with these contracts, the Group
prepaid for raw milk supplies for the next two to five years.

(b) The amount due from associates of approximately
RMB12,886,000 (2011: RMB32,215,000) is included in the
above balances. As at 31 December 2011, an amount due from
a jointly-controlled entity of approximately RMB20,689,000 is
included in the above balances. These balances are unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and are repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to other major customers of the Group.
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(a)

FR - AEEEETRBEMUATRAFTLS
DERARMENHEESH - REZEEH
ARBRAR-ERFENRBENHE -

&R ERERBE A RBEHAR
¥ 12,886,000 L (=T — —F : AR¥
32,215,0007T) e R—E——F+-A=+—
B Ll ErEl—REREH TGN
TE#) AR #£20,689,0007T o | it 45 4 4 4K
HEes  BECEHEGTASERME
BRERAERS -



195

Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

30. Other Receivables 30. HbpEWFIE
The balance of other receivables can be analysed as follows: HibfE W IB AR DT ¢
Group
REE
2012 2011
—E——F =5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Dividends receivable FEUISR B 7,391 13,302
Other financial assets (note 24) Hitv e mh & & (fisk24) 41,377 45,911
Others EH 311,109 230,214
Total HBEt 359,877 289,427

The amount due from associates of approximately RMB30,000
(2011: RMB29,000) is included in the above balances.
These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are
repayable on demand.

In addition, during the year of 2012, the Group lent an
amount of RMB270,000,000 (2011: Nil) to a jointly-controlled
entity to repay its interest-bearing bank loans and accordingly
when applying the proportionate consolidation method, an
amount due from a jointly-controlled entity of approximately
RMB 135,000,000 (2011: Nil) is included in the above balances.

BB ERREBE AR RBHARE
30,0007L(=ZZE——%F : AR¥29,0007T) °
FiAHRABERELAE  WARAEEE
KPR ERIE o

b REER T — —Fm—RELRZH
B H A R¥ 270,000,000 (Z T ——
F|) AVEBREFTBRITENR - Bt
FEARLLFIERE AR - Bl bl e iEE i —
R H[R¥E HI & B8 5 IE 49 A R % 135,000,000
T(ZE——F  §E) -

Company
RAFE]

2012 2011
—E—C—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Dividends receivable FEUIR B 729,756 595,820
Loans to a subsidiary W —RF AT RIE 72,306 52,034
Others EHAth 140 137
Total HBE 802,202 647,991

The loans to a subsidiary included in other receivables above
are unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable within one year.
The carrying amount of the loans to a subsidiary approximates
to their fair value.

AEA L E b ESGRIEM Y — R T A B
BREAR FEAER—FREE - BK
—EKTFRAFEMKREEEZELQAERSE
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31. Investment Deposits

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s investment deposits
were purchased from a domestic bank with good credit rating
and were stated at amortised cost. The investment deposits
were acquired with original maturity of three months or one
year and were not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the
maturity date without the bank’s consent. The investment
deposits were unsecured with guaranteed return amount and
had an expected annual interest rate of 5.05% (2011: 5.9%).

32. Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Deposits

31. BEFR

MN-ZE——FE+-A=+—0 A&EEHK
EEZREEE S EETRRTFOARMIRELT -
WIRE SR AT B o TR E TR R
B AE=EA—F  BELEFEITH
BTN TMERIBBAEE BEEFERA
AN R RERRERE  BHFEARE
5.05%(=F——% :59%) °

3. RERBITEFERAZBEER

Group

HeEE
2012 2011
—E—_—fF —E——%F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEED 2,943,890 4,359,872

Pledged deposits RESTFH 51,602 175,289
Time deposits with original maturity of FREIEHEA=EA U L

more than three months FEATFR 2,834,500 2,163,203

5,829,992 6,698,364
Less: Deposits pledged for banking W ERIRTTR B IR

facilities (note 34 and 37) REETFR
(M15E34%37) (51,602) (175,289)
Cash and bank balances W NIRTTHETF 5,778,390 6,523,075
Company
ARTH

2012 2011

—E——F T

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Cash and bank balances e RIRITETF 751,922 622,766
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32.

33.

Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Deposits
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank
balances of the Group and the Company denominated
in RMB amounted to approximately RMB5,650,315,000
(2011: RMB6,395,613,000) and RMB607,402,000 (2011:
RMB402,307,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at
the respective short-term time deposit rate. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

Trade Payables
An aged analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based on
the invoice date, is as follows:

32.

33.
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RERBTEERRIBSFR @

RREER - AEBEARANIR S KR
TEEAUARBAEMN  DRI0AAR
#5,650,315,000C( T ——F : AR¥
6,395,613,0007T ) & A R # 607,402,000 70

—ET——4F: AR¥402,307,0007T) > A
REWIHAERALIBAHEMER - A - R
1 FR B K B A NP B B A IR AETE - BB K
NEEBRTE  ANEBEESBEREET
HNEZEEHIRTT - ISAREER AEMEE -

RITEARETEN XL - EHTHER
DRFAEENAFRSFRMENF—H
EZEANTRFEREER - ARRERE S
EHERMERETE - RITEFRERESFER
TF RSB R T B ST I RS skrIRTT -

FE 13 BR X
REEEMNBRRIBEREZ B AR ST
B

Group

AEH
2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 3 months 3{E A A 2,282,063 2,350,904
4 to 6 months 4Z6E A 72,400 177,669
7 to 12 months VESIVAED! 23,501 12,114
Over 1 year 184 3,991 2,718
2,381,955 2,543,405

The amount due to an associate of approximately RMB8,000
(2011: RMB1,000) and the amount due to a jointly-controlled
entity of approximately RMB7,318,000 (2011: RMB10,000) are
included in the above balances. The balance is unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing.

LB BREREN —REERRZKEBELHOA
R#8000L (=T ——44 : AR% 1,000
T0) REN —REREH EEBRIBHARE
7,318,000t (=& ——4F : AR% 10,000
TC) c ZEEHAEERR R RERENRE
}i o

AEBENRNEARBEERRLE -

PERFARERAR —T-—FER
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34. Bills Payable 34. ENRE
An aged analysis of the bills payable of the Group, based on AEEREMZEREEZEBHRE DTN
the invoice date, is as follows: T
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—EBE——F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
Within 3 months 3EAR 600,589 617,363
4 to 6 months 4% 618 A 696,321 523,778
1,296,910 1,141,141
Except for an aggregate balance of approximately BRAaFt 4 AR 110,081,000 0(=F ——
RMB110,081,000 (2011: RMB121,629,000) secured by the F: AR¥121,629,0007) KB EIR A 84
pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits amounting to TIAZR & E A2 # AR 49,602,000 (=%
approximately RMB49,602,000 (2011: RMB37,504,000) (note ——4F : AR¥37,504,00070) 9%&E TR
32) and certain of the Group's bills receivable amounting (FFEE32) RAN KB & E 4 AR 13,800,000
to approximately RMB 13,800,000 (2011: Nil) (note27), bills T(ZE——F: S)NETREKEE(KMF
payable are unsecured. The above balances are non-interest- 27)EEHIN - HRR BN BB R EIER -
bearing. FERRRS -
35. Other Payables 35. HAETFRIE
As at 31 December 2011, an amount of RMB6,731,000, R-ZE——F+-A=+—Hit AEMER
included in other payables, represents unrealised fair value FIBHFEEARK6,731,000c BHTES R T
losses of derivative financial instruments. BEHRERAREBE -
The amounts due to associates of approximately Eh FE < 5RIB B HE FE [ B R A FIE A A
RMB12,706,000 (2011: RMB3,675,000) are included in K #12,706,000T( — & ——F : AR
other payables. As at 31 December 2011, an amount due 3,675,0007T) e R=ZE——F+ZA=+—
to a jointly-controlled entity of approximately RMB32,000 is B EMEMKEREEN —KERZESE
included in other payables. These balances are unsecured, non- Be IEA AR 32,0007 il ik A K
interest-bearing and repayable on demand. - B RARERFERER -
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36. Accruals and Customers’ Deposits

36. AREAREFA®

Advances from customers ZEIEN 676,231 919,197
Salary and welfare payables e RENE 317,229 261,523
993,460 1,180,720

The amount due to associates of approximately
RMB80,642,000 (2011: RMB112,217,000) is included in the
above balances. The balances are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and are repayable on demand.

37. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans

T EHRPERMBE AR REBEHAR
80,642,000 L (T ——F : AR¥
112,217,0007T) o Lilifter AEERE - 28

REENREER -

37. st EHRITER

Current ENER
Short term bank loans, secured ~ SEHERSFITE R (HHER) 2013 16,000 = 2012 128,575 45,000
Short term bank loans, unsecured  f8 #338 17 & 7 (K 3) 2013 77,352 480,425 2012 38,500 175,469
Current portion of long term REFTER(EER)H
bank loans - unsecured BNERER - - - 2012 - 150,000
93,352 480,425 167,075 370,469

PERFAFARAT —B-FEH
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37. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans (ontinuea 37. ST EBITER @)
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: RITERNERAMOT :

Within 1 year —FR 573,777 537,544

Current i
Short term bank loans, RHRITER(EER)
unsecured 2013 - 405,425 - - -
The repayment schedule of the bank loans is as follows: RITEREERBOT -

Within 1 year —&FR 405,425 -
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37.

38.
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Interest-Bearing Bank Loans (continueq) 37. s EBITERm

Notes: B3 -

(@) At 31 December 2012, short term bank loans of approximately (@ MR-E——F+-A=+—H EHRTE
RMB 16,000,000 (2011: RMB45,000,000) were secured by certain FHANER16,000,000L(—F——F : AR
land use rights (note 14) and property, plant and equipment (note #45,000,0007T ) Ty A AN S B T -t AR 4
12(b)) of the Group. At 31 December 2011, short term bank (FIzE14) R - WS Ra&E (FiaE12(b)) 1
loans of approximately RMB128,575,000 were secured by certain i - RZFT——F+=_HA=+—H " &EH
pledged deposits (note 32) of the Group. IRITE RO AR 128,575,000 Ty A A&

E o E TIRES TR (MIEE32) 1EHEA -

(b) As at 31 December 2012, except for a short term bank loan of by NZT—=—F+=-A=1+—8 BTEH
HK$500,000,000 equivalent to approximately RMB405,425,000 $R 17 & 7 500,000,000 T (HER O AR
(2011: Nil) denominated in Hong Kong dollars and a short term #5405,425,0007C (=T ——F : £&)) LB
bank loan of US$6,216,000 (2011: US$41,906,000) equivalent JC & B &8 HA iR 17 B 36,216,000 = T
to approximately RMB38,852,000 (2011: RMB264,044,000), all ZZF——4F : 41,906,000 70) (FHERL
the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans were denominated in AR 38,852,000t (=T ——F : AR
RMB. 264,044,0007T) ) 1 - ARE B PTA EFRIRTT

ERTIAARE BB -

(c)  During the year, the annual interest rates of the short term bank (0 AFER RHBRTEXNFEFNERN T
loans varied from 1.11% to 7.22% (2011: varied from 1.95% to 111%27.22%(ZE——F : N F1.95%F
9.36%). During 2011, the annual interest rates of the long term 936%) 2 - —F——4FE - REFIRITER
bank loans varied from 4.86% to0 5.76%. HFFZENTF4.86%%E5.76% °

Other Loans 38. Hh&E X

Group
A%E
2012 2011
—E——F 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Short term loans FEHEIE R 24,915 119,094

The Group's other loans are unsecured, interest-free, and with
no repayment terms.

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities
in the PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group's
establishment of production plants in various locations in the
PRC.

AEENHEMERSEER RS NERE
HREXR -

HEREHHP RS BAERRIIFA
SEETEZE T RELEME MR

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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39. Long Term Payables
The Group's long term payables represent the amortised costs
of the outstanding instalments payable for the purchase of

39. REIENRIR

AEBNRYENFREANBELERE
DA IR AN - BEAERNE

production equipment. The effective interest rate used for BRNEATISAE - BRALHRIERIPNT
the amortisation is the prevailing market interest rate. The
balances are repayable as follows:
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Within 1 year 1R 51,536 61,822
1 to 2 years 1224 48,859 47,648
2 to 5 years 2&E54F 95,734 126,111
Over 5 years S L - 14,980
Total long term payables REFERRIB25E 196,129 250,561
Less: Amount due within one year included in 3§ : 5T ARBN & & HAith
current liabilities under other payables FERTRIEN—FA
B HIFOR (51,536) (61,822)
144,593 188,739

Certain long term payables are secured by the Group’s
property, plant and equipment (note 12(b)).

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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40. Deferred Income

Various local government authorities have granted certain
property, plant and equipment to the Group for nil
consideration and provided finance to the Group for the
purchase of certain property, plant and equipment by way of
a cash donation. Both the property, plant and equipment and
grants are recorded initially at fair value. The grants received
are regarded as deferred income, which is amortised to match
the depreciation charge of the property, plant and equipment
granted or purchased in accordance with their estimated
useful lives. Movements of the balances during the year are as

follows:

40.
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ZEFRFE BEERAASERTETY
¥ BEREE UUBRSBEARNAARE
HiRtmE  FAEEBEEETYE  BE
Bt o ME - BERRERAESRIY
AR A B - BUWEEF B & %8 AR
S - RE WS IRIEYE - BB REER
HETAIE A E B - U ZER TE
EVE WMEREBOINEBR - FRNZLE
EREVEBIIAT

Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——F =5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
At beginning of year F4) 253,852 241,131
Received during the year FAULER - 29,978
Amortisation during the year (note 4) FREHE(FIEE4) (19,056) (17,257)
At end of year F X 234,796 253,852
Current portion BIERER 5 19,056 18,912
Non-current portion JEBNERER 215,740 234,940
234,796 253,852
PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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41. Other Financial Liabilities M. HhSma s
Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-—F —T——f
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
F5E AR¥T T AREBTTT
Contingent consideration HARE (a) 101,486 96,659
Present value of redemption amount for A S5 3E1% AR A% BE fE 2
potential acquisition of puttable non- g iEH A& Ol
controlling interests S REMIRE (b) 443,372 383,872
544,858 480,531
Notes: Ff5E -
(@) The fair value of the contingent consideration of (@ AEBR-_Z—TFWEELEELENL

RMB100,000,000 arising from the Group’s acquisition of
Junlebao in 2010 was remeasured to RMB95,887,000 as at 31
December 2012 (2011: RMB91,401,000).

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB6,025,000
arising from the Group’s acquisition of Leshi in 2011 was
remeasured to RMB5,599,000 as at 31 December 2012 (2011:
RMB5,258,000).

According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among
the Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling shareholders of
Junlebao, the Group granted a put option to the non-controlling
shareholders under which the non-controlling shareholders have
the right to sell, and the Group has an obligation to buy the 49%
equity interest in Junlebao after 2016. At 31 December 2012,
the Group derecognised the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests of RMB276,137,000 (2011: RMB231,170,000) and
recognised a financial liability at the present value of the amount
payable upon exercise of the option of RMB443,372,000 (2011:
RMB383,872,000) and accounted for the difference in equity.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012

RARER A E AR 100,000,0007T @ B
—E-——F+-A=+—BEFFEAA
R #95887,000 (=8 ——4% : ARK
91,401,0007T) °

REBP T ——FRBEEHELNRAR
BAALEBEARKE,025000T ' R-=E——4F
+=—A=+—HEHTEAARES5,599,000
L(ZZF——% : AR¥S5,258,0007T) °

BEARER  FLBERELENIETRR
RIS R IR AR B 1 'K;%IFHH Hxﬂxi
BRI - Bt T NFRIEER
BRERLE - &Kﬁlﬁffﬂ%a%‘m%‘?
49%HE - R E——F+-_A=+—8 -
ANEERIEFERIETE R RESAHEEEA
R #276,137,000t (= ZE——F : ARM
231,170,0007T ) R AR 1715 33 0H #E B JE < 308
HIRE A R#443,372,0000 (= F——4 :
AR #383,872,0000) lERE AR - 1§
EEERT AR ©



Notes to Financial Statements B #3R & KHizt

205

42. Share Capital 42, R
2012 2011
—EB-—F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Authorised: JETE
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 3,000,000,000 /% =% &
HK$0.1 each 0. VBILHE B 319,235 319,235
Number of
ordinary shares
ZERHAE
Note ‘000 RMB’000
Bt aE TR ARET T
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2012 R-_E——F—AF—H 1,767,440 181,087
Shares issued under the HRIE PARR 9 ST Y
equity-settled share option scheme BE N RE R B3 1 TR (D (a) 792 64
At 31 December 2012 RZE——%F
+=-A=1+—H 1,768,232 181,151
Number of
ordinary shares
=Rl e gE!
Note ‘000 RMB'000
Bt EE Fhx ARKETTT
At 1 January 2011 RZE—F—HF—H 1,737,988 178,679
Shares issued under the HRIE PARR 9 ST Y
equity-settled share option scheme R EET BI TR (a) 29,452 2,408
At 31 December 2011 RZT——%F
+=-A=1+—H 1,767,440 181,087

Note:

(a) Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 45 to the

financial statements.

it

(@) AARIBBAER B RARIEZET BIBITHOMB X
TEHYRHIEETIM B T SRR TE45 -

TRERGIEERAR

ZECFER
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43. Reserves 43. f#fE
(A) Group (A) %=
The movements of the Group’s reserves and the $%@E’J{‘%1ﬁ&$¢r&€$rﬁ’]ﬁﬁ
movements therein for the current and prior years are & BaE) - FN SRR ESTEFSSA ML
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in EHEREERNA o

equity on pages 87 to 88 of the financial statements.

Movements in the other reserves of the Group during the FERN - AREEBNHMEEESHOT -
year are as follows:
Available-
for-sale
Currency ~ investment Share
Share  Contributed  Statutory translation  revaluation option Other
premium surplus reserves  differences reserve reserve reserve Total

g% THLERE
BaE  EABR  GERE  BEZE  BERE  BEEGR  HER it
RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RBOOO  RMBOOO
AERTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARRTR  ARETT  ARETR

Note (a) Note (o) Note 22 Note 45
liEi) Et(b) i fi&4s
At 1 January 2011 RZF—%-f-4 5,626,570 232,020 1,189,795 (292,866) 97476 811,801 (135627) 7529169
Other comprehensive income for the year. KEEM2ENE
Change i fair value of avalable-for-sale MHEEREALEEY
investments, net of tax TREE - - - - (88,072) - - (88,072)
Bxchange difference on translation of foreign &9 7480
operations EREE - - - (196,303) - - - (196,303)
Total comprehensive income for the year EELENGES - - - (196,303) (88,072) - - (284375)
Shares issued under equity-settled RENRHXERE
shae option arrangements THEARNG 518,208 - - - - - - 518,208
Equity-settled share option arrangements % fifERE
(note 45) - - - - - 173,541 - 173,541
Transfer to statutory reserves - - 285,920 - - - - 285,920
Derecognition of puttable non-controlling
interests (note 41) ) - - - - - - (6,829) (6,829)
Transfer of share option reserve upon i Eﬁéﬁxﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ
exercise of share options BilREGR 182,813 - - - - (182813) - -
At 1 January 2012 R-5--%-A-H 6,327,591 232,020 1,475,115 (489,169) 9,404 802,529 (142,456) 8,215,634
Other comprehensive income for the year. REEM NG
Change in fair value of avallable-for-sale AL ERELLEEE
investments, net of tax TBHE - - - - 49,226 - - 49,226
Bichange difference on translation of foreign 250 7480
operations ERZE = > - 474 - - - a7
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 474 49,226 - - 49,700
Shares issued under equity-settled share option
arrangements 12,063 - - - - - - 12,063
Equity-settled share option arrangements
(note 45) - - - - - 19172 - 19172
Transfer to statutory reserves - - 235,636 - - = 235,636
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U& 7 H"Hﬂx?{%m - - - - - - (2,346) (2,346)
Derecognition of puttable non-controling Mﬁﬁuﬂ il f“
interests (note 41) IRt - - - - - - (13,558) (13,558)
Transfer of share option reserve upon % x%ﬂ%@}ﬁ
exercise of share options BRERE 4,285 - - - - (4,285) - -
31 December 2012 REE-—E+-A=1-H 6,343,939 232,020 1,711,351 (488,695) 58,630 817,416 (158,360) 8,516,301
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43. Reserves (continued) 43. @B @
(B) Company (B) &AF
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the FEERN  ANBINEEEHNT :
year are as follows:
Available-
for-sale
Currency  investment Share
Share  Contributed translation  revaluation Retained option
premium surplus ~ differences reserve earnings reserve Total
E¥ THIERE
RiVaE  EABH @ BEEE  EfRE  RENE  BRERR Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETT  ARETR
Note (a) Note 22 Note 45
i) 22 fizks
At 1 January 2011 RZ5-—%-f-H 7975,623 387,574 (731,728) (14,095) 197,553 811,801 8,626,728
Profit for the year (note (d)) REFE(HE() - - - - 280,383 - 280,383
Other comprehensive income for the year: TEEMZENE
Change in fair value of available-for-sale RHERENLE
investments, net of tax BHE - - - (40,395) - - (40,395)
Exchange difference on translation BEBINERD
of foreign operations EREE - - (421293) - - - (421293)
Total comprehensive income for the year EELENEER - - (421,293) (40,395) 280,383 - (181,305)
Shares issued under equity-settled share option 1R IE DA {7 2 % BB 2
armangements THERA 518,208 - - - - - 518,208
Equity-settled share option arrangements DROZ AR EL
(note 45) (Fi3345) - - - - - 173,541 173,541
Transfer of share option reserve upon TiERiER 2N
evercise of share options BRhEE 182,813 - - - - (182813) -
final 2010 dividend declared BER-Z-SEERRE - - - - (279,233) - (279,233)
At 1 January 2012 W-5-—%5-f-H 8,076,644 387,514 (1,153,021) (54,490) 198,703 802,529 8,857,939
Profit for the year (note (d)) REFR(H() - - - - 259,846 - 259,846
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEM2 AN
Change in fair value of available-for-sale MHHEEREN L ER
investments, net of tax Bl - - - 20,622 - - 20,622
Exchange difference on translation of BERINERH
foreign operations EXER - - 1,637 - - - 1,637
Total comprehensive income for the year EERE H&(ﬁniﬁ”ﬁ - - 1,637 20,622 259,846 - 282,105
Shares issued under equity-settled share option 1R DU {7 32 I+ &R 8
arrangements ? iFé’é‘ﬂH f 12,063 - - - - - 12,063
Equity-settled share option arrangements AR (RS
(note 45) (M¢3‘545> - - - - - 19,172 19,172
Transfer of share option reserve upon exercise 474 B ERE L
of share options RIRERE 4,285 5 - - - (4,285) -
Final 2011 dividend declared BER-E-—FHRRE - - - - (350,009) = (350,009)
At 31 December 2012 RZE-ZE+ZR=1-H 8,692,992 387,574 (1,151,384) (33,868) 108,540 817,416 8,821,270
FESRFAEARRR —T——FFR
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43 - Rese rves (continued)
Notes:

44,

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Contributed surplus

The balance of the contributed surplus of the Group represents
the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued
in exchange therefor, and the excess of the amount of capital
injected by the minority shareholder over its additional interest in
the subsidiary’s net assets attributable to the Company’s owners
was recorded as contributed surplus of the Group.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the then combined net assets value of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in
exchange therefor.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the
PRC domestic companies are required to transfer 10% of their
profit after income tax, as determined under the PRC accounting
standards and financial regulations, to the statutory common
reserve. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, the statutory common reserve may be
used to offset against the accumulated losses, if any.

Distributable reserves

Under the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium and contributed surplus of the Company
are distributable to shareholders, provided that immediately
following such distributions, the Company is able to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2012 dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company was RMB259,846,000 (2011: RMB280,383,000),
including the dividend income from subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB266,641,000 (2011: RMB238,573,000).

Major Non-Cash Transactions

During 2011, the Group purchased property, plant
and equipment by means of long term payables with a
total contractual amount and a total amortised cost of
approximately RMB297,457,000 and RMB235,028,000,
respectively.
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44,

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Bz
AEBNEHRR RN ERIERBEEEAR
WhEF AR MR AEEEAR AR RBIBE L
RAMEBETRMNWEERBOEZR - Rz
BRAEANEACEBBEERSZT AR
BEFENBIMERT AR BER ARG
o DREAAEENESER o

ARANBHBSREREEEEAMEET
ARNERAHEEFBEEARF RIBER £
A HHEEREMEI TR A A ERAERE

EERE

RIBEPEBEERZRERORE - PENE
WRRIZBERETEHEFE10% (RIEF
Be: £ LM BAREE  BREATATE
T o RIBEPEA AR EARATEHE TR
AT ATAES A WAERERTEE
(ng) -

A 0 Ik
REFEFERAE(ZETMEEE]) - M
REBERIKKESER  ARBHENBEEE
BREPEELIMOER - AARRRND
BERERBBRIE AR TR

BE_T——H+_A=+—HIFE &
RNARMERRPEIE 2 AR RHEE AR
A A A R #259,846,0007T( —F——4F -
AR¥280,383,0007T) ' BEKRE FARIN
% B U A # A R#266,641,0007T( —F——
& AR#¥238,573,0007T) °

EXFRERS

—E——F  AEBRBBERPEMNKIE B
BHRIBBEREHEKABEI N ABAR
#297,457,0007T & A R #235,028,000 7T A
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45. Share-Based Payment Plan

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company's directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods
or services to the Group, customers and any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological support
to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 28 June 2005
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval and adoption of the Scheme provided that the
Group may at any time seek approval from its shareholders
to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of approval by the shareholders in a general meeting
where such limit is refreshed. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
total shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of these limits is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
20 business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than seven years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.
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ARAIRML 2 BT EI([FHE)) - BA R
HMEHAREXRBERELERNAERS
HE - WANEFLEE - 5 ENE BB
2EERRARAES(BRBILIFNTE
) AEEZEMES AEBZERHR
BHER  BEFUARAAKERHETE -
BE M EOEMALLER - 53R
EZRFRNATNBER - BRBEBUHK
EF15N  BRAIRZBERETFRABX -

BRREAEE TR < BRELTERA
FTEITOBMHEB RZHEENARAELE
KM EIE BEBITRMNAE210% @ HE
A5 R BE B EOR AR SR L/ S EFR R RE
BERNERELREFFORRAEG LR
BRAMES B ZEZITRNZ210% R
TEAREA - RIFERER ET T E
NELEERSEEZRNHBE RS ANE
ARFEARREEITROBEZ1% - LR
AR ERR 2 RERE - DA RRE
BERARE LR -

RAARBESE  TBTBRABHTERRK
WEZEMBEAR L 2 BRELELE L
ERTESFERIAE o I PER+ —{E
HAEEA » ARARREEZRRIBLIEH
TERHREZEABBEAR L Z EMBER
BB E N EAREA QRS BITRMD20.1%
S AEGRRE R HARR KRG 2 WH B
& )#BH 5,000,000/ 7T © HAKIRRIEAER
RE =Rk -

ARARTR IR LB B 202 %8
AR RAERES K VBTERMLES -
BHBREZTEMREEERE  TEH
mA-BBHREF RETRBBRLBRE
EEALFZBARAEAIHA(UBREER
)RR -

PERFARERAR —T-—FER



210

Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R& KizT

45. Share-Based Payment Plan (continued
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately

preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the

shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends

45. IR A ER N5 8 @)
BREZITEERESETE
AKABED AR H B R 2 BES B
ERGFBERRA([EBRET]) TRz M
B (VAR ARmREEREZERKHBH R
E& 2 B EB R FTET R < FHUTE  K(iii)
B EEZRSE °

HE A AR R ()

BREZFBEABRERREINBRAS

or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. &=
Particulars of share options RS
Exercise price Weighted
Exercise period of share options per share  average fair value
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) option (note f) per share option
SHBREN SHRBREN
Rt A BRENTES(BEERMA) TEE () NEFHANE
(HKS$) (HKS)
(&) (1)
26 October 2006 26 October 2007 to 25 October 2012 (note a) 13.40 4.82
“EERFETAZTRA “EEHEFACHAHEE——F+ A=+ HA(HHa)
9 November 2007 9 November 2009 to 8 November 2013 (note b) 32.24 10.61
“ZZtF+-ANH “EENFET-ANBEZE—=F+-ANB(Hiih)
18 August 2008 18 August 2010 to 17 August 2014 (note b) 22.03 7.60
“EEN\ENATNB “E2-ZEN\A+NBEZE-NENAA+LB (D)
23 November 2009 23 November 2011 to 22 November 2015 (note ¢) 24.40 8.50
ZEENF+-RZT=H —E——F+-fB-FZHE-Z-RF+-A-t=B(#E)
6 December 2010 6 December 2012 to 5 December 2016 (note d) 22.80 7.25
—“E-FF+ZARH “E-ZE+ZARBEZE—REFETZARAHE)
10 October 2011 10 October 2011 to 9 October 2018 (note e) 24.10 8.37
“Z——%1+A+H —E——&+A+BEZE-N\ETANB (Hite)

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012



Notes to Financial Statements B iR &R HiE:

45. Share-Based Payment Plan (continuea)
Particulars of share options (continued)

(a)

The share options will be vested in four equal batches
with 25% of the share options granted vesting on the
first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if
and when the pre-set performance targets of the Group,
the division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will
lapse.

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will
lapse.

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted vesting
on, respectively, the second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the date of the grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the
grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.

Out of the 89,025,000 share options granted, in
aggregate, 20,116,500 share options are granted in
exchange for and replacement of the outstanding share
options previously granted on 9 November 2007 to better
achieve the objectives of the Scheme (the “Replacement”).

The share options will be vested in three batches with
20%, 40% and 40% of the share options granted vesting
on, respectively, the second, third and fourth anniversaries
of the date of the grant. In addition, the share options
will only be vested if and when the pre-set performance
targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the
grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.
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45. LR A ER N ZF5 8 @)
[ =3 E )

(a)

BREREED RIOEN - 25%BAE
DHMAREAHEE— - = = kM
EBFFE - bod - HEEDAEH -
AR B AP RARA 2 RERE B
12 RIBRBRESERE - fWAREEE
HEEEE R - QI BREBRERK
R o

PR ERE D RMED © 50% B AHE
DRI AR L B RS — R =B FR
JB o o - WEZEBIAREE - ARART
BEFARARAZEERREE  BIA
MBS ERE - WMARRER iR
B - BIA BB KRR

BEREKSEBD A= 20% * 40% K&
40%BEREDFINBRTE BHEE = -
= REEFRE o o 0 WEERA
£ ABEABIMARERAZERE
FAEBER AIEEBRERERE - 1
ReeER LM 2IMEIZ - BB B
5 ORAK o

A H A H989,025,00017 BE AR A
H /20,116,500 BB IR #E To s B AR SE Al
RZZEZtF+—ANBMRERNART
FEREMRE - AEFERETENE
Z=ERD -

EREGSEBDB=1D - 20%  40% &
40%ERESBIRAR L BREE = -
= RIERFEFR o BN - MEZERAR
SE AFRABIFIREARAZERE

RRBEF - AIEHEBRELERE -
REEEH LA 2EMBE - BB BEEE
HERRL
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45. Share-Based Payment Plan (continued)
Particulars of share options (continued)

(e)

The share options will be vested in two equal batches
with 50% of the share options granted vesting on the
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant. In
addition, the share options will only be vested if and
when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the
division of the grantee and the grantee are achieved.
Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will
lapse.

45. IR A ER N ZI5 8 @)

IBIREFEE @
(e) BREBFED EMER  50% K50%

R D B R E B HIE S K A {E
BEERE o Lo - WMEEDIAREE - &
RAMBIPFARERAZEERE A
1% BIBRABRESERE - fWAkEEE
HE2EMER  MARERERK
R o

(f) The exercise price per share option was the average (f) BHEREMITHEEDEER T B A
closing share price for the five business days immediately T ELEBHTEHRMD WM ESFELH B
preceding the grant date or the closing price of the share HARY AR (D W T (B o
on the grant date.

(g) Except for the options granted on 10 October 2011, (99 BTRZZE—F+A+BREMNER
which have a contractual life of seven years, the HEESXHNFE A LTI » ik ER
contractual life of the above options granted is six years. ERAXFR AT - FHiTAREH
All the above options granted have no cash alternatives. BRI ER B M o

Movements of share options B B A B

2012 —E——F

As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at Exercisable at

1 January during during during 31 December 31December

Date of grant 2012 the year the year the year 2012 2012
i

R ZE--%

R® —®-C-F t=A

—B--F +=ZF =t-H

R AH —-A—-H FREL FRTE  FRAXN Er=[ T
26 October 2006 S W P = 212,108 - (212,108) - - -
18 August 2008 “ZTNENAT\E 37,870,494 - (579,590) - 37,290,904 37,290,904
23 November 2009 “EENFT—A-+=H 74,698,868 - - (6,401,473) 68,297,395 41,237,095
6 December 2010 “E2-2E+ZARH 4,370,000 - - (300,000) 4,070,000 814,000
10 October 2011 —T——&+A+H 65,000,000 - - (12,000,000) 53,000,000 -
Total @zt 182,151,470 - (791,698) (18,701,473) 162,658,299 79,341,999
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45. Share-Based Payment Plan (continuea) 45. IR BEBNZ A58l
Movements of share options (continued) BIRESE @)
2011 —m

As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at Exercisable at

1 January during during during 31 December 31 December

Date of grant 2011 the year the year the year 2011 2011

R 2%

S it 2 T-A

—2——F +=A =+-H

REEH -B—B  ERRY  FRTR FAKRM =t-H a17E

26 October 2006 “EERFETACTRA 1,757,642 - (1,497,827)  (47,707) 212,108 212,108

18 August 2008 ZEEN\ENATNA 73,125,280 - (27,435,173) (7,819,613) 37,870,494 37,870,494

23 November 2009 “ZTNF+-AZ+=H 86,538,000 - (519,442) (11,319,690) 74,698,868 12,911,988

6 December 2010 “E-FF+-RAH 4,470,000 - - (100,000) 4,370,000 -

10 October 2011 “T—%+A+H - 65,000,000 - - 65,000,000 -

Total Bt 165,890,922 65,000,000 (29,452,442) (19,287,010) 182,151,470 50,994,590

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, out of the
total outstanding share options of 162,658,299 (2011:
182,151,470) as at 31 December 2012, 28,688,800
(2011:1,058,720) share options had lapsed due to the
unfulfilment of vesting conditions.

The fair value of the share options granted during 2011 was
estimated to be RMB444,559,000 (RMB6.84 each) at the grant
date. The Group recognised an expense of RMB19,172,000 in
2012 (2011: RMB173,541,000) (note 6 and note 7).

The fair value of the above equity-settled share options was
estimated as at the date of grant, using a binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
instruments were granted.

N TE——F+ - A=1+—BHshERER
51162,658,29917 (=& ——4 :182,151,470
) BERHEBE L - 28,688,800 B AR AE( —
T——4 : 1,058,720 ) A R ED SR B I
MR RS BARB R -

REZE——FREHNEREAARBIIAKD
HHEET A AR 444,559,000t (B AR
6.8470) c NRZT—_F - AEEERAR
#19,172,000 TR (ZE——F : ARK
173,541,0007T) (FizE6 M Mi=E7) o

SR AR D A OB AR A ) X A (B TR B
B - BHERA G YEEEEH
T AR B B RR B ARAF -

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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45. Share-Based Payment Plan (continued)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the
option scheme granted in the year of 2011:

45. DR RER A58 )
TRUSIFN =B —— R ERE 8
FIRER % AEA

Date of grant

REBH

10 October 2011

—E——F

+A+8

Dividend yield (%) R EE (%) 1

Expected volatility (%) ?ﬁﬁﬂiﬂi@f?(%) 38

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2= (%) 1.2

Expected life of options (years) ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁg.ﬁiﬁﬁ(i) 7

Spot price (HK$ per share) REBECET/ SR 24.1

Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEECET,/ &)%) 24.1
In light of the lack of a historical exercise record, the expected R ERZ BT AD SR - AR B FE AT 2

life of the options is based on the results of empirical studies
performed in the United States and is not necessarily indicative
of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome. The spot price is the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the grant date.

The 791,698 share options (2011: 29,452,442) exercised
during the year resulted in the issue of 791,698 (2011:
29,452,442) ordinary shares of the Company and new share
capital of RMB64,000 (2011: RMB2,408,000) and share
premium of RMB12,063,000 (2011: RMB518,208,000), as
further detailed in note 42 to the financial statements. The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these
options was HK$23.40 (2011: HK$26.78).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
79,341,499 (2011: 50,994,590) vested share options
outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
remaining share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 79,341,499
(2011: 50,994,590) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of RMB6,433,000 (2011:
RMB4,134,000) and share premium of RMB1,488,948,000
(2011: RMB929,940,000) (before issue expenses).
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REERANRBBRMRE L B AU

791,698 ( ==& — — 4 : 29,452,442 1»

EBRERFEFANITME  BEmE #E17791,698
(=T ——4 : 29,452,442 /% ) " A &) &
Ak EETBRAABARKG4,000(ZF

——4F : AR#¥2,408,0007T) @ D& E
AR#12,063,000c(ZF——F : ARK
518,208,0007T ) © #F 18 & 1 B 75 3R 3% MY 7

42 - ZEBERETEANMNEFTHRES
23408 (ZZF——4F : 26.78%87T) °
REEHR + ARAEH£EF79,341,4991p (=
T——4F: 50,994,5901 FFEIIETHE S
BARTERBRE - AR AIRE ZRAL
B 2EATE MR BBIRE RS BREE /N B
1779,341,4990% (=& — — £ : 50,994,590
f%) AR QA Bk & A R#6,433,000T (=
T——4F : AR#¥4,134,0007T)5BINEA K
AR #1,488,948, ooo%(:%‘iffi AR
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46. Business combination

215

46. 21556t

(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012:

On 11 April 2012, the Group acquired a 100% interest
in Taihang from independent third parties. Taihang is
mainly engaged in the production of dairy products. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share of dairy products in the PRC. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB5,200,000 paid at the acquisition date
and the remaining RMB7,800,000 to pay when Taihang
completes certain business administrative registration
procedures.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Taihang as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

() R=ZE——-—FWE—RFAA:
NZE——FMA+—H  AEERAB
VE=ZFWBEARITHI00% M o K17
FENELEEARSR - ZUWEAELEE
BEARE N R IR G TS A RS A
— D  ZWENBERES AR
#5,200,000 A A LB S A X
- Heg A R#7,800,0007C 18 7 A1T
e THEEEEEDFERI -

R ERITHR S EERABHNA
AEWMT

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
RULEE B RERR Y
D RfE
RMB’000
AR¥T R

Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R&E 14,270
Construction in progress TR 45
Land use rights T AR 5,448
Other intangible assets HihmEEE 30
Trade receivables FE U BR SR 391
Prepayments and deposits ENRkEE 1,220
Other receivables E At JEYRRIE 70
Inventories "rE 33

21,507
Liabilities af&
Trade payables FERTBR K (3.526)
Accruals and customers’ deposits EIRERAEEFE & (480)
Other payables HAb R RIE (750)
Other loans HMhER (3.416)
Income tax payables FERTFRS R (335)

(8,507)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEYRZUEBNBEEAT 13,000
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 15) W hg E R R E (FiFEE15) =
Purchase consideration BERE 13,000

PERFUARERAR —T-—FER
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46. Business Combination continues 46. ¥4 6t
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012: (continued) (@) RZE——FWE—FRFAT : (&)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB391,000 and RMB70,000, respectively. The gross
amounts of trade receivables and other receivables were
RMB391,000 and RMB70,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB45,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated income statement.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Taihang is as follows:

RUREE B #9fE U BR T R E b R IR FIB A
R ED B A ARE391,0007T & AR
70,0007T © F&E Y8R 5k fo E A FE U SR IE Y
B RBED R AARK391,0007T B A
R #70,0007T °

AEBRZURBEER IR AARE

45,0007C ° ZERXHRAC RERA FE
R AITHER -

BRKERITHRSRESITAOT

RMB'000

AREFT

Cash consideration RWEREB 5,200
Cash and bank balances acquired FTUiBIR & MIRTTHETF -

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included BIEAEREEESELNIESRENL
in cash flows from investing activities ReERBFEWFRL 5,200
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in BRECEEBEENRSREANN

cash flows from operating activities W HE 22 5 A A

45

5,245
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46. Business Combination (continueq)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012: (continued)
Since its acquisition, Taihang contributed nil to the
Group’s turnover and net losses of RMB3,327,000 to
the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2012.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue and the profit of the Group for
the year would have been RMB36,080,353,000 and
RMB1,438,732,000, respectively.

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011:

On 17 March 2011, the Group acquired an additional
41.66% equity interest in Leshi, in which the Group
originally had an equity interest of 22.41%, from
independent third parties. Leshi is mainly engaged in the
production of dairy products. The acquisition was made
as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
of yogurt products in the PRC. The acquisition was made
in the form of cash, with RMB50,907,000 paid at the
acquisition date and the remaining RMB6,025,000 as a
contingent consideration, which is to be paid in 2014 if
certain operating results criteria can be achieved by Leshi
over the three years subsequent to the acquisition date.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Leshi at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of Leshi’s identifiable net assets.
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46. S B

(a)

(b)

RZE——FRE-—XTFT2QR : @
BEWER  KOTAAEEHE_Z
——F+-_A=t+—BItFENELEE
PEREFBEL R ERE RFEEARE
3,327,0007T °

BREAHRENBLE  AEFHER
FANBRARFBES B ABAR
# 36,080,353,000 7t K A B #&
1,438,732,0007T ©

R-E——FWRE-—XRTRQF
RZZE——F=A++tH ' A&EEWSE
SN E = RS2 REIN.66% AR HE
ML B R HEA22.41 %M HE o 405
FERELEEINRG - ZBEALEE
JERH A BB 40 S Th 35 10 BB A9 SR B
B—3n o ZMBUREEATMN &
i A R#50,907,0007T AU EE B X 1+
Hés AR #6,025,0007T & RRKE -
MELRENKEBBRN =FEIET
BRGNS IR —HF X
e

A4 B BRI IR IR A 5 (5 S
A R ) L T B AR
SRR A -

PERFARERAR —T-—FER
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46. Business Combination (continueq)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

46. S B
(b) AZZE——FWBE—XTFAT : (&
RUEE B LM r R EE R B BENA

Leshi as at the date of acquisition were as follows: AEWNT :
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
RS RS
ARE
RMB’000
ARKETTT

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment e e 43,680
Construction in progress EETRR 10,994
Land use rights T R4 6.179
Other intangible assets Hivmp & E 2,938
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 1,000
Cash and bank balances e RRTER 54,175
Trade receivables JE U BR 3R 430
Prepayments and deposits B ERS 2,714
Other receivables H b fEYRIE 97
Inventories T8 7,307
129,514
Liabilities af&

Trade payables FERTBR K (21,779)
Accruals and customers’ deposits EREALREP® (1,409)
Other payables H M e B (26,611)
Interest-bearing bank loans FTERITER (19,500)
(69,299)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREBEYRZUEBB ZEEAE 60,215

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of JEVE IS A% R A e ARt B 1
identifiable net assets AE#FEE (21,635)

Acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s initial REE R U AR B8
22.41% equity interest in Leshi 22 M % BENDE (13,494)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 15) Whg E R R E (FFEE15) 30,823
Purchase consideration BERE 55,909
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46. S B
(b) A=ZE——FWE—XTF2AT : @)

46. Business Combination (continued)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB430,000 and RMB97,000, respectively. The gross
amounts of trade receivables and other receivables were
RMB430,000 and RMB97,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB12,000
for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated income statement.

The goodwill of RMB30,823,000 represents the value
of expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of
RMB6,025,000 was recognised at RMB5,002,000 as at the
acquisition date and then remeasured to RMB5,599,000
as at 31 December 2012 (2011: RMB5,258,000). This was
classified as other financial liabilities (note 41).

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Leshi is as follows:

RS EE B & 8 UK AR 51 R EL Ath FE GRIE A
R ED B A AREEA30,0007T 2 AR
97,0007T ° FEUT AR 7k & E i FE UL 5RIB B
B RRED R A ARK430,0007T B A
R #97,0007T °

AEBRZUBEER IR AARE
12,0007 ° ZERXHRAC RERA FE
RZHAFAATHER -

AFR#30,823,0007T 7 2B AU %
WEEEENRRMENEE - AL #
REEFTEHE ™= SN R o

FRKEARK6,025000THA R E
B R U B #ER A AR S5,002,0007T
FEER-_FT——F+-_A=+—HE
#stE 5 ARES5,599,000L (- ——
F : AR¥ES,258,0007T) ° Wi HEA
HEmemaE i) o

BRNEBRENRSREDTAT

RMB'000

ARKETTT

Cash consideration BeRE 50,907

Cash and bank balances acquired T iBIR & MIRTTHETF (54,175)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included BIEEREEFHELANELRENN

in cash flows from investing activities RERBSFEWFRA (3,268)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in BRECEEBEENRSREANN

cash flows from operating activities U BB A2 5 AR 12

(3,256)
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46. Business Combination (ontinued) 46. ¥ & Bt @)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2011: (continued) (b) RA=ZE——FWE—FRFAT | (&)
Since its acquisition, Leshi contributed RMB262,824,000 BHIWEWR #EAAEEBEHZE —
to the Group’s turnover and RMB20,444,000 to the TE——F4+_-_A=+—HIEEW
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December BEBEEATED R BB ARKE
2011. 262,824,0007T & A £#20,444,0007T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of BEEHENEBEEZE_ZE——F+=H
the year ended 31 December 2011, the revenue and =E+—BLEFENELE  AEER
the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December Hz_Z——4%+_-_HA=+—8H
2011 would have been RMB37,430,289,000 and HTFEANKARFNEE SR A A
RMB1,785,271,000, respectively. K ¥ 37,430,289,000 7T & A K ¥

1,785,271,0007T °

47. Contingent Liabilities 47. KRB E
Save as the disclosures in note 41 and 51(b), the Group did s BT EE41 & 51(b) Y FESN - AREE DR
not have any significant contingent liabilities at the end of the HEHRBEMERSIABE -

reporting period.

The Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities RARIPRBRERARIELMEANARALRE -
at the end of the reporting period.

48. Pledge of Assets 48. EEIKHF
Details of the Group's bills payable, bank loans and long term EREASEMNEEFERFNASEERNE
payables, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are B RITEFRRRAENZIEFS - 258
included in notes 34, 37 and 39, respectively, to the financial R TRER 734 ~ 37 %39 -
statements.
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49. Operating Lease Arrangements 49
(a) As lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

EEHERH

(a) fERHEA
REEER - AR BRI A 40
HE - BRISEKERSORERS

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: BWERAGNT ¢

Group

A%E
2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Within one year 19 R 15,415 762

In the second to fifth years, 2FEESF(BIE
inclusive BEMFEA) 64,442 69,467
79,857 70,229
(b) As lessee (b) fERAEBEA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of buildings and certain
production equipment as follows:

RBEMR  AEERBEERETE
EREHNTAIEHEERERN AR
NOREBRSLEWT :

Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——F =5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within one year 1% 88,758 71,252
In the second to fifth years, 2FEESF(BIE
inclusive BEMELTAN) 190,748 205,406
Over five years 5L 3,425 13,801
282,931 290,459
PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR
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50. Commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 49, the Group had the following outstanding capital
commitments in respect of the purchase and construction of
property, plant and equipment as at the end of the reporting
period:

50. e

BR T M REA9RFal my A S AR EATESN - MRS
HIR  AEBERBERERZYE  BER
REBEEARRFELWT

Group
rEH
2012 2011
—B-—fF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for BETAB KRB 520,464 694,483

Subsequent to the end of the reporting date, the board of
directors approved the capital expenditure (not contracted
for) amounting to approximately RMB2,276,557,500 (2011:
RMB2,500,748,000). As at 31 December 2011, the amount
related to the Group’s share of capital expenditure of a jointly-
controlled entity of approximately RMB7,725,000 is included
in the above balances.

The Company did not have any significant commitments at the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3R & KHizT

51. Related Party Transactions

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances which are
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with its

223

51. BEEA LR S
(@) BAABBHREHMCBRERBENLSR
M REERHEBANT - LA
HIEE R E A LT THIE AR

associates, a jointly-controlled entity and other related 5 o
parties.
Group
REEE
2012 2011
—E——F =5
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®T T AR®ET T
() Sales of liquid milk products to (1) MELRT)HEE 6)
associates TR ES I E fh 4,261,668 4,719,948
(I Sales of ice cream products to  (Il) MEZRAT)YEE (i)
associates PROEOIEE f 243,711 336,646
() Sales of other dairy products to  (lll)  [AEE& A TISHE 0)
associates HibFL 8 18,479 14,734
(IV)  Sales of raw materials to a (V) AR e (ii)
jointly-controlled entity SHERMEL 169,304 51,908
(V) Sales of raw materials to affiliates (V) MARAT—FE[L ()
of a substantial shareholder of HRBE AN A
the Company SHE R = 158
(Vl) Purchase of raw materials from  (VI) BRI HIETEL (i)
a jointly-controlled entity BERME (112,791) (84,300)
(VIl) Purchase of ice cream products  (VII) MEIZARES 0)
from an associate POEIREE @ (8,394) (56,565)
(VIIl) Purchase of liquid milk products (VIll) MEiEATES (i
from an associate R EEYIE M = (42,445)
(IX) Purchase of raw materials from  (IX) AA&AAT—FE (i)
affiliates of a substantial &zl d= NS
shareholder of the Company B ERME (411,311) (265,832)

Notes:

(i)  The considerations were determined with reference to the
then prevailing market prices/rates and the prices charged
to third parties.

(i)  These transactions were conducted at cost, which
approximated to the prevailing market prices of the
materials.

fia -

() ERELL2EEETSEREXRK
ME=FHEREE -

() SR PEAAE K BEIRZHE)
47 -

PERFIAEARAR —TE——FFR



224

Notes to Financial Statements Bt #3R & KizTt

51. Related Party Transactions (ontinuea 51. BBALTRZ @
(b) EERAEEA LETHNEMRS

(b) Other transactions with related parties

Group

rEH
2012 2011
—g-=% %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT

(I) Guarantees in connection with (1 ?yt‘?r SIRITERM
interest-bearing bank loans HEZEHE
provided for a jointly-controlled ?ET#T@%
entity

B?i

- 2,709

() During the year of 2012, Inner Mongolia Mengniu
sold 32,000,000 ordinary shares in Saikexing, an
associate of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, to a former
executive director and chief executive officer of
the Company at the price of RM101,760,000. The
consideration of RMB101,760,000 was arrived
at after negotiation taking into consideration
the appraised value of the shares prepared by an
independent valuer.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group
Key management compensation is detailed in note 7 to
the financial statements.

Except for (a.V), (a.IX) and (b.ll), the above transactions did

not constitute connected transactions as defined in the Listing
Rules.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf &R &=+

52. Financial Instruments by Category 5. RERESHNEMITA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIEHR AL BN T ENEREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as mr
follows:
Financial assets SREE

Available-for-sale investments A ft &1 & - 749,788 749,788 - 295,206 295,206
Bills receivable BYER 176,386 - 176,386 261,024 - 261,024
Trade receivables G 625,087 - 625,087 574,734 - 574,734
Other receivables Hh g 359,877 - 359,877 289,427 - 289,427
Other financial assets EtsmEE 53,521 = 53,521 69,961 - 69,961
Investment deposits BREFR 160,000 - 160,000 102,800 - 102,800
Pledged deposits RELER 51,602 - 51,602 175,289 - 175,289

Cash and bank balances Re RBTEF 5,778,390 5,778,390 6,523,075 - 6,523,075

7,204,863 749,788 7,954,651 7,996,310 295,206 8,291,516

PERFIEARAR —TE——FFR
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52. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinuea 52. IRERESNERM T Ew
Financial liabilities =N

Trade payables FERTBRFR = 2,381,955 - 2,543,405
Bills payable ANESE - 1,296,910 - 1,141,141
Other payables Hib e 308 - 1,632,144 6,731 1,575,050
Interest-bearing bank loans s BIRITER - 573,777 - 537,544
Other loans HiER - 24,915 - 119,094
Long term payables REBEFUR - 144,593 - 188,739
Other financial liabilities Hivemad - 544,858 - 480,531

= 6,599,152 6,731 6,585,504
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52. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinuea
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Financial assets

52 RERIBSHNERMITAmw

RBEHR - FESENERTANKEE

o -

TRMEE

Loans to a subsidiary included A FARIKNERAEH

in interests in subsidiaries Bl —RFRAFE

(note 19) (MzE19) 741,197 - 741,197 741,060 - 741,060
Loans to a subsidiary (note 18)  ER—FFAAIFE

(His18) 2,657,176 - 2651176 2,656,684 - 2,656,684

Financial assets included BER L ENFIER
in other receivables TREE 72,446 - 72,446 52,171 - 52,171
Cash and bank balances BeRFTER 751,922 - 751,922 622,766 - 622,766
Available-for-sale investments AL EIRE - 89,642 89,642 - 69,008 69,008
4,222,741 89,642 431,383 4,072,681 69,008 4,141,689

PERFIEARAR —TE——FFR
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52. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinuea 52. IRERIE PSR T B um)
Financial liabilities ==K
Company
PN
2012 2011
—EB-=F T
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost

JRMEMAE JIRNTRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETIT

Other payables Hith {508 1,629 1,133
Interest-bearing bank loans FTRIRITE 405,425 -
53. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy 53. ARERQXAEER
Fair value ARE
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included CREERBEZANENZIARBREET
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in NEFRGET IR CRAIEEBEER
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a SN AR SREARR ©

forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate T EP ARG AR BN AR
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current RERBFSFEVHNARE  RIELTFRH
portion of pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills BNEAER 75 ~ EUER SR ~ ET R R ER =
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits B BEREMNR - e REMERKIED
and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other PREE  BERNHEMENFIERERER
payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank loans, WEeRBE  REE SRITERREMER
other loans, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due LT ARFHNEIEmERE 2 REERE °

to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of other financial assets, loans to a subsidiary, HMSREE  BW—RFARIFIE - 5T
the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and RITER R RAEMN KB ERE IS AR
long term payables and other financial liabilities have been HiremBEN AR BEBDEARLUER - &
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using BERR &S TE A ST EREAIESHF
rates currently available for instruments on similar terms, credit EFMIBAARKIBMEN T AEE ©

risk and remaining maturities.
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53. ARERAAEER @

53. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy (ontinued

Fair value (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
guoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-
sale equity investments have been estimated using a valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and
that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
established commodity trading exchanges. Derivative financial
instruments are measured using market quoted prices. The
carrying amounts of the commodity futures contracts are the
same as their fair values.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation

techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

A RE @)
FRABENARBEHERTHIERE - 3
EHAHEERAEENALEERERT
A BRMSERAF R FNBRENGE
RMTHEITEET - EFMEHERNMERD
B ARBEIAGZETBHRIR) RAR
EMEEZES(HIAEME2AKRE) EBE
B WARRERRNSEE HE -

AEFHEKINERESIR DM MITE
SHRITE - STAESR T ANERATISRE
E - AmBEAYNEREEEEFSNAAE
1A °

DAERER
AEERAATERANEEREESRITA

HARE

F—AR: $EH““$HH§?&“%\E’\ AEM

S RREENGEERMSAE BE
HMEMTHENARBEERTE
M ABERIEEIRERR

GEl

F=F: ArEENGERMEE - BE
MEFMEBN AR BEREARE
M ABUR L IEER AT B RN
MHEE G B ARR)

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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N

53. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy ontiniesy  53. ARER DA AEBR @)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) RAEEBR @)
Assets measured at fair value: BAREFENEE :

Available-for-sale investments B ERE 89,642 144,201 233,843
Biological asset EMEE - 211,686 211,686
89,642 355,887 445,529

89,642

Available-for-sale investments A HERE 89,642
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53. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy ontiniesy  53. ARER DA AEEBHR @)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) RAEEBR (@)
Assets measured at fair value: BARBEFENEE :

Available-for-sale investments  AJ{tHERE 69,008 103,319 172,327

Available-for-sale investments B ERE 69,008 - 69,008

TRERFIAEERAE —T-_FFR



232

Notes to Financial Statements B &R &=+

53. Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy ontiniesy  53. ARER DA AEBR @)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) RAEEBR @)
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during FRNE=RARBEFTENEBNAT :

the year are as follows:

Available-for-sale investments — unlisted AEEERE LT
At 1 January »—HA—H 103,319 171,461
Total gains/(losses) recognised in other R E A 2 E W FERR Y

comprehensive income W, (B8 ) 85 40,882 (68,142)
At 31 December nt+-—A=+—H 144,201 103,319

Liabilities measured at fair value: BAREFEMNEE:

Other payables — derivative financial Hib IR ARE
instruments at fair value SEMTESRmTA - =
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53.

54.
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Fair Values and Fair Value Hierarchy (ontiniesy  53. ARERAABEEBR @
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NAREER
Liabilities measured at fair value: RAREFENBE
Group
REE
2011
—B——F
Level 1 Total
FE—# st
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FTT AR¥FTT
Other payables — derivative financial HENFIE—RARE
instruments at fair value SATEMITESRIA 6,731 6.731

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and payables, other receivables and payables,
balances with related parties, interest-bearing bank loans,
other loans and long term payables. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group'’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

54.

RZF-——_FR-ZF——FT-A=1—
C AREL BT ARAA B ENEHE

o

oF m %

MEREREERERBE

MR EE
AEBZIZeMTADTIETARINBRE

RekReEFEY  BREEMER - Ei
FE K R 5RIR - ERARE A L VKRR ~ RT R

RITER - B ERRERRNTER - ZF
TRTAIZENEAAKENZESRE
T AREBERASEERKRAERTNE
fEMEERAE - flanRK AR N BN AR

=+
e

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

POI'CieS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, mainly
commodity futures contracts. The purpose is to manage the
commodity risks arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors and senior
management meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks.
Generally, the Group adopts prudent strategies on its risk
management.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 37 to the financial
statements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has no significant interest rate risk and has not used any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.
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KEAEEEMTANIZARENERAE
B~ AN R - SRR KRR E) R N
AEBRER EFSLSREEASETHR
T8 AMAKERAZOER - XHIE
RAEERRANER - AEE—RIRAFE
BRI E IR AR

(i) R=EpE
AEEAZNMENEEHRAREIER
BAEENTRER - ARE TSR
MEHEEBEBAA MNEARELE -
HAXREBETEYER - REEHER
1T R R N8 R HA I B 7% 3R B 3£ 37
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

PO I | CIeS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

0]

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax

235

54. BIEREEBERBE @)

BRRRER(E)

(i) FIERER@E
TRINREMBEMESESTENE
ST FIEAIgE RSB E A EE
HRafBE(ERFEEENTE)NE

(through the impact on floating rate borrowings): 2
Group
REE

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
FIRERL 5t A0 A E
#hn, Cra) i, ChL)
RMB'000
ARETTT

2012 —E——&
RMB AR# 50 (2,797)
RMB ARME (50) 2,797
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 (1,901)
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) 1,901
United States dollar Ep 50 -
United States dollar ET (50) -

2011 —E—%F
RMB AR 50 (3,471)
RMB AR (50) 3,471
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 -
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) -
United States dollar ET 50 (210)
United States dollar eSS (50) 210

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

POI'CleS (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in
Mainland China and substantially all transactions
are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases of
imported machinery and equipment and sales of dairy
products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at 31 December
2012, substantially all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB except the cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB327,503,000
(2011: RMB139,724,000), RMB12,565,000 (2011:
RMB163,027,000) and RMB23,000 (2011: Nil) which
were denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong
dollars and European dollars, respectively, the interest-
bearing bank loans of approximately RMB405,425,000
(2011: Nil) and approximately RMB38,852,000 (2011:
RMB264,044,000) which were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and United States dollars, respectively, and
the long term payables of approximately RMB79,867,000
(2011: RMB100,128,000) which were denominated in
United States dollars. The fluctuation of the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
Group’s results of operations. However, in the opinion of
the directors, the foreign currency risk exposure is under
management’s control.
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B R B (&)
(i) ShEEmE B

AEBMEBEEMRPBARREE BT
BB B O 2R R B A K A F B AR Y
HEARRIN BRABORZHUAAR
MERUEE RN_ZT——F+_A4
=+—H AEENEERBEER
BT AE#H AR 327,503,000t (=
T——4&F : AR¥139,724,0007T) * A
R#12,565,000c(ZZE——F : AR
#163,027,000) & A R #23,0007T (=
T——F  \B)NBE RETETSH
AZETT - BT RBUT BB - 5HERIT
B AREA05,425,0000 (= F——
F | R ARE38,852,0000T( =&
——F : AR ¥264,044,0007T) 15
RIABTTRETTHEMN - A RKEES
RIEA) AR #79,867,000L( —F——
£ AR#100,128,0007T) Jh A ZE T
BB - BRIBAOHUAARKEEE
iz o ARBEHINEREESEBKE) - Al
REEEAEENCEEE  BEERE
SNERBREEBERZEH ZF o
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 54. B E B EE B ERBE @)

PO I | CIeS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B 3% B B 2R ()
(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) FhEE R BR (&)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rate as
compared to United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars,
European dollars, Japanese yen, Canadian dollars and
Australian dollars with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair
value of monetary assets and liabilities) and equity:

TRINFEME R ME BRI TENE
AT - ARMEET BT BUT - B
CMEATTRRITH SR ERAIREHIE
MEEZE(REBEERAGBNAA
BEEEH) B A KB L #ER
MR E

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) Increase/

(decrease) in profit (decrease)

in RMB rate before tax in equity

ARBEZR 5 A0 A1 5E =

EH(TR) #hn, GRd) ®in O

% RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARET T
2012 —E—_fF 5 148,648 (191,538)
(5) (148,648) 191,538

2011 —E——F 5 220,456 (218,838)
(5) (220,456) 218,838

(iii) Credit risk (iii) EERE

The cash and bank balances, as well as the pledged
deposits, of the Group are mainly deposited with state-
owned commercial banks in Mainland China.

AEENRERBTEFURRESF
R TEFERPEAENREEER
17°
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
PO|ICIES (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(iv)

The majority of the Group’s sales are conducted on a cash
basis. The Group has implemented policies to ensure that
sales of products are made to distributors, who wish to
trade on credit terms, with an appropriate credit history
which is subject to periodic reviews. Receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these assets.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the
provision of financial guarantees, further details of which
are disclosed in note 51(b) to the financial statements.

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading over
a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors its liquidity risk by performing
periodic reviews and evaluations of its liquidity with
regard to the industry characteristics, market conditions,
business strategies and changes in the Group's state of
affairs and adjusting the current and non-current portions
of the Group's debt portfolio on a proper and timely
basis. In addition, the Group aims to ensure a continuity
of funds and flexibility through the use of various means
of financing and by keeping committed credit lines
available.
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AR -

Bk Bt &SN ZKEIE’JJ—LM#/F&y%%JJ
F77 0 AEEBANEHEERR
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Bz b EEIE - WERTBKIRE
Ff5E28 °
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 54. B E B EE B ERBE @)
P0|ICIeS (continued)

Financial risk management (continued) B 3% B B 2R ()
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) FREVEREEE (&)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the RN =_E——F+=-_A=+—8
Group'’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2012 based BESANETENFINAEEcREE
on contractual undiscounted payments. K EIERIE R ©
2012
—EB—C—F
On Less than 1to  More than
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
REX —FHR —Euf AFHE st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR

Interest-bearing bank loans FERITER - 581,925 - = 581,925

Other loans HipER 24,915 = - = 24,915

Trade and bills payables [ERIRRREMN R - 3,678,865 - - 3,678,865
Other payables, excluding current  E i ERF0E

portion of long term payables TRERBES

TIREENERE D - 1,580,608 - - 1,580,608

Long term payables REERFIR - 60,330 162,127 = 222,457

Other financial liabilities He@AE - - 647,113 309,275 956,388

2011
—FF
on Less than 1to  More than
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
EENK —FR —EAfF AFME st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETE

Interest-bearing bank loans HBSRITER - 547,951 - - 547,951
Other loans HiEH 119,094 - - - 119,094
Trade and bills payables FE BRI I B 228 - 3,684,546 - - 3,684,546
Other payables, excluding current  E i B FE
portion of long term payables TRERBES

FIBRENEE S - 1,519,959 - - 1,519,959
Long term payables REBERFIA - 72,216 203,068 15,204 290,488
Other financial liabilities HeRAE - - 363,328 593,060 956,388

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

POI'CleS (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(v) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as available-for-
sale investments (note 22) as at 31 December 2012.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors
such as impairment which might impact the consolidated
income statement.

R EEEREE

Z N BUER @)

B R B (&)

(v)

IR A B 45 LB

BB R AR 1R BUKF R B 5
HEEEHEBRABSFAAETRZ
Bk - R—_T——F+-_A=+—81 "
AEEEH 2 BRABRERKE DB
AR HERE (HRE22) 2 BRI IR AR

TRETEEMAEAZERRGERFTE
BARFAAEAHBEEZBRT - BA
REZAAREES%EHRK 2 HKRE -
TR AR ENHRE R R 2 REER
B BADMmE - HRAIHEHERA
KRE  BAYAHEEREEGHFEE
REE  WES KA ERANER
A - PIANRIE ©

Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2012 investments equity
—2——fF BARREWEREE R E B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
Investments listed in: FIALTHEEKRE
Hong Kong — available-for-sale BEA—AHEE 89,642 4,482
Unlisted investments at fair value: BAREFERIELTIRE
Available-for-sale AR E 144,201 7,210

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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54. BIEREEBERBE @)

54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

P0||C|es (continued)
Financial risk management (continued)
(v) Equity price risk (continued)

B Eb B (3)
(v) BAEHRERE)

Carrying
amount of
equity Change in
2011 investments equity
—2—%F &A% & /R E & 7 £ &)
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Investments listed in: FIALATRIE B B E -
Hong Kong — available-for-sale BEE—AHEE 69,008 3,540
Unlisted investments at fair value: BAREFENIELTRE -
Available-for-sale A E 103,319 5,166
Capital management BEXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011.

AEBEREENEARNE R FAKER
BRENBENERBRENEARLE - U
REXEMESRREE -

AEEEBEEARERE  THAEBEBLERED
BHERABEENRBRSEBELHAE - 5
BRI ABREARE  AEER S AR
NFREME « BRERME AR E R EEITH
g e RBEZT——F+-A=+—HAK=
T——F+ - A=+—BUILFEAEEEARE
BHERER  BERSEFIWEEE -

PESREAXAERAT —T——FEH
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54. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 54. B E M EE B ERBE @)

POI | CieS (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank loans and other loans, trade,
bills and other payables, accruals and customers’ deposits,
long term payables, other financial liabilities, less cash and
bank balances, and excludes discontinued operations. Capital
represents equity attributable to owners of the Company.
The gearing ratios as at the ends of reporting periods were as

follows:

EXREE )

FEATRRAR

)

AEBUERBRLRETER  BXARE
HERENFRERNEREENLEFREZ
e FREBEFRRITERMEMER
ENREREMENKIA - FAiE
ERLEPA®  RHBRNHREALEMS
BEZM - BEERBITEST
YT BFCRIERLER - ERAZEART]
BAEARENER RNBEPRNELRERE
R

Group

REE
2012 2011
—E-——F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Interest-bearing bank loans SHRIEITER 573,777 537,544
Trade and bills payables FERTER R R BT R IR 3,678,865 3,684,546
Accruals and customers’ deposits FEIREBRLEFI & 993,460 1,180,720
Other payables H b ER RIE 1,632,144 1,581,781
Other loans HEMER 24,915 119,094
Long term payables REIEN R 144,593 188,739
Other financial liabilities HEthepad 544,858 480,531
Less: Cash and bank balances B IR NBRTTAETT (5,778,390) (6,523,075)
Net debt FEE 1,814,222 1,249,880
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KANEHEB AFE(EEZR 12,443,292 11,471,058
Capital and net debt BEREFEE 14,257,514 12,720,938
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 12.72% 9.83%

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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55. Events After the Reporting Period

56.

During 2013, Inner Mongolia Mengniu acquired an additional
49% interest in Mengniu Arla, in which Inner Mongolia
Mengniu originally had an equity interest of 50%. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand
its market share of dairy products in the PRC. The acquisition
was made in the form of cash, with RMB60,000,000 paid at
the acquisition date, a total of RMB40,000,000 to be paid
equally on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries, and
the remaining RMB 150,000,000 as a contingent consideration,
which is to be paid if certain operating results criteria can be
achieved by Mengniu Arla subsequent to the acquisition date.

Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2013.
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55. EHREE

56.

REZE—=F  RRZFWREEBHESFZEH
49% s MARFH RIS H50% K
T ZMBAAEEREAEATBEIERT
BHBENEBEN— D - ZWEBUBEESER
Tt Ed AR ¥ 60,000,000 7T 1A U EE A
T RE— =  ERNEREBSES
& #£ AR # 40,000,000 - H#g AR
150,000,000t & ARE @ BERMTSE
PAUREE A 18 B3 TS E B IR ©

it R RS R
EEEERN T ZHFZA-+ARRER
BRTIRERE -

PRESEUAXAERAT —T——FERH
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Financial Summary
B EE

The following is a summary of the audited financial statements of 3| AR BESZFIEER AR (AR ]) MEF
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its ATIR [N EEFEE 2 KEEZIBHREHRE -
subsidiaries for the respective years.

Results e
Year ended
BEt+t-B=1t—HLEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

—E--f —ZT——% ZZ-ZF —IZTTNF —ZTIT/N\F
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT

Revenue gN 36,080,353 37,387,844 30,265,415 25,710,460 23,864,975
Profit/(loss) before tax FBaiFE,/ (B18) 1,685,034 2,060,630 1,538,102 1,346,346 (1,089,275)
Income tax income/(expense) Frisfilss, /() (245,476)  (276,081) (182,185  (126,240) 161,454
Profit/(loss) for the year from RNERBBEEET
continuing operations FIE/(&8) 1,439,558 1,784,549 1,355,917 1,220,106  (927,821)
Profit for the year from a AL S T
discontinued operation - - - - 3,357
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFE,/(BEB) 1,439,558 1,784,549 1,355,917 1,220,106 (924,464)
Attributable to: AN &L
Owners of the Company VN/NGIEZZEPN 1,257,148 1,589,274 1,237,273 1,115,799 (948,600)
Non-controlling interests FEPRRR RS R 182,410 195,275 118,644 104,307 24,136
Proposed dividend BIRRE 282,917 349,953 278,078 245,465 -
Earnings per share attributable AR MAHES A&
to ordinary owners of the BREF(ARET)
Company (RMB) (note (i) (F5EG))
For profit/(loss) for the year RENE,/(BEB)
- Basic —HK 0.711 0.908 0.712 0.681 (0.639)
- Diluted .3 0.711 0.905 0.711 N/A N/A
Assets, liabilities and equity BEE - BEkER
At 31 December
W+=B=+—H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

—E2-—f —Z——% ZZ-IZF —IZTTNF ZZIT/N\F
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Total assets BEE 20,990,734 20,201,685 17,305,841 14,096,126 11,315,275
Total liabilities Baf 7,918,885 8,152,865 7,088,332 5,184,432 6,577,304
Equity attributable to owners of ~ ARQGHEA A
the Company JEEHE = 12,443,292 11,471,058 9,758,064 8,575,678 4,464,616
Non-controlling interests JEPE IR AR SR AE 2 628,557 577,762 459,445 336,016 273,355
Note: iz :

(i)  The calculation basis for the earnings per share attributable to ordinary (i) AAT LEARES AEEGRENMEELESH RN
owners of the Company is set out in note 11 to the consolidated RE ERERMTE
financial statements.

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Annual Report 2012
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